

Virginia Commonwealth University VCU Scholars Compass

Theses and Dissertations

**Graduate School** 

2016

# Understanding and targeting the C-terminal Binding Protein (CtBP) substrate-binding domain for cancer therapeutic development

Benjamin L. Morris Virginia Commonwealth University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd

Part of the Biological Factors Commons, Enzymes and Coenzymes Commons, Oncology Commons, and the Translational Medical Research Commons

© The Author

#### Downloaded from

https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/4434

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at VCU Scholars Compass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of VCU Scholars Compass. For more information, please contact libcompass@vcu.edu.



## Understanding and targeting the C-terminal Binding Protein (CtBP) substrate-binding domain for cancer therapeutic development

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Virginia Commonwealth University

By

Benjamin Lane Morris Bachelor of Science, Virginia Polytechnic and State University, 2010

Advisor: Steven R. Grossman M.D./Ph.D. Dianne Nunnally Hoppes Chair in Cancer Research Professor and Chair of Hematology, Oncology, and Palliative Care Deputy Director of VCU Massey Cancer Center Virginia Commonwealth University

> Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, Virginia July 2016



© Benjamin Lane Morris

2016

All Rights Reserved



### Acknowledgements

I am extremely grateful to Dr. Grossman for the opportunity that he has given me to work in his laboratory. It was difficult to find someone willing and able to take on a dual degree PhD student, and I consider myself very fortunate that he allowed me to join with no qualms. I also look back with gratitude for the chance I have had to stretch myself by learning skills that had not previously been used in the lab and that fell well outside my wheelhouse. The experience was challenging, (as PhD's should be), but it was worth it.

I would also like to thank my committee, Drs. Quillin, Fisher, Grant, and Larner, for their patience in learning along with me as I discussed concepts that were foreign to most of us. They each provided keen insight and unique perspective into aspects of my project that ultimately taught me how to be a more well-rounded and competent scientist.

Beyond my excellent committee, I have been extremely blessed by mentors and colleagues throughout the Department of Human and Molecular Genetics. It astonishes me that the best educators of my academic career were found in graduate school. I especially want to thank those faculty members and staff that expressed a sincere interest in my development. These include, but are not limited to: Rita Shiang, Arti Pandya, Mike Grotewiel, Richard Moran, Maureen, and Steve.

My acceptance into the dual degree Human and Molecular Genetics PhD/M.S. Genetic counseling program was an incredible blessing. I occasionally questioned how I was qualified for the opportunity, but I leave with a determination to make VCU proud. I thank Rachel Gannaway for taking a chance in accepting me to the program, and for the genetic counselors and geneticists that were my mentors. There are more examples than I can list here, but it does not diminish my gratitude for each. A few I would like to specifically mention include: Ginny Pallante, who treats every person with the utmost dignity; Tahnee Causey, who leave everyone feeling uplifted with her unconditional positive regard and rapport; Heather Creswick, who had a calming demeanor even when I did not have all the answers; and John Quillin, who constantly seeks to be at the forefront of the profession and who served as a mentor when I had questions and doubts. Overall, genetic counseling served as an outlet for me to remember why research was important and helped to rejuvenate my passion for patient care and service.

The Grossman laboratory, past and present, is filled with friends and I love the impression each member leaves with me. I thank Toyin and Barbara for their good humor and sparkling personalities, and for the life discussions we had. I thank Evan for the discovery of 'Benjamin Lane' and for the camaraderie as a fellow Hokie; Sarah Lampert for being hilarious, helpful, and kind; Becky for being a caring and philosophical friend and for the many memories in and outside lab; Melissa for broadening my worldview, being a true friend, and teaching me I



could have a social life; Michael for the CtBP troubleshooting and debates and for being an example of the type of post-graduate professional and person I would like to be; P.K. for late night talks and tremendous help with developing several of the tools I used in my project; Zaid for his zeal and his diligent work; Ian for his patience in teaching me numerous techniques; and Agnes, Ayesha, and company for helping me laugh and unwind. I am also thankful for several colleagues in Massey and the School of Medicine, with whom I hope to keep in contact for years to come.

I want to thank the friends outside work that have impacted my life in innumerable ways. I look back on the friendships I have made and maintained these past few years and I consider myself tremendously fortunate. To all those that worried and helped take care of my mental, physical, and emotional happiness – thank you. This includes hiking buddies (Two Guys and a Gnome), former roommates, D&D and game night friends, and several other extraordinarily quirky and cool people.

Next, I want to thank my family. The fact that I can make them proud means more than I can explain. The person I am and strive to be can largely be attributed to them. I am grateful that for more than the last year I had my mom and sister, Mika, nearby. I sometimes wonder how anyone can be as loving and considerate as they are. I thank Brittani for being the coolest of twins and supporting me from afar, and for Cherish, Jennie, Kisiah, Jacob, Nací, and their families for being incredible people and loved ones. It is humbling to be blessed with such a great family.

Finally, I thank God for all he has blessed me with. When I see the multitude of tender mercies in my life I am awestruck and forever grateful that I have been given so much. He really gave the increase to any efforts I made.



#### Abstract:

Cancer describes a condition involving the dysregulated proliferation and growth of cells throughout the body. Among other causes, the etiology of cancer consists of various insults and abnormal activation of factors that can provide a growth or survival advantage to the cancer population. One family of genes, C-terminal binding proteins (CtBP) 1 and 2 are transcriptional co-regulators upregulated in several cancers, including a majority of studied breast, colorectal, and ovarian tumor samples. CtBPs drive many cellular oncogenic properties, including migration, invasion, proliferation, and survival, in part through repression of tumor suppressor genes. CtBPs encode an intrinsic dehydrogenase activity regulated by both intracellular NADH concentration and the putative substrate 4-methylthio-2-oxobutyric acid (MTOB), which regulates the recruitment of transcriptional regulatory complexes based on dimerization induced by bound NADH. High (millimolar) levels of MTOB appear to inhibit CtBP dehydrogenase function and induce cytotoxicity among cancer cells in a CtBP-dependent manner. While encouraging, a good therapeutic would involve drug concentrations at least two orders of magnitude lower. To this end, a new endeavor was undertaken to discover and design a first generation set of therapeutics that are CtBP-specific and cytotoxic. The best of these drugs, known as 3-Cl and 4-Cl HIPP exhibit high nanomolar enzymatic inhibition and high micromolar cytotoxicity. As a bi-product of our studies we have determined that CtBP enzymatic function is subject to allosteric interactions.

The function of the substrate-binding domain has yet to be examined in context of CtBP's oncogenic activity. To this end, we have created several point mutations in the substrate-binding



IV

pocket of CtBP and have determined key residues for CtBP's enzymatic activity using an *in vitro* dehydrogenase assay. We have found that a conserved tryptophan in the catalytic domain, and specifically its aromatic moiety, is imperative for enzyme activity. This tryptophan is unique to CtBP family proteins and distinguishes the CtBP substrate-binding domain from that of all other families of dehydrogenases. Additionally, we found arginine and histidine residues lining the substrate pocket that are necessary for CtBP dehydrogenase function. Knowledge of these residues allows the directed synthesis of drugs with increased potency and higher CtBP specificity. Early work has been performed to understand the importance of these mutations in cancer phenotypes. Taken together, this work interrogates the utility of CtBP, and specifically the CtBP substrate-binding domain, as a target for cancer therapeutics. We also provide preliminary insights into the function of this domain enzymatically and in cellular models of cancer, showing that inhibitors targeted to the CtBP-binding domain have potential for future clinical utility.



www.manaraa.com

Table of Contents
-------------------

Table of Figures:	1
List of Abbreviations:	
Chapter 1: Introduction:	4
Discovery of the C-terminal Binding Protein family:	4
Biological roles of CtBPs and their evolutionarily conserved homologs:	5
Function and structure of CtBP1 and CtBP2:	
CtBP as a redox sensor and the putative substrate MTOB	11
CtBP function in a cancer context:	
Chapter 2: Discovery of small molecule inhibitors through high-throughput scr rational design	reening and 21
Rationale:	
Materials and Methods:	
Protein Purification:	
High Throughput Screen:	
MTS Cell Viability Assay:	
Enzyme Kinetics for HIPP Ki Determination:	
IC50 Determination for HIPP and PPy:	
Results:	
High throughput screening for novel CtBP-specific inhibitors	
Discovery of HIPP as a CtBP2 inhibitor	
Discussion and Future Directions:	
High throughput screening and fragment based drug design	44
Understanding the impact of HIPP inhibition on CtBP oncogenic function	
Chapter 3: Manipulation of the HIPP backbone for future drug discovery	53
Rationale:	53
Materials and Methods:	
Clonogenic Assays:	
Enzymatic Assays for CtBP Inhibitor Determination:	55
Bik Luciferase:	55
MTT Cell Viability Assays:	



Results:	57
HIPP cytotoxicity	57
Discovery of more potent inhibitors of HIPP through analogue design	57
Combination experiments for more potent therapeutic strategies:	67
Discussion and Future Directions:	77
Discovery and screening of more potent inhibitors based on the structure of HIPP	77
Lessons learned from other CtBP-targeted therapies	78
Next generation targeting strategies	80
Envisioning clinically relevant drug therapies	84
Chapter 4: Early research into the biological relevance of the substrate domain in car	ıcer
cell systems, with a special emphasis on CtBP2 W324.	89
Rationale:	89
Materials and Methods:	92
Site-directed Mutagenesis and PCR:	92
Creation of Silent Backbone CtBP and Integration into a PZ04 vector:	93
Reaction Curves and kcat/km Determination:	94
Transfections:	95
Stable Cell Line Generation:	95
Cell Migration Assays:	96
Western Blot Analysis:	96
Drug Resistance Assays:	97
Results:	98
Evaluation of CtBP substrate-domain mutants by enzymatic assay	98
Early biological evaluation of CtBP mutants	102
Discussion and Future Directions:	107
Chapter 5. Final Conclusions	109
Appendix 1: Simulation data comparing modes of inhibition	114
Appendix 2: The importance of choosing the appropriate system for reproducible experimental data	117
References	121
Vita	132



# **Table of Figures**

Chapter 1: Introduction:
Figure 1_1. CtBP is an evolutionarily conserved family of proteins
Figure 1_2. CtBPs' structure allows for the recruitment of transcriptional complexes that promote cancer phenotypes
Figure 1_3: CtBP1 and 2 differ in genomic alterations among different cancer tissues 19 Figure 1_4: CtBP1 and 2 show differing trends in gene expression across tumor types 20
Chapter 2: Discovery of small molecule inhibitors through high-throughput screening and rational design
Figure 2_1. Discovery and validation of potential therapeutics by high-throughput screen
Figure 2_2. Crystal structure of substrate-bound CtBP provides insight into rational design
Figure 2_3. MTOB, PPy, and HIPP hydrogen residue interactions and water networks 36
Figure 2_4. CtBP2 enzymatic inhibition assays 40
Figure 2_5. The hypothesis for CtBP inhibition of HIPP through an abortive ternary complex
Figure 2_6. 2-Hydroxyimino-3-phenyl-propionic acid (HIPP) displaces CtBP2 from the Bik promoter
Chapter 3: Manipulation of the HIPP backbone for future drug discovery
Figure 3_1 HIPP cytotoxicity in multiple cancer cell lines
Figure 3_2. Replacement of the HIPP imine and deconstruction analogues of phenylpyruvate to identify key components contributing to enzymatic inhibition
Figure 3_3. Analogues of HIPP designed to explore structure-activity relationship 62
Table 1. Inhibition of HIPP analogues by enzymatic reaction and cell viability in HCT- 116 p53-/- colon cancer cells, along with a measure of hydrophilicity, cLogP
Figure 3_4. Generation of enzymatic IC50 and cell viability EC50 concentrations for Phenyl-ring substitution analogues of HIPP
Figure 3_5. Treatment with drugs shows variable expression of the CtBP-repressed Bik promoter in luciferase assays
Figure 3_6. Combination therapies using chemotherapeutic agents with MTOB to measure cell viability
Figure 3_7. Combination therapies to reduce tumor burden in immunodeficient mice 70



Figure 3_8. Combination therapies of MTOB with the HDAC inhibitor Suberohydroxamic Acid (SBHA)	3
Figure 3_9. Combination therapy of 4-Cl and 3-Cl HIPP analogues with MTOB	5
Chapter 4: Early research into the biological relevance of the substrate domain in cancer cell systems, with a special emphasis on CtBP2 W324	)
Figure 4_1. Reaction curves for wildtype CtBP2 protein and several mutants 100	)
Figure 4_2. Cell migration is dependent upon functional CtBP2 104	1
Figure 4_3. A pilot study of CtBP2 mutant resistance to CtBP-specific compounds 100	5
Appendix 1: Simulation data comparing modes of inhibition	1
Figure A1_1: Simulated data using a model predictive of HIPP inhibition binding to an abortive ternary complex or empty enzyme	5
Appendix 2: The importance of choosing the appropriate system for reproducible experimental data	7
Figure A2_2. Stable transfection of CtBP2 mutants induces highly variable protein levels confounding results	, )



## List of Abbreviations:

A.A.: Amino acid APC: Adenomatous polyposis coli ARF: Alternate reading frame BRCA1: Breast Cancer 1 BRK: Baby rat kidney ChIP: Chromatin immunoprecipitation CtBP: C-terminal Binding Protein D2-HDH: D-isomer-specific 2-hydroxyacid dehydrogenases EC50: Effective concentration (at 50% activity) EMT: Epithelial-Mesenchymal transition FAP: Familial adenomatous polyposis FBDD: Fragment based drug design FRET: Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer **GST:** Glutathione S-transferase HDAC: Histone deacetylase HIPP: 2-hydroxy-3-imino-phenylpropionic acid HMT: Histone methyl-transferase IC50: Inhibitory concentration (at 50% activity) ITC: Isothermal calorimetry **IP:** Intraperitoneal

Kcat: Turnover number

kDa: kilodaltons

Ki: Inhibition constant

Km: Michaelis constant

MEF: Mouse embryonic fibroblast

MTHB: 4-methylthio-2-hydroxybutyrate

MTOB: 2-Methylthio-3-butyric acid

MTS: (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium)

MTT: 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5diphenyltetrazolium bromide

NADH: Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (reduced)

NLS: Nuclear localization signal

Ppy: Phenylpyruvate

pRb: Retinoblastoma protein

PTEN: Phosphatase and tensin homolog

PXDLS: Proline-X-Aspartate-Leucine-Serine

qPCR: Quantitative polymerase chain reaction

SBHA: Suberohydroxamic Acid

Vo: Initial velocity

Vmax: Maximum velocity



### Chapter 1: Introduction:

#### **Discovery of the C-terminal Binding Protein family:**

C-terminal binding proteins were first discovered in 1993 as part of an investigation to differentiate the portions of the E1A adenoviral proteins that were necessary for transformation.<sup>1,2</sup> E1A proteins are a well-studied type of 2/5 adenovirus capable of immortalizing primary rodent cells and manipulating cellular growth, survival, and differentiation in order to enhance viral gene replication and gene expression in mammalian cells.<sup>3</sup> Interestingly, early studies illustrated a discrepancy of function between different domains of the protein. E1A proteins consist of two exons: the first exon cooperates with activated ras in baby rat kidney (BRK) co-transformation assays and interacts with other important factors, like the tumor suppressor pRb, to enhance oncogenic potential. Conversely, the second exon can antagonize transformation, tumorigenesis and metastasis in rat models. Deletions of the C-terminal 67 amino acids of E1A showed a 'super-transformation' phenotype in *ras* cooperative transformation assays in immunocompromised mice, while simultaneously impeding BRK immortalization.<sup>1</sup> To find factors that may contribute to this phenotype, a Glutathione-S-transferase (GST)-C-terminal E1A fusion protein was created, transfected into HeLa cells and eluted off glutathione-agarose beads to find a dimer of protein bands that ran at 48kDa on an agarose gel. This protein was aptly called C-terminal binding protein, or CtBP<sup>1</sup>. While E1A was predominantly considered an oncoprotein at the time, in this instance the converse was found to be true: E1A acts as a tumor suppressor to repress CtBP oncogenic activity, specifically by preventing CtBP from inducing an Epithelial to Mesenchymal phenotype transition (EMT).<sup>4-6</sup> Following this initial discovery, a wealth of information has been discovered about CtBPs, their conservation, biological roles, and roles in cancer.



www.manaraa.com

#### **Biological roles of CtBPs and their evolutionarily conserved homologs:**

CtBP family proteins are a highly conserved family of transcriptional co-regulators that are crucial for normal development and homeostasis. CtBPs and their orthologues have been found to be conserved among several different eukaryotic species (**Fig. 1** 1).<sup>7,8</sup> In plants, the orthologous gene ANGUSTIFOLIA (AN) is important for regulating stress responses, the timing of flowering, seed production, and microtubule polarity that, in turn, regulates leaf width.<sup>9,10</sup> In C. elegans *ctbp-1* expression has been found to play a key role in permitting acute functional tolerance of ethanol, lipid regulation through repression of a lipase, *lips-7*, and increasing lifespan.<sup>11,12</sup> Additionally, it maintains an important role in development of proper axonal morphology of SMD dorsal neurons and exploration behavior.<sup>13</sup> Research in drosophila further validated the need of CtBP (or dCtBP) in development. As an embryo develops, it relies on a menagerie of different co-repressors, including dCtBP, to properly determine segmentation. The drosophila model gives insight into the many context-dependent nuances of gene regulation generally, and of the role of CtBP specifically. dCtBP co-repression helps determine dorsalventral patterning and plays a role in segmentation from the anterior to posterior. This depends the genes regulated, and the regulation site. For example, dCtBP can work with the repressor Kruppel to prevent transcription of a gene known as even-skipped at the second stripe of segmentation but not at the fifth. Tangential to these observations, embryos lacking maternal dCtBP show severe patterning defects.<sup>14</sup> Additionally, in some instances in drosophila, the oligomerization state of dCtBP can determine if it is a repressor or activator: in one study, monomers of CtBP activate transcription, while dimers follow canonical repression.<sup>15,16</sup> Past the point of early development, dCtBP has been shown to help activate genes associated with



www.manaraa.com

circadian rhythm maintenance and participate in eye development and maintenance, among other regulatory functions.<sup>17,18</sup>

Distinct from invertebrate models which only have one CtBP-family gene, vertebrates have two members, named CtBP1 and CtBP2. Mouse models involving CtBP knockouts show that CtBPs are similarly imperative in mammals as they are in drosophila: CtBP1 null mice are small but viable. CtBP2-null mice, however, do not live past embryonic day E10.5. The genes have a somewhat compensatory effect, such that loss of a single allele of CtBP2 within CtBP1 null mice causes death in utero and shows multiple developmental defects. Eliminating a single CtBP1 allele in CtBP2 null embryos inhibits neural tube closure. Looking past the initial stages of development, it was shown that CtBP is prevalent in the nervous system, eyes, ears, pharyngeal arches, muscles, and limbs of mice fetuses.<sup>19</sup> A study in quail embryos served to validate the role of CtBPs in vertebrate development in another model: specifically, CtBPs are imperative to limb bud development and neural development, with CtBP1 and CtBP2 having both unique and redundant roles.<sup>20</sup> Participation in various other roles have been ascribed to CtBPs, including brain and synapse localization, mitochondrial maintenance (through Bax repression), and fat differentiation by repressing white fat genes.<sup>2,21-24</sup> Our concern with CtBPs, however, has to do with their increasingly indicated role in cancer and oncogenesis, as discussed further below.



CTBP1 HUMAN/1_440	1 MOSSHULNKOLPLOVERPLINNOPLHERPLIVALLOGROCTVEMPLIKOVATVAFCDAOSTOFLHERVLNEAVGA	73
CIBPI_RHESUS_MONKE1/1-429	1MSGVRPPTMNGPLHPRP-LVALLDGRDCTVEMPTLRDVATVAFCDAUSTGETHERVLNEAVGA	62
CTBP1_MOUSE/1-441	1 MGSSHLLNKGLPLGVRPPIMNGPMHPRP-LVALLDGRDCTVEMPILKDVATVAFCDAQSTQEIHEKVLNEAVGA	73
CTBP1 XENOPUS/1-440	1 MCSSHLLNKGLPLGIRPPIMNGPMHPRP-LVALLDGRDCTVEMPILKDVATVAFCDAQSTQEIHEKVLNEAVGA	73
CTBP DROSOPHILA/1_473	1 MDKNI MMPKRSR I DVKONEANGPLOARPLI VALL DORDOS LEMPLI KDVA TVAECDAOSTSE LHEKVI NEAVGA	73
CTBP1_C.ELEGAN&/104-620	154 PDPQQ - ALNDTLSMISTRMNGPSSSRP - LVALLDGRDCSVEMPTLRDVATVAFCDAQSTGETHERVLNEAVAA	224
ANGUSTIFOLIA_ARABIDOPSIS/1-447	1 MSKI RSSATMPHRDQPSPASPHVVTLNC I EDCALEQDSLAGVAGVEYVPL SRIADGKI ESATAM	64
CTRD1 HUMANIA 440	74 LAVET LTE TREDUCTOR AL DELLA RECORDED LA VONVDA ASVETADSTECHTEN VRDA TALE	147
		190
CIBP1_RHESUS_MONKE1/1-429	63 EMYHTTTLTREDLEN FNALKTTVRTGSGFDNTDTNSAGDLGTAVCNVPAASVEETADSTLCHTLNLYRRATWLH	136
CTBP1_MOUSE/1-441	74 LMYHTITLTREDLEK FKALRIIVRIGSGFDNIDIKSAGDLGIAVCNVPAASVEETADSTLCHILNLYRRTTWLH	147
CTBP1 XENOPUS/1-440	74 LMYHTITLTREDLEK FKALRIIVRIGSGEDNIDIKSAGDLGIAVCNVPAASVEETADSTMCHILNLYRRTWLH	147
CTBD DROSOPHILMA 473	74 LMAHTULUTKEDU EKEKALBULVBUGSGTDNUDVKAAGELGLAVCNVPGVGVEEVADTTMCLUNUVPBTMALA	147
		147
CTBP1_C.ELEGANS/154-625	225 LMYHSTR LENEDLEN FRV LAVVFRTGYGTDN TDV AATELGTAVCHAPGDYVEDVADSTLSLTLDLFRRTYWHA	298
ANGUSTIFOLIA_ARABIDOPSIS/1-447	65 LLHSLAYLPRAAQRRLPHQLILCLGSADRAVDSTLAADLGLRLVHVDTSRAEEIADTVMALILGLLRRTHLLS	138
CTBP1 HUMAN/1_440	148 OAL REGTRY OS VEOL REVASGAAR I RGETLG LIGI GRVGOAVAL RAKAFGENVLEYDPYL SDGVERAL	215
CTRDI RUESUS MONKEVIA 420	127 OAL PECTRY/OS/JED LREV/ASCAAR LROETLOLLOLOR/ODAVAL RAMAFORNVL FYDRYL SDOVERAL	204
CTBF1_KHE303_WONKE1/1-429	137 GALALEGTAVGSVEGTALVASGAALTAGETEGTTGLGAVGGAVALAALAFGTAVETTDFTESDGVENAL	204
CTBP1_MOUSE/1-441	148 OALREGTRVOSVEQTREVASGAARTRGETLGTTGLGRVGQAVALRAKAFGFNVLFYDPYLSDGTERAL	215
CTBP1 XENOPUS/1-440	148 OALREGTRVQSVEQIREVASGAARIRGETLGIIGLGRVGQAVALRAKTFGFNVFFYDPYLSDGIERAL	215
CTRP_DROSOPHIL4/1_473	148 NMVRECK KETGPEOVREAAHGCAR LEGDTLGLVGLGRLGSAVAL RAKAEGENVLEVDPVLPDGLDKSL	215
		200
CTBP1_C.ELEGANS/154-625	299 RSTSETRATIGADOWENAVGSRAVRGSVLGTLGCGRVGTAVGLRARAFGLHTTFTDPFVREGDDAL	366
ANGUSTIFOLIA_ARABIDOPSIS/1-447	139 RHALSASGALGS LOPLCRGMRCCEGMVLG I VGRSVSARYLASESLAFKMSVLYFDVP EGDEER IRPSRFP	208
CTBP1 HUMAN/1-440	216 - GLORVSTLODLLFHSDCVTLHCGLNEHNHHLINDFTVKOMROGAFLVNTARGGLVDEKALAOALKEGRIRGAA	288
CTRD1 RHESUS MONKEV/1_429	205 - GLORVSTLODULEHSDOVSLHCGLNEHNHHLINDETWOMROGAELVNTARGGLVDEKALADALKEGRIRGAA	277
		200
CTBP1_MOUSE/1-441	216 - GLORVSTLUDLEFHSDEVTLHEGENEHNHHLINDFTVNOMRUGAFEVNTARGGEVDERALAUALNEGRTHGAA	288
CTBP1_XENOPUS/1-440	216 - GLORVSTLODLLFHSDCVTLHCGLNEHNHHLINDFTIKOMRQGAFLVNTARGGLVDEKALAQALKEGRIRGAA	288
CTBP DROSOPHILA/1-473	216 - GLTRVYTLODLLFQSDCVSLHCTLNEHNHHLINEFTIKOMRPGAFLVNTARGGLVDDETLALALKOGRIRAAA	288
CTBP1_C_FLEGANS/154_625	367 - GEERVYTMDEEMSRSDCLSLHCNLGDETRGLINADSLROCKSGVYLVNTSHAGLINENDLAAALKNGHVKGAA	439
		202
ANGUSTIFULIA_ARABIDUPSIS/1-447	209 RAAR MOLENDELAASDVISENCALINDIWGIENAECEGNINPGAFEVNIGSCOLEDDCAVROLLIDGIIAGCA	202
CTBP1_HUMAN/1-440	289 LDVHESEPFSF-SQGPLKDAPNLICTPHAAWYSEQASIEMREEAAREIRRAI-TGRIPDSLKNCVNKDHLTAAT	360
CTBP1 RHESUS MONKEY/1-429	278 LDVHESEPFSF-SQGPLKDAPNLICTPHAAWYSEQASIEMREEAAREIRRAI-TGRIPDSLKNCVNKDHLTAAT	349
CTRP1_MOUSE/1_441	289 LOVHESEPESE, SOGPLIKDAPNI LCTPHAAWYSEOAS LEWREEAARE LREAL, TOR LPDS KNOVNKOHL TAAT	360
		200
C1BP1_XENOP03/1-440	209 EDVNESEPTST-TOGFLADAPALICTPHAAWISEGASTEWINEEAAAETAKAT-TGATPDSLANCVINDHLTAAT	360
CTBP_DROSOPHILA/1-473	289 LDVHENEPYNY-FQGALKDAPNLICTPHAAFFSDASATELREMAATEIRRAI-VGNIPDVLRNCVNKEYFMRTP	360
CTBP1_C.ELEGANS/154-625	440 LOVHDSVRFDPNCLNPLVGCPNIINTPHSAVMTEASCKDLRINAAKEIRKAI-NGRCPODLTHCINKEAVMRNS	512
ANGUSTIEOLIA ARABIDOPSIS/1_447	283 L DGAEGPOMME AWAKEMPNYL LL PRSAD VSEEWAMELREKALS LLHSEEL DGVLPSNT VSDEEVEESE	350
CTDD4 10000000 440		200
CTBP1_HUMANV1-440	361 HVA-SMDPAVVHPELNGA-AT-RTPPGVVGVAPGTPAAGTPAA	390
CTBP1_RHESUS_MONKEY/1-429	350 HWA - SMDPAVVHPELNGA - AY - RYPPGVVGVAP T GIPAA VE	387
CTBP1 MOUSE/1-441	361 HWA-SMDPAVVHPELNGA-AYSRYPPGVVSVAPTGIPAAVE	399
CTBP1 VENOPUS/1_440		398
		400
CTBP_DROSOPHILA/1-473	361 PAA-AA	422
CTBP1_C.ELEGANS/154-625	513 NPLINRRTSSAHPLLNMGFPTLPNFPPMSMSPHFPYPNPLLAMGAQMGALNPFMGNGALPFNPAAALS	579
ANGUSTIFOLIA_ARABIDOPSIS/1-447	351 ASEEEEQSPSKHEKLAIVESTSRQQGESTLTSTEIVRREASELKE	395
—		
CTBP1 HUMAN/1-440		440
CTRDI RUESUS MONIVEVIA 400		400
010F1_KHESUS_WUNKE1/1-429	JOU GIV	429
CTBP1_MOUSE/1-441	400 GTVPSAMSLSHGLPPVAHPPHAPSPGQTVKPEADRDHTSDQL	441
CTBP1_XENOPUS/1-440	399 GIVPSAMSLSHAHPAVAHPPHAPSPGQTIKPEADRDHPSDQL	440
CTBP DROSOPHILA/1-473	423 ALLPSPVPSHLSPQVGGLPLGIVSQSPLSAPDPNNHLSSIKTEVKAEST	473
CTBP1_C_FLEGANS/154_625	580 SLAMMAN A DA ANA OR OSPANE A SSESSES PER TINKSSVS PONNCHVK FEDS	625
ANCUSTICOLIA ARABIDODOION 447		447
ANGUSTIFULIA ARABIDUPSIS/1-447		44/

**Figure 1\_1. CtBP is an evolutionarily conserved family of proteins.** Using the Cluster Omega tool and Uniprot, sequences were aligned and displayed via Jalview software. Displayed are the protein isoforms for CtBP1 in Homo sapiens (Human), Macaca mulatta (Rhesus monkey), Mus musculus (Mouse), and Xenopus laevis (African clawed frog), along with dCtBP in Drosophila melanogaster (Fruit fly), CtBP-1 in Caenorhabditis elegans (Roundworm), and the homolog ANGUSTIFOLIA in Arabidobsis thaliana (Mouse-ear cress). Sequences are aligned against the entirety of H. sapiens CtBP1.



#### **Function and structure of CtBP1 and CtBP2:**

In humans, CtBP1 is located on chromosome 4p16.3 and CtBP2 is found on chromosome 10q26.13; these two genes share 83% similarity.<sup>3</sup> Each gene has variants that function outside their primarily studied roles as transcriptional co-regulators. CtBP1 has a variant known as CtBP1-S, referring to the shorter isoform, or CtBP/BARS, which is localized in the cytoplasm and participates in membrane fission from the Golgi complex.<sup>25</sup> CtBP2 has three isoforms: CtBP2-S, CtBP2-L, and RIBEYE. CtBP2-S and CtBP2-L are believed to function exclusively as transcriptional regulators. RIBEYE is expressed from an alternative promoter and has two basic domains, the first of which is a unique N-terminal domain, and the second, which is identical with CtBP2. RIBEYE is active only at neurons that contain ribbon synapses and is believed to function, at least in part, as a way to properly attach two different compartments of the synapse.<sup>23</sup> Briefly, ribbon synapses are a special type of synapse at the junction of neurons that are capable of exchanging vesicle pools for a prolonged period of time and at a wide range of gradients. They are often seen where stimuli can similarly be prolonged and variable, such as vision in the eye, and hair follicles of the inner ear.<sup>26</sup>

CtBP family proteins are unique in comparison to many other transcriptional coregulators due to the fact that they have intrinsic enzymatic activity. CtBPs most closely resemble D-isomer-specific 2-hydroxyacid dehydrogenases (D2-HDH). Dehydrogenases are capable of performing oxidative-reductive (redox) reactions in which NADH is converted to NAD+, or vice versa, in the presence of a co-substrate. As such, CtBPs contain an NADHbinding domain made of a motif consisting of alternating  $\beta$ -strands and  $\alpha$ -helices, known as a Rossmann fold, and a substrate-binding domain (**Fig. 1\_2B**).<sup>27</sup> Additionally, CtBPs have



consistently been shown to homo- and heterodimerize. Another unique feature among CtBPs is their ability to interact with PXDLS (Pro-X-Asp-Leu-Ser) motifs found in several transcription factors and transcription regulators.<sup>4,28,29</sup> CtBPs have been shown to interact with EGR1/SP1, ETS, CREB, KLF, ZEB, STAT and other families of transcription factors.<sup>30,31</sup> Through the PXDLS-binding motif various effectors, including CoRest, HDACs, HMTs, etc. can also interact with CtBPs. Some of these factors in turn recruit other effectors. For example, LSD1 (Lysine-specific demethylase 1A) often binds CtBPs, but only through direct binding with CoRest. The effect results in demethylation of gene promoters and transcriptional activation. CtBPs have been found to contain an RRT motif binding domain; all proteins with a PXDLS domain have been found to have an RRT domain as well.<sup>32</sup> It is possible that once the PXDLS occupancy is filled, the RRT cleft may serve to allow a secondary binding site for other components, but the hypothesis requires further validation.<sup>28</sup> Finally, there are proteins, such as HDAC2 and HIPK1, that can bind CtBP directly and independently of PXDLS motifs.<sup>33,34</sup>

With their functions combined, these domains work together to enable CtBPs' transcriptional regulatory capacity (**Fig. 1\_2A**). The current hypothesis goes as follows: in order to repress gene promoters, CtBP must localize to the nucleus. In the case of CtBP2, it can translocate to the nucleus through an N-terminal nuclear localization signal (NLS) between a.a. 4-14.<sup>27,35,36</sup> This localization region is acetylated by p300, which is necessary for nuclear entry.<sup>37</sup> CtBP1, however, must rely on other mechanisms. It can bind a DNA-binding transcription factor or other protein containing a PXDLS site to "piggyback" to the nucleus. Alternatively, CtBP1 and CtBP2 can heterodimerize and use the CtBP2 NLS to enter the nucleus.<sup>36</sup> Uniquely,



www.manaraa.com

CtBP1, but not CtBP2 contains a C-terminal PDZ-binding site that is believed to be responsible for shuttling CtBP1 to the cytoplasm.<sup>38</sup>

Once in the nucleus, CtBPs function primarily as dimers or oligomers. While there are prescribed monomeric functions for CtBPs in drosophila,<sup>2,16,32,33</sup> dimerization is classically required for transcriptional repression.<sup>16,33,39,40</sup> Dimerization causes a favorable conformational change in the PXDLS-binding domain.<sup>27,41</sup> PXDLS binding recruits transcription complexes to participate in targeted gene repression. The complex commonly consists of promoter specific transcription factors and effectors, like histone methyl-transferases (HMTs), histone deacetylases (HDACs), and other chromatin remodeling proteins.<sup>28,29,42,43</sup> A brief graphical representation, illustrating the hypothesis of how this interaction works, can be seen in **Figure 1\_2A**. A catalytic triad, consisting of His315(321), Glu295(301) and Arg266(272) in CtBP1 (or CtBP2), allows NADH and a substrate to be brought into close proximity<sup>39</sup> (**Fig. 1\_2B**). In the presence of substrate, the intrinsic dehydrogenase activity of CtBP converts NADH to NAD+. It is hypothesized that CtBP is not enzymatically active *in vivo*,<sup>41</sup> but rather the redox reaction allows disassembly of the transcriptional complex and recycling of CtBP monomers to affect further transcriptional mechanisms.

While this is believed to be the primary mechanism whereby CtBP represses, there have been reported nuances and exceptions to the hypothesis. Dr. Lundblad and colleagues present a report that suggests that CtBP2 may form tetramers, although the relevance to repression is unknown.<sup>44</sup> Work is still ongoing in the Grossman laboratory and elsewhere to find evidence that this may function in cell culture or *in vivo* systems. Irrespective of this forthcoming information, the basic premise for CtBP transcriptional regulation has been tested and verified.



#### CtBP as a redox sensor and the putative substrate MTOB

It has been discovered that CtBP's intrinsic dehydrogenase domain functions as a redox sensor, with an ~100 fold preferential binding affinity for NADH over NAD+.<sup>45,46</sup> Thus increased levels of NADH production are correlated with an increase in CtBP-mediated activities.<sup>46</sup> An increase in the NADH:NAD+ ratio is especially observed in cancer systems and may be attributed to at least two promulgating factors: hypoxia and changes in metabolism, such as via a phenomenon known as the Warburg Effect. The Warburg effect describes the tendency that cancer cells have to preferentially undergo a process similar to anaerobic glycolysis, a method of energy production that normally occurs in low oxygen conditions, leading to lactate and NADH production, regardless of oxygen availability.<sup>47</sup> Similarly, hypoxic conditions compound glycolysis, resulting in a further increase in available NADH.<sup>48</sup> Hypoxia, in turn, often predisposes neoplasms to become metastatic.<sup>49</sup> The end result of these processes explains the observation that CtBPs are often overexpressed in malignancy.<sup>50</sup>

Investigators were unaware of the substrate involved in CtBP enzymatic activity until 2007, when Dr. Younes Achouri and colleagues performed a screen of potential cofactors. They found the putative substrate to be 2-keto-4-methylthiobutyrate (also referred to as 4-methylthio-2-oxobutyric acid or MTOB).<sup>51</sup> MTOB principally functions as the penultimate intermediate in the methionine salvage pathway, a pathway involved in the natural recycling of methionine side chains throughout the body. In relationship to CtBP, it is a specific and 80-fold better substrate for CtBP's dehydrogenase activity than other structurally similar compounds. Interestingly, MTOB demonstrates biphasic kinetics in the presence of CtBP; low levels of MTOB serve as a substrate to promote CtBP function, while high levels are inhibitory.<sup>51</sup> This inhibitory function provides the basis for therapeutic development, discussed in the rationale of Chapter 3.



#### **CtBP function in a cancer context:**

An understanding of the normal prescribed functions of CtBPs in cell biology and their mechanism of action are fundamental for studying this family of proteins within the context of human disease. Specifically, CtBPs have been indicated as a player in oncogenic transformation and cancer survival. Work headed by Dr. Evan Sumner in the Grossman laboratory (a review extends beyond the scope of this introduction), demonstrates that CtBP family proteins function as oncogenes. At the level of transcriptional regulation, CtBPs promote and maintain several cancer functions. In order to fully understand this regulation, it is important to review a few of the hallmarks of cancer. Cancer consists of dysregulated cell proliferation within the body and several hallmarks that characterized cancer have been described by Drs. Hanahan and Weinberg.<sup>52</sup> Their framework states that most cancers must sustain proliferative signaling to continually divide, evade growth suppressors that would ameliorate proliferation, enable replicative immortality, resist cell death via apoptosis or other death pathways, activate invasion and metastasis, and induce angiogenesis. Further, cancer cells are capable of deregulating normal cellular energetics in order to favor pathways, such as described with the Warburg effect, and are able to avoid destruction via the immune system.<sup>52</sup> Studies have implicated CtBPs in properties that tie into these hallmarks such as cell migration, invasion, cell survival, metastasis, metabolic maintenance, and stem cell pathways.







**Figure 1\_2. CtBPs' structure allows for the recruitment of transcriptional complexes that promote cancer phenotypes. A)** The hypothesized mechanism of CtBP oncogenic potential. In the presence of NADH (1), CtBP homodimerizes (2), allowing a conformational change that recruits PXDLS partner binding of transcription factors and effectors (3), which leads to repression of multiple targets (including tumor suppressors) (4) that lead to increased cell survival, migration, invasion, proliferation, metabolic homeostasis, etc. (5). Examples of transcriptional targets are shown for each phenotype. The role of substrate is unknown. **B)** A basic representation of key features of CtBPs in the long isoform. Features unique to either CtBP1 or 2 are emphasized.



Substantial work has been performed to distinguish the genes and pathways that CtBPs regulate within the context of cancer. For example, CtBPs promote epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) by transcriptionally repressing epithelial genes, like E-cadherin and keratin-8, and activating the pro-invasion gene Tiam  $1.^{53,54}$  The epithelium is the tissue structure that forms the outer most layer of the body and also lines organs and vessels. In contrast, mesenchymal embryonic cells develop into connective tissue or lymphatic and circulatory cells. This epithelial to mesenchymal transition permits cancer to spread and proliferate by becoming more migratory. The process of EMT involves, among other changes, the loss of E-cadherin, which is integral for maintaining cell adhesion through adherens junctions. Keratin-8 encodes an intermediate filament that is specific to epithelial cells, and its loss promotes de-differentiation from the epithelial phenotype. Beyond promoting migration and invasion, CtBP also regulates the tumor environment by maintaining pH and metabolic homeostasis through negative regulation of SIRT4.<sup>55</sup> SIRT4 prevents a process called glutaminolysis that functions to normalize intracellular acidification under conditions of glycolysis in cancer. Thus downregulation of CtBP lowers the pH of cancer cells by allowing SIRT4 to be expressed.

Importantly, CtBPs also encourage pro-growth and pro-survival oncogenic characteristics. CtBP null mouse embryos demonstrated an upregulation of proapoptotic genes, such as PERP, Noxa, Bax, and Bik.<sup>53,56</sup> In particular, Bik is an especially integral target of CtBP repression. Work has shown that transient knockdown of Bik by siRNA rescues CtBP-mediated cell death.<sup>57</sup> When Bik is expressed, it localizes to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) to release calcium ions (Ca<sup>2+</sup>). This release signals a mitochondrial fusion gene, DRP1, to localize to the mitochondria and open mitochondrial cristae structure. Simultaneously, Bik promotes mitochondrial localization of two pro-apoptotic genes, Bak and Bax. DRP1, Bak, and Bax all



work to release a signaling molecule, cytochrome c, from the mitochondria, which then in turn activates caspase-9, a protease that induces apoptotic cell death.<sup>56</sup> CtBP represses other known tumor suppressors including p16Ink4a, p21, PTEN, and p15Ink4b.<sup>3,29,53</sup> For example, p16Ink4a functions as a cell cycle checkpoint that can stall G1 to S phase progression (the point in which DNA is replicated) in cell division. CtBP recruits factors to repress p16Ink4a expression, which helps cells to bypass stalled replication or senescence.<sup>58,59</sup> PTEN (Phosphatase and tensin homolog) is a potent tumor suppressor that prevents aberrant cell cycle progression, survival and homeostasis by repressing a cascade of biological processes that are catalyzed by the PI3K/AKT pathways. Additionally, CtBPs affect a variety of other tumor suppressors and gene targets, causing an increase in pro-oncogenic functions in cancer cells as the global end result.

Our understanding of the CtBP expression profile in cancer was thrust forward by ChIPseq (chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing) experiments that validated these findings and provided other novel insights. In MCF-7 breast cancer cells, CtBPs, outside normal regulatory roles, play significant roles in assuring EMT, cell cycle progression, proliferation, and survival<sup>30</sup> (**Fig. 1\_2A**). Furthermore, these ChIP-seq experiments validated roles of CtBP in restricting cellular repair (i.e. repression of BRCA1) and promoting stem cell-like features, etc.<sup>30</sup> The increased repression of the aforementioned targets, especially under hypoxic and increasingly oncogenic conditions lends weight to CtBP as a putative oncogene.<sup>29,60</sup>

In addition to suppressing tumor suppressors, CtBP is also subjected to tumor suppressor regulation. In particular, ARF and HIPK2 are capable of causing p53 independent degradation to abrogate pro-tumorigenic functions. In response to UV radiation, HIPK2 phosphorylates CtBP and targets it to the proteasome by increasing ubiquitinated CtBP. This HIPK2-mediated proteasomal localization causes CtBP degradation and promotes apoptosis.<sup>61,62</sup> ARF binds the



C-terminal portion of the CtBP protein (within a.a. 224-445 in CtBP2, Fig. 1 2B) to relieve CtBP's inhibition of Bik, which induces apoptosis through a p53-independent pathway involving proteasomal degradation.<sup>56,57,63-65</sup> This is critical, since p53 deregulation is involved in most tumor formation.<sup>66</sup> Interestingly, ARF expression does not regulate CtBP by increasing CtBP ubiquitination. The exact mechanism wherein ARF induces CtBP degradation has yet to be elucidated, but one hypothesis suggests that ARF can itself be targeted to the proteasome by ubiquitination, and that its own proteasomal localization causes the degradation of any partners to which it may be bound.<sup>67</sup> It has been shown that ARF can sequester itself, along with CtBP, to the nucleolus, suggesting that its ability to shuttle CtBP may in part dictate CtBP regulation.<sup>63</sup> Alternatively, ARF has been shown to regulate sumovality of binding partners, which similarly can target its binding partners for proteasomal degradation.<sup>68</sup> ARF-dependent sumoylation of CtBP has not been investigated. Beyond apoptosis, ARF can also block CtBP mediated PTEN repression. Alleviation of PTEN function allows for repression of the PI3K/Akt pathway; the global effect results in inhibition of CtBP-dependent, hypoxia-induced, cancer cell migration.<sup>64</sup> A third mechanism of CtBP repression can be seen with the tumor suppressor APC. It was shown that patients with Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (FAP), a condition caused by germline mutations in APC, had higher levels of CtBP1 in adenomas compared to normal tissue.<sup>29,69</sup> It was further found that APC rescue in colorectal cell lines caused diminished CtBP through proteasome-dependent mechanisms.

The evidence for CtBP-specific oncogenic potential has been studied largely in human cancer-derived cell lines and animal models. Ultimate proof of its potential clinical utility resides in effects seen in cancer in the patient population. The Grossman lab performed one of the first studies looking at differential expression of CtBPs in a tumor versus control tissue cohort. In a



study of 69 human colorectal adenocarcinoma samples, our lab found 64% to show upregulated levels of CtBP when compared to normal adjacent tissue sections from the same patients<sup>70</sup>. Even more recently, a study has shown that CtBP1 is more highly expressed in certain forms of breast cancer, where it is expressed in 92% of invasive ductal breast tissue samples but expressed in only 4% of normal adjacent tissue.<sup>71</sup> A connection between increased CtBP1 and decreased E-cadherin and BRCA1 protein was also verified within the tumor samples.

CtBP2 is also a proposed oncogene in ovarian cancer. One study showed that 83% of ovarian epithelial tumors demonstrated increased CtBP2 expression when compared to normal and benign ovarian tissues.<sup>72</sup> CtBP2 expression scored higher in invasive tumors than that of borderline tumors. Survival of patients who had CtBP2-positive tumors was lower than that of patients with negative expressing ovarian tumors, based on Kaplan-Meier curves. In prostate cancer, CtBP2 expression similarly correlates with increased cancer severity.<sup>73</sup> Comparing the extremes of poorly differentiated prostate cancer with normal prostate tissue, elevated CtBP2 expression was observed in 80% and 6% of samples, respectively. Kaplan-Meier curves likewise showed a statistically significant lower survival rate in patients with high CtBP2-expressing tumors. Research continues to find pathways in which CtBPs play a pivotal role in the development of many cancers and to distinguish which cancer types are most regulated by this protein family.

Using the Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA), an NIH sponsored cancer genomic data set, it is possible to interrogate the genomic and transcriptional events that lead to overexpression in several of these cancer types. Generally, CtBP1 or CtBP2 genomic alterations are found in a small percentage of tumors, with the highest frequencies including ovarian and uterine cancers (**Fig. 1\_3**).<sup>74,75</sup> While this can explain some of the overexpression seen in tumor samples,



genomic amplification seen in a minority of cancers does not fully account for the overexpression seen in a majority of tumor samples in breast, ovarian, and other cancers. Nor does the transcriptional expression profile in these tumors: CtBP1 seems to be ubiquitously expressed at fairly consistent levels (**Fig. 1\_4A**), while CtBP2 expression varies much more (**Fig. 1\_4B**). Anecdotally, CtBP2 transcription seems to correlate somewhat with immunohistochemistry and protein expression experiments; for example, in the TCGA gene expression data (**Fig. 1\_4B**), colorectal, prostate, ovarian, and breast tumors are among the highest six CtBP2 expressing cancer types. This falls in line with the aforementioned data. It is possible though, that most of the increased expression of CtBPs in cancer is due to posttranscriptional protein maintenance and stability that provides an oncogenic advantage.

To summarize, while CtBPs are crucial for normal development, they also participate in cancer proliferation and survival through several different pathways. The relevance of CtBP overexpression is increasingly being reported in the patient population. The subsequent experiments in this dissertation endeavor to discover new and better therapeutics that can successfully target and kill cancer cells in a CtBP-specific manner and to further understand the mechanism of CtBP transcriptional and biological function, specifically with regard to its substrate-binding activity.





**Figure 1\_3. CtBP1 and 2 differ in genomic alterations among different cancer tissues.** Data shows genomic differences for **A**) CtBP1 and **B**) CtBP2 across a panel of provisional tumor TCGA tissue samples, arranged in order of alteration frequency. These results are based upon data generated by the TCGA Research Network: <u>http://cancergenome.nih.gov/</u>.





**Figure 1\_4: CtBP1 and 2 show differing trends in gene expression across tumor types. A**) CtBP1 and **B**) CtBP2 across a panel of provisional TCGA tumor samples as in **Fig. 1\_3.** RNA sequencing (RNAseq) was performed and run through the RNA Seq V2 pipeline. Expression data is displayed as log2 values.



## Chapter 2: Discovery of small molecule inhibitors through highthroughput screening and rational design

#### **Rationale:**

CtBPs play an integral role in cancer maintenance and progression by activating protooncogenes and repressing tumor suppressors. Inclusive with these findings, it has been reported that targeting CtBP for proteasomal degradation can lead to apoptosis independent of p53 status.<sup>57,76</sup> Further evidence of a pro-oncogenic phenotype is seen in patient cohorts spanning different cancer types. These findings work together to provide an impetus for studying whether or not CtBPs can be therapeutically viable targets for cancer treatment.

There are a number of characteristics of CtBPs that make the family a good candidate for cancer therapeutic targeting.<sup>77</sup> For one, the basic mechanism of action of CtBP is understood: in the presence of NADH and MTOB, CtBPs can undergo an enzymatic redox reaction that oxidizes NADH to NAD+ and reduces MTOB to the compound 4-methylthio-2-hydroxybutyric acid, or MTHB. The understanding of this slow intrinsic enzymatic activity allows for the development of assays to look for small molecule inhibitors. By combining purified CtBP protein, an excess of NADH, and MTOB together, the redox reaction, as demonstrated by the conversion of NADH to NAD+, can be measured in a spectrophotometer. NADH absorbs light at 340 nanometers, while the oxidized NAD+ does not. This assay can be upscaled to perform high throughput screening of small molecular inhibitors. Relevant drugs will decrease the rate of enzymatic activity, and hits can be verified and tested for cytotoxicity and CtBP-specificity.

CtBPs also meet several other criteria distinctive of ideal drug targets.<sup>77</sup> We have discussed that CtBPs are upregulated in several different cancer types as compared to adjacent normal tissue, suggesting that it is, in fact, disease modifying. This also suggests that CtBP-



specific compounds *in vivo* would preferentially target tumor cells, with limited off target effects for normal tissue. Indeed, as discussed below, there is evidence that targeting of CtBP by the CtBP-substrate (and occasional inhibitor) MTOB is more toxic in malignant versus normal cells, providing a case that modulation of CtBP is less important under physiological conditions than in a cancer context. We show in this chapter that we have been able to visualize the druggability of CtBP through crystal structure and enzymatic assay. Given these observations, we claim that CtBP is a good target for cancer therapeutic development. Inclusive among these characteristics, the Grossman lab has previously demonstrated the relevance of CtBP targeting through studies with the substrate MTOB.

In 2010, the Grossman lab reasoned that since MTOB can inhibit CtBP function at high concentrations, it may be able to act as a CtBP-specific cancer therapeutic at high doses. In addition to several cell based assays, the lab worked to study the therapeutic efficacy of MTOB in mice<sup>70</sup>. In order to study the safety of MTOB treatment in vivo, the Grossman lab injected mice with 750 mg/kg MTOB twice a week for four weeks. When compared to PBS injected controls, all major organs were indistinguishable between the two groups, and throughout the study no signs of illness or distress were observed. Interestingly, when mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) were treated with MTOB, the degree of cellular toxicity was directly related to the degree of cellular transformation. Incubating 4mM MTOB with non-transformed or "normal" MEFs, showed no difference in cell viability as compared to untreated samples. However, MEFs from p19-Arf null mice were more susceptible to apoptosis (65% survival reduction after 7 days). p19-Arf-null MEFs with c-Myc and activated Ras were even more vulnerable to 4mM MTOB treatment after 7 days (98% survival reduction). Therefore, there is evidence that the more highly mutated a tumor is, the more susceptible it may be to MTOB



treatment.<sup>70</sup> This targeting was seen in tumor development: *Nu/Nu* mice were injected with 3 x 10<sup>6</sup> HCT116 p53<sup>-/-</sup> cells by IP injection. After 7 days, IP injections with PBS or 750mg/kg MTOB were administered thrice weekly for 8 weeks or until sacrifice was necessary due to tumor burden. MTOB treated mice showed a median tumor-free survival of 38 days versus 35 for PBS controls, but 48% of MTOB treated mice were tumor free at the time point when all PBS mice showed visible tumors. PBS treated mice had tumors weighing 4.7 grams on average, while MTOB treated mice had an average tumor size of 1.2 grams, with a higher degree of apoptosis (measured by TUNEL staining) than control mice.

Taken together, this shows CtBP-specific therapies may preferentially target cancer cell populations, and CtBPs are ideal inhibitors for drug development. The work done with MTOB provides evidence that further therapeutic development may yield dividends in treating cancers with high CtBP expression. However, MTOB must be used in high doses to surpass substrate level concentrations. As MTOB is an intermediate in the methionine salvage pathway, non-cytotoxic levels of MTOB may also participate in methionine recycling, leading to unintended consequences that may give cancer cells a proliferative advantage. Thus, it would be necessary to find a similar inhibitor to MTOB that can impede CtBP function at much lower levels, while eliminating the normal physiological processes attributed to MTOB.

Based on the positive results seen by these studies and the unique structure of the CtBP substrate-binding site, we set out to discover highly specific inhibitors of CtBP. In this chapter we vet potential inhibitors through a combination of high-throughput screens and rational design based on MTOB and crystal structure. From this work, we discover a compound, 2-hydroxy-3-imino-phenylpropionic acid (HIPP) that binds CtBP with more than 1000-fold greater affinity than MTOB and potently inhibits enzymatic function. We also propose a scheme in which CtBP



undergoes an ordered mechanism of formation requiring NADH binding prior to that of MTOB. HIPP is suggested to bind prior to NAD+ release, but after the redox reaction with MTOB, providing valuable insight into how inhibitors may disrupt CtBP-complex formation.

#### **Materials and Methods:**

#### **Protein Purification:**

An N-terminal truncated (a.a. 31-364) CtBP2 protein containing the functional dehydrogenase domain and an N-terminal his-tag was cloned into a pet-28a vector and used for enzymatic studies. The C-terminal 90 residues of CtBP2 are unstructured, and previous attempts to use full length CtBP2 were confounded due to the formation of protein aggregates, and so we opted for a truncated protein that retains dehydrogenase activity. CtBP2 was transformed into BL-21 De3-Ril+ cells and grown under kanamycin selection. After inoculation of large cultures, cells were grown to an OD600 (Optical density at absorbance 600nm) of 0.5-0.6. Protein expression was induced by 200µM IPTG for 4 hours, and the culture was pelleted and homogenized. Cell membranes were discarded and the solute was incubated in a nickel bead solution for 90 minutes. The bead mixture was added to an equilibrated column and allowed to drain by gravity flow. After several washes, the purified protein was eluted in 300 mM Imidazole and dialyzed overnight. Purity was assessed by Coomassie staining. Proteins were stored in 50% glycerol for long-term storage. The recipes for each buffer are as follows: Wash I: 300mM NaCl, 50mM Tris ph 7.3, 40mM Imidazole pH 7.5, 1mM DTT Wash II: 300mM NaCl, 250mM Na-pyruvate, 50mM Tris ph 7.3, 40mM Imidazole pH 7.5, 1mM DTT Wash III: 300mM NaCl, 50mM Tris ph 7.3, 40mM Imidazole pH 7.5, 1mM DTT, 0.5% Triton-X 100 Wash IV: 2M NaCl, 50mM Tris ph 7.3, 40mM Imidazole pH 7.5, 1mM DTT



Elution Buffer: 300mM NaCl, 50mM Tris ph 7.3, 300mM Imidazole pH 7.5, 1mM DTT Dialysis Buffer:300mM NaCl, 50mM Tris pH7.3, 40mM Imidazole pH7.5, 2mM DTT, 5% Glycerol

#### **High Throughput Screen:**

High throughput drug screening experiments were done in collaboration with the UMass Medical School Small Molecular Screening Facility. The Chembridge 30,000 compound Diverset was screened and Greiner bio-one UV-star 384 well plates were used due to their lack of interference at A=340nm. An NADH disappearance assay, was performed to measure dehydrogenase activity (the conversion of NADH to NAD+). Briefly, the assay is performed in a buffer consisting of 1mM DTT, 25mM HEPES, and 25 mM KCl. The first two columns of each plate contained positive controls; purified (a.a. 31-364) CtBP2, NADH, and substrate levels of MTOB are loaded with the addition of 1uL DMSO. The last two columns are negative controls, containing MTHB instead of MTOB, without the addition of drug. 60uL of premixed 100 $\mu$ M NADH and 66.7  $\mu$ M MTOB are added to columns 1-22 by  $\mu$ Fill (Biotek), followed by the addition of 60uL premixed 100µM NADH and 66.7µM MTHB into columns 23 and 24. 1uL of 5mM drugs are then added from the drug screen plates (in 96-well format) into the assay plates by use of the TeMo robot (Tecan). Finally, 19uL of 84.4ug/mL purified CtBP2 is added into each well, yielding a total volume of 80uL per well. Absorbance was read immediately after adding protein with the Safire plate reader (Tecan). Absorbance was measured again at 1 hour and 2 hours post incubation. The final concentrations of reagents in the assay are 20.045 ug/mL CtBP2, 75 µM NADH, 50 µM MTOB/MTHB, and 62.5µM drug.

Quality assessment is assured by looking at positive and negative controls at the 1-hour time point. After 1 hour the positive controls should show ~50% loss of absorbance and the



negative controls should show a decrease of less than 0.02 absorbance units. On average the positive controls should decrease in absorbance about 0.2 absorbance units with the negative controls showing 0.02 units of absorbance reduction. Hits are first identified as those compounds that show a loss in absorbance of less than 0.1. After the first round of screening, hits that show increased absorbance from the initial point were considered spurious results and removed from further assessment. The hits were arranged from highest to lowest loss of absorbance, and the 21 hits with the lowest change in absorbance were identified for use in follow up validation screens.

Compounds found from the initial screen were ordered from either Chembridge or Molport drug synthesis companies and were subjected to an NADH disappearance screening similar to that described above. In addition, three columns would contain negative controls: one without NADH, one without protein, and a column that replaces MTOB with MTHB. Except where noted, these controls contain all other components necessary for the reaction.

#### MTS Cell Viability Assay:

H1299 lung cancer cells were seeded in a 96 well plate and incubated overnight. The next morning drugs or DMSO control were added and cells were incubated for 72 hours. MTS assay was performed using the CellTiter 96® Aqueous One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay according to the protocol provided by Promega.com. Briefly, 20uL of One Solution Reagent containing MTS tetrazolium was added to each well and the solution was further incubated 4 hours. Absorbance at A=490nm was read using the Biotek H1 plate reader. Statistical analysis was performed using Graphpad Prism®, by One Way Anova followed by Tukey's post-test.



#### **Enzyme Kinetics for HIPP Ki Determination:**

Purified CtBP2 (a.a. 31-364) in 50% glycerol was added to 150 µM NADH and variable amounts of MTOB and HIPP in a buffer containing 25mM HEPES, pH 7.1, 25mM Potassium Chloride, and 1mM DTT. The final concentration of CtBP was 40 µg/mL (986 nM) per reaction. Solutions of HIPP in DMSO were added to account for 1% of the total volume. Final MTOB concentrations of 36, 24, 12, 8, 4, 2, 1, and 0 µM were used for 0 µM HIPP (1% DMSO control). MTOB concentrations for 500nM HIPP were: 64, 48, 24, 12, 8, 4, 2, and 0uM. MTOB concentrations for 1  $\mu$ M HIPP were: 80, 64, 48, 24, 12, 8, 4, and 0  $\mu$ M. MTOB concentrations for 2 µM HIPP are: 96, 80, 64, 48, 36, 24, 12, and 0 µM. Components of the reaction were added to 96-well UV-Star Microplates (Greiner Bio-One). Upon addition of CtBP, reactions were mixed vigorously by pipetting and immediately read in the Synergy H1 microplate reader (BioTek). Absorbance was measured at A=340nm every 7 seconds for 7 minutes to measure CtBP dehydrogenase function (NADH, but not NAD+ absorbs light at 340nm). Assays were carried out at 25°C. The slope of the initial rate of the reaction was used to determine initial velocity of the reaction and model fitting, IC50, and Ki were determined using Graphpad Prism (Version 5.04).

#### **IC50 Determination for HIPP and PPy:**

For PPy and HIPP IC50 determination, an NADH absorbance assay was performed as above, with an endpoint of 15 minutes. PPy concentrations were 400, 300, 200, 100, 10, 1, and 0.1  $\mu$ M. Results reflect two independent experiments, each performed in triplicate. HIPP IC50 was plotted on a logarithmic scale with concentrations ranging from 10<sup>-4</sup> to 10<sup>2</sup>  $\mu$ M concentrations of HIPP. Results represent three independent experiments, each performed in triplicate.


## **Results:**

#### High throughput screening for novel CtBP-specific inhibitors

Following the discovery of MTOB as a CtBP-specific therapeutic reagent, the Grossman lab developed an assay that measured NADH consumption as part of CtBPs enzymatic activity. This process involves a redox reaction with MTOB. The assay, known as an NADH disappearance assay, relied on the preference of CtBP for NADH over NAD+ and the fact that NADH, but not NAD+ absorbs light at 340nm. Since CtBP has an intrinsically unstructured C-terminus,<sup>78</sup> and to prevent aggregation, we used a truncated version of CtBP for protein synthesis consisting of amino acids 31 to 364 (445 a.a. total). The Grossman lab chose to preferentially focus on CtBP2 over CtBP1, in hopes of seeing more striking differences. We conjectured that since CtBP2 has a nuclear localization signaling motif (NLS), absent in CtBP1, and that CtBP1-null mice are small and viable, but CtBP2-null mice are embryonic lethal, targeting of CtBP2 would be a more effective target for drug development, and provide more biological information in cell systems. We further suggest that since CtBP1 and CtBP2 have redundancy in function and structure, discoveries in CtBP2 will translate to being similarly relevant to CtBP1. As such, all experiments presented in this paper were performed with CtBP2.

Buoyed by the success of MTOB as a drug therapy, we conjectured that we could find other novel inhibitors that disrupt CtBP binding. As a first step, we performed a high throughput screen. With the help of Dr. Hong Cao at the University of Massachusetts Medical School, we tested 30,000 molecules using the Chembridge® Diverset on a modified NADH disappearance assay. We tested final drug concentrations of 62.5  $\mu$ M and calculated the change in absorbance (A=340nm) 2 hours after the addition of CtBP2 protein to a buffer which contained drug, 75  $\mu$ M NADH, and 50  $\mu$ M MTOB final concentrations. Wells containing the reduced form of MTOB,



MTHB were used as negative controls. Drugs that visibly distorted the pigment of the reaction mixture or that showed an increase in absorbance were excluded from analysis. The remaining compounds were scanned and ordered from the least to most change in absorbance. The top 100 compounds were identified and eight of the lead compounds were ordered for validation studies.

Each of the top 21 hits demonstrated a total loss of absorbance of less than 0.05 absorbance units after 2 hours, compared to 0.02 units with our negative controls and 0.2 units with no-drug controls. With the aid of Dr. Keith Ellis in the VCU Department of Medicinal Chemistry we were able to postulate the druggable moieties of MTOB that can be altered to create potential inhibitors. Assessing our top hits showed that of 21 compounds, 11 fell into 3 different groups (**Fig. 2\_1**). It is possible that the conserved thiourea moiety in group 1 (**Fig. 2\_1A**) will function as an early transition state mimetic for the ketone substituent in MTOB and bind within the substrate-binding domain of CtBP. It was believed that Group 2 molecules may function in NADH domain binding, rather than substrate binding. Group 3 exhibits interesting electronics and may shift electron density within the binding domain. Each of the compounds ordered for validation come from groups 1 and 2.

Follow up experiments were performed to verify the accuracy of our results and to test for cytotoxicity. Using an H1299 lung cancer cell line, an MTS assay was performed to measure cell viability after 72 hours of drug treatment (**Fig 2\_1B**). The results were compared to viability observed in a DMSO-only control and a new compound, 2-hydroxy-3-imino-phenylpropionic acid, or HIPP (discussed below). Each compound showed significant cytotoxicity compared to control, with the transition-state mimetic-like drug, compound 1, showing approximately 50% decrease in viability at 1mM concentration. The putative NADH-domain mutant, compound 8, showed roughly 50% cytotoxicity at 50µM concentration, with cell cytotoxicity increasing with



drug concentration. While these compounds seemed suggestive of good targets in cancer viability assays, they failed validation by repeat NADH disappearance assays. Several of the new compounds, in addition to a rationally designed molecule, phenylpyruvate (discussed in the subsequent section), were tested across a logarithmic range of values ranging from 5nM to 500µM concentration for 1 hour. Results are shown in **Figure 2\_1,C-D**. None of the compounds tested showed rates of inhibition that were comparable to the initial screen results. At 500µM drug concentration, compound 4 seemed to increase absorbance, likely due to absorbance of the compound itself. Compounds 5 and 7 at 500µM concentration for a shown apparent significant inhibition. However, it should be noted that this concentration far exceeds that of both MTOB and NADH concentrations, and may not represent a true inhibitory reaction.

While the data did not identify a new class of inhibitors, study of Group 1 compounds gave birth to ideas that could be incorporated into rational design; specifically, that transition state mimetics could provide a scaffold for inhibitor design. Concurrently with these results, colleagues Dr. William Royer and Dr. Brendan Hilbert at the UMass Medical Center were able to determine the crystal structure of MTOB binding to CtBP1 and CtBP2.<sup>79</sup> This finding helped to distinguish key residues of the substrate-binding domain pocket. Within this domain, they found that CtBP1 and CtBP2 active sites were nearly identical. These involved tight and stoichometrically favorable interactions of MTOB with two arginine residues, a tryptophan, and a histidine in the active site (**Fig. 2\_2A**). In particular, they observed the tryptophan residue (Trp318/324 in CtBP1/2 respectively) interaction with the MTOB thiol moiety of CtBP1 to be interesting. A BLAST search revealed this tryptophan to be exclusive to CtBP family proteins; a variety of other amino acid substitutions are found in otherwise similar dehydrogenases. Previous work with CtBP crystal structures demonstrated a tight interaction between this





Figure 2\_1. Discovery and validation of potential therapeutics by high-throughput screen. 11 of the top 21 hits from a 30,000 compound screen contained common moieties. A) shows the three groups with common residues outlined. B) MTS viability assay for compounds (corresponding to numbers in A) from groups 1 and 2, along with 2-hydroxy-3-iminophenylpropionic acid, HIPP. \*= p-value <0.05, \*\*\*= p-value <0.001. C) and D) NADH disappearance assay for compounds 1-8 and phenylpyruvate, with concentrations of 0, 5, 50, 500nM, and 5, 50, and 500µM. Values plotted on a logarithmic scale.



tryptophan with bound NAD+,<sup>39</sup> and other studies have suggested the residue may play a role in oligomerization.<sup>44</sup> Together this suggests that the unique substrate-domain tryptophan may operate in bringing substrate and NADH co-factor in close proximity for enzymatic function. Further, having a unique residue that exists in only the CtBP family of molecules provides a target for designing specific inhibitors that may have limited off-target effects.

#### Discovery of HIPP as a CtBP2 inhibitor

Taken together, the knowledge from crystallographic data and the inspiration gleaned from high throughput screening allowed for rational design of inhibitors. This was done with the help of Dr. Keith Ellis and associates. Efforts were employed to use the basic structure of MTOB as a 'backbone' to create a better therapeutic. Since the CtBP2 tryptophan, W324, residue may function as a sort of keystone, being integral for dimerization, dehydrogenase function, and oligomerization properties of the protein, we first sought to enhance the binding capacity of the MTOB substrate by replacing the thiol group with a phenyl ring that would allow for pi-pi interactions with the catalytic tryptophan (**Fig. 2\_2B**). This substitution forms phenylpyruvate (PPy). Phenylpyruvate showed a slight increase in inhibition potential, but interestingly gave cells a proliferative advantage when added to media (**Fig. 2\_2C**). While the mechanism for this has not been investigated, phenylpyruvate is a bi-product of altered phenylalanine processing in patients that have the metabolic disorder, phenylketonuria, a disorder characterized by an inability to process phenylalanine.<sup>80</sup> It is possible that this molecule is able to be recycled within cells to provide metabolites that bestow a growth advantage.

It was then hypothesized that we could further increase inhibition potential by altering moieties within the  $\alpha$ -ketone of phenylpyruvate (**Fig. 2\_2B**). 2-hydroxyimino-3-phenylpropionic acid (HIPP) replaced the phenylpyruvate  $\alpha$ -ketone with an oxime in an attempt to create a



transition-state mimetic of the redox reaction between the carbonyl and NADH, without allowing for actual hydride (H-) transfer. Analysis of HIPP, along with phenylpyruvate, were tackled on two fronts. First, Drs. Royer and Hilbert determined the HIPP/CtBP/NAD co-crystal structure and performed ITC experiments to determine the Kd of binding, among other analyses for each of these molecules, comparing them to MTOB. Second, we performed enzymatic experiments to obtain information about its functional inhibition potential.

Crystallographic results of MTOB, phenylpyruvate, and HIPP bound to CtBP1 in the presence of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+) are shown in Figure 2\_3,A-C.<sup>81</sup> The structures show both hydrogen bonding and coulombic interactions, a measure of affinity based on electronic charge. Several observations were made; foremost is that binding of each of these small molecules does not substantially change the substrate-binding cleft, with exception to a shift in A123 in the canonical binding of phenylpyruvate. This amino acid is part of a hinge that brings the substrate binding domain and NAD-binding domain within close proximity.<sup>79</sup> As we had predicted, the phenyl group of Trp318 stacked tightly with the phenyl groups of both phenylpyruvate and HIPP. They showed approximately 2-fold tighter binding with this residue than did MTOB (measured by van der Waal's contacts). However, the general conformations were somewhat unexpected. MTOB binds in a canonical conformation, one in which the ketone on carbon C-2 is brought close in proximity to NADH. This allows an interaction that permits a redox reaction to occur, converting MTOB to MTHB and NADH to NAD+. Phenylpyruvate assumes this same conformation with its C-2 ketone roughly half the time (Fig. 2 3B), and a non-canonical conformation (Fig. 2 3C) the other half the time that phenylpyruvate binds. The non-canonical conformation forces the molecule to pivot such that C-2 points away from NADH,









fills part of the active site, and can no longer participate in hydride transfer. HIPP surprisingly binds only in the non-canonical conformation (**Fig. 2\_3D**). This is surprising because our hypothesis was that the oxime group on C-2 of HIPP would interact with NADH, but would force inhibition by preventing an actual redox reaction from occurring. It is believed that a canonical conformation for HIPP would cause clashing interactions with a unit of the substrate binding domain, H315 (**Fig. 2\_3D**).

A unique feature of the CtBP active site is that it is largely hydrophilic and contains a water network within the substrate-binding  $cleft^{79}$ . Phenylpyruvate had a shift in the hinge structure that caused displacement of two of the four water molecules found near MTOB (**Fig. 2\_3,E-F**). HIPP also, in effect, displaced two water molecules, but did so without displacing the hinge structure, similarly to that seen with phenylpyruvate (**Fig. 2\_3G**). This may be useful in the design of future inhibitors, as the effect on hinge displacement has not been evaluated, and may have disruptive repercussions. It may also be useful with future HIPP-like inhibitors to aim to more fully displace other water molecules.

Isothermal calorimetry experiments (ITC) using a competitive displacement setup served to demonstrate the differences in affinity for CtBP between MTOB and HIPP. For this assay, MTOB was incubated with purified protein, and then HIPP was titrated into the reaction to displace MTOB from the active site and ITC measurements were obtained. The dissociation constant, Kd, which in this case measures the ability of the molecules to fall off CtBP, was then calculated. It was shown that MTOB had a Kd= $2.96 \pm 0.82$  mM. HIPP proved to have a 1000fold higher affinity for CtBP2, with a Kd= $1.30 \pm 0.07$  µM. This suggests that HIPP is a better inhibitor than MTOB by three orders of magnitude.





Figure 2\_3. MTOB, PPy, and HIPP hydrogen residue interactions and water networks A) The hydrogen bond network (dashes) of substrate MTOB. PPy and HIPP are compared to this structure. **B**) The PPy substrate conformation possesses a similar hydrogen bond network to MTOB (orange dashes). This conformation has lost the hydrogen bond to R97, although PPy maintains proximity for coulombic interactions (yellow dashes). The substrate PPy has an additional hydrogen bond to NAD+. C) The noncanonical phenylpyruvate conformation's hydrogen network (green dashes). Orientation of the carboxylate towards R266 maximizes hydrogen bond potential as well as coulombic interactions (yellow dashes) with R97. D) HIPP forms a similar hydrogen bonding network (cyan dashes) and coulombic interactions (yellow dashes) to the non-canonical PPy conformation, with exception of losing the interaction with NAD+. E) MTOB possesses a water network (red spheres with vellow dashes) that connect the substrate to an NAD<sup>+</sup> phosphate via four water molecules (W1–W4). The conformation of hinge residue A123 (dark green) helps create a cavity for the water molecules, a feature unique to CtBP. F) The water network (orange spheres) in the PPy structure is disrupted by the novel conformation of A123. W2 and W3 are completely displaced as the cavity collapses. W1 is present with the substrate conformation of PPy and when no molecule is bound in the active site ( $\sim 60\%$  of the time). G) The HIPP structure water network is altered compared to MTOB. W1 is completely displaced by the HIPP hydroxyl group. W2 shifted position to interact with HIPP. Due to shifts in both W2 and W3 (now 1.9Å apart), their presence is mutually exclusive. Similar to PPy, HIPP has no effect on W4 position.



Kinetic inhibition assays were performed to assess the ability of HIPP to inhibit CtBP catalytic activity. Inhibition assays measured CtBP dependent NADH oxidation in the presence of the substrate, MTOB, and inhibitor. Total change in absorbance (A=340nm) was measured after 15 minutes, using concentrations of drugs from 10nM to 100µM on a logarithmic scale. Consistent with our crystallographic results, both phenylpyruvate and HIPP substantially inhibit CtBP dehydrogenase function, exhibiting IC50 values of 135.9µM and 745.9nM, respectively (**Fig. 2\_4,A-B**). 50% inhibition levels, or IC50 values, vary from one assay to another and are altered with any change in condition. They serve as a good way to compare two different conditions, but only in well designed and controlled assays that are identical in procedure. However, they fail to demonstrate a true constant value for an inhibitor. In order to determine this value, one must determine an inhibitor constant, or Ki.

In order to determine Ki measurements for a drug, one must determine the initial velocity of enzyme activity at several concentrations of drug and in the presence of several concentrations of substrate. For the purpose of this study, standard Michaelis-Menten kinetics were simulated. With this type of kinetics, one must ensure that there is a single substrate reaction such that  $\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{S} \rightleftharpoons \mathbf{ES} \rightarrow \mathbf{P}$ , where 'E' represents the enzyme, CtBP2, 'S' represents the substrate MTOB, 'ES' is the formed complex of these two molecules, and 'P' represents the product, production of MTHB from the redox reaction between MTOB and NADH. In order to mimic this single substrate reaction, it is necessary to keep NADH in far excess, so that it cannot play the role of a limiting factor. This set up is known as a pseudo-first order reaction. In this experiment there was, at the least, a 64 µM excess of NADH in the system.

It is also necessary to determine the initial velocity of each reaction. The formation of an enzyme-substrate reaction is reversible, and once the interaction reaches equilibrium, the reverse



reaction, showing that enzyme-substrate complex disassembly, cannot properly be subtracted from the forward rate. This confounds results in determining the true rate of enzyme substrate assembly. At the beginning of the reaction, however, enzyme and substrate largely go toward product, giving a better estimate of the rate of the forward reaction. As such, the change in absorbance was measured within the first couple of minutes of the reaction to find this initial velocity. Ki was determined for HIPP. A more thorough analysis using Ki was not possible with phenylpyruvate, as it demonstrated substrate activity at low concentrations.

One of the key benefits of determining Ki in a uni-substrate system is that it can confirm the mode of inhibition. Using Michaelis-Menten kinetics, one can infer whether the inhibition occurs through competitive or non-competitive means. Competitive inhibitors bind in the same site as a substrate. Based on the crystal structure of CtBP bound to both MTOB and HIPP, we know that they compete for the same active site. A non-competitive inhibitor would suggest that the inhibitor binds at another location outside the active site, but that this binding causes a change, conformational or otherwise, in the enzyme that prevents the substrate from binding its active site. We have been able to see in our crystal system that non-competitive inhibition does not occur. These two modes of inhibition can be observed in Michaelis-Menten kinetics through changes in the maximum velocity that can be achieved by the enzyme in the presence of inhibitor, Vmax, or through a change in the substrate concentration that is required to see half the maximum velocity, Km. A change in Km is associated with a competitive inhibitor and a change in Vmax is associated with that of a non-competitive inhibitor.

HIPP, however, was found to have a Ki of 928nM through an apparent non-competitive mechanism ( $R^2$ = 0.7556; **Fig 2\_4C**). This contrasts to a competitive mode of inhibition for HIPP, which had worse model fitting (Ki=109.1nM;  $R^2$ =0.4995). This can be visualized by



noting the decrease in maximum reported velocity as inhibitor is added (**Fig 2\_4C**) or in a double reciprocal plot (**Fig 2\_4D**). A competitive inhibitor in this plot, known as a Lineweaver-Burk plot, shows lines that intersect along the y-axis, whereas a non-competitive inhibitor intersects along the x-axis. Based on model fitting, represented by comparison of  $R^2$  values, the non-competitive model is a better fit. In addition, the validity of a Ki value can be strengthened by comparison with ITC data. An accurate Ki should fall within 2-fold of the range of the Kd generated from ITC. Our Kd for HIPP bound enzyme was Kd=1.30 ± 0.07 µM, which points toward the non-competitive like model. From model fitting and the observation that the Kd from ITC is similar to that of the Ki from the non-competitive model we do not have a basis to reject our data outright.

The result was contrary to the hypothesis inferred from our crystal data. To resolve this perceived paradox, we looked to alternative interpretations. An investigation of the literature revealed that allosteric interactions may be responsible for our result. An allosteric reaction involves two or more ligands wherein one ligand affects the binding of another<sup>82</sup>. In 1964, a variation on standard notions of allosteric regulation was identified<sup>83</sup>. This concept, known as V-type allosteric systems describes a system wherein there are two ligands and an enzyme. One ligand can bind independently of the enzyme-state or the presence of the other ligand. The second ligand, however, is dependent on the first. This differs from standard ideas of allosteric systems, because typically in a two ligand system, both ligands will affect and be affected by the binding capacity of one another. Oftentimes a V-type system will look like a non-competitive inhibitor whenever there is excess of a substrate (in our system, MTOB) that can bind independently of the other ligand in the reaction. V-type systems also can show a





**Figure 2\_4. CtBP2 enzymatic inhibition assays.** IC<sub>50</sub> measurements for HIPP, **A**), and PPy, **B**), after 15 minutes show that HIPP exhibits an IC<sub>50</sub> value more than 100 fold lower than PPy. Data represent n=3 and n=2 triplicate experiments, respectively. K<sub>i</sub> plots, **C**) demonstrate that HIPP inhibition results largely from a decrease in V<sub>max</sub>, which would not be expected for a purely competitive inhibitor. The plateau of each hyperbolic curve illustrates V<sub>max</sub> for individual drug concentrations. Points represent the average of n=7 reads. MTOB, **D**) exhibits substrate inhibition when in excess. n=2 independent triplicate experiments. All error bars represent standard deviation. **E**) Lineweaver-Burk plot showing a double reciprocal transformation of the data presented in B. This and other figures reprinted with permission from Hilbert BJ, Morris BL, Ellis KC, et al. Structure-guided design of a high affinity inhibitor to human CtBP. *ACS Chem Biol.* 2015;10(4):1118-1127. doi: 10.1021/cb500820b Copyright 2015 American Chemical Society



non-competitive like model, whenever there is an inhibitor that competes for that same active site.<sup>84</sup>

Similar to this concept, many bi-substrate enzymes, including another D2-dehydrogenase, D-2-hydroxy-4-methylvalerate dehydrogenase, has demonstrated abortive ternary complexes.<sup>85</sup> It has been shown that D-2-hydroxy-4-methylvalerate dehydrogenase undergoes a rapid equilibrium ordered bi-bi ternary complex mechanism, with NAD binding first, followed by the substrate. Addition of an inhibitor caused the complex to be bound in a state where the substrate was released, but inhibitor bound before the release of the coenzyme product. They were also able to see substrate inhibition when substrate exceeded stoichiometric levels of NAD. In another instance, using a pseudo-first order reaction, it was shown that phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase similarly had a loss in Vmax, suggestive of a V-type allosteric system.<sup>86</sup> D-3-phosphoglycerate was shown to have a hinge domain that closed around NADH whenever it was bound. Serine acted as an inhibitor and was capable of preventing closure of the hinge domain.<sup>87</sup>

CtBP meets many of the criteria suggestive of a similar mechanism of action. In addition to a loss of Vmax in our Ki inhibitory studies, CtBP has been shown to similarly have an open and closed conformation based upon the presence of NADH.<sup>39,88</sup> When NADH binds, this closure induces a change in conformation that permits dimerization. Also, MTOB overexpression causes substrate inhibition (**Fig 2\_4D**).

Taken together, the hypothesis for CtBP's mechanism of action, as accumulated from both our individual work and the compilation of literature pertaining to similar D2-HDH dehydrogenases is as follows: CtBP, in the presence of high amounts of NADH, binds the coenzyme NADH in an ordered bi-substrate reaction. It undergoes a physiological change, which causes a closed conformation of the enzyme. The closed conformation allows for



dimerization and transcriptional regulation. When MTOB or other substrate binds, a redox reaction occurs, leading to recycling of the enzyme. However, when MTOB is in excess of NADH, MTOB can bind first, disregarding the ordered mechanism, and preventing NADH from coming in and closing the hinge. This substrate inhibition prevents CtBP from performing its transcriptional functions. In the presence of the inhibitor HIPP, inhibition could occur at several points. HIPP can either bind directly to the empty enzyme, or NADH and MTOB can undergo their typical reaction. It is believed that since NADH is enclosed within the CtBP holoenzyme, MTHB will be released prior to the release of NAD+. At this point, similar to many other bisubstrate enzymes, HIPP can bind before domain opening and NAD+ release. In this way HIPP may be promoting a ternary abortive complex. Dr. William Royer was able to derive simulations of HIPP bound to free CtBP enzyme along with HIPP bound in a ternary complex. He found a remarkable amount of concordance between his abortive ternary simulation and our data, involving a change in Vmax with increased inhibitor concentration and including substrate inhibition. This simulation data, with a brief discussion of its derivation, is found in Appendix I. A visual representation of the possible mechanism for CtBP enzymatic formation and inhibition is detailed in Figure 2\_5.

Together we have been able to find a next generation inhibitor with affinity for CtBP at 928nM. This was done by rational design, bringing together information obtained from both a high-throughput screen and crystallography data of MTOB-bound CtBP. Additionally, we have developed a hypothesis that can explain both HIPP's mechanism of action and the order of assembly of CtBP complexes. This research has provided a good deal of information in tying together seams of the CtBP story and gives some important insights into CtBP-targeting through





**Figure 2\_5. The hypothesis for CtBP inhibition of HIPP through an abortive ternary complex.** In this schematic E= Enzyme, CtBP; N=NADH; S=Substrate, MTOB; H=HIPP (inhibitor); N'=NAD+; S' = MTHB; K= reaction rate. Each of the steps in this reaction are reversible, and the derivation of the rates of formation of each complex are shown. Briefly, following the schematic: Enzyme, CtBP binds NADH (1). At this point either HIPP (2) or MTOB (3) can bind. With MTOB binding, a redox reaction occurs, wherein NADH is oxidized to NAD+ and MTOB is reduced to MTHB (4). At this point, three possible things could happen: HIPP could bind to inhibit the complex (5), MTOB could bind to inhibit the complex (6), or NAD+ can be released (7) allowing for CtBP to be free to catalyze another reaction. Since NADH is found in excess in our system, it is presumed that most of the reaction goes through step 7, unless inhibitor is introduced. MTOB ternary inhibition likely only plays a small role since the substrate has a >1000-fold lower affinity than HIPP. In living cancer systems, where NADH is presumed to be in excess, it is believed that CtBP exists largely in state (1).



small molecular inhibitors. It also raises a number of important questions that should be addressed in the process of developing CtBP-based cancer therapies.

## **Discussion and Future Directions:**

#### High throughput screening and fragment based drug design

We have been able to use insights gleaned from a high-throughput screen and crystal structure data of the substrate, MTOB, bound to CtBP to find a new and more potent inhibitor: HIPP. This compound consists of a phenyl ring that allows pi-pi stacking with a tryptophan residue within the substrate-binding domain that is unique to CtBP family proteins. It also contains an imine moiety that was found to more fully occupy the active site. The end result is a molecule that is over 1000-fold more potent at binding to CtBP than its predecessor, MTOB. Additionally, we hypothesize that HIPP causes an abortive ternary complex to inhibit the enzymatic function of CtBP.

With the experiments performed, there are limitations and several new questions to consider. For example, it is instantly perplexing that none of the tested compounds from our high-throughput screen were validated in follow up enzymatic assays. It may be impossible to know the reasons for this, but it is interesting to note that many of the potential hits segregated into families with common moieties. This would suggest that, in fact, the compounds were accurately identified, or rather that there was no misidentification with mapping the wells to their proper identification number in the database used. It is further possible that the compounds synthesized for inclusion in the high-throughput screen underwent different purification or synthesis methodologies than what was purchased for follow up experiments, and that impurities in one batch accounted for differences in binding. This option also seems unlikely since of the



two main groupings that we tested, which were based on common moieties, all showed similar binding patterns within their family. It is unlikely a preparation difference that was capable of fundamentally changing enzymatic interaction would be consistently observed across several separate molecules.

We worked to eliminate compounds from analysis that were not visibly transparent. Those compounds that significantly changed the color or clarity of the reaction were marked and noted for exclusion in the analysis. However, the potential exists that some of our families of compounds did in fact absorb light at 340nm, masking any reduction that could be caused by the NADH assay itself, but again, this was not observed in our follow up studies. Other possibilities imply more human error, like the chance that follow-up assays were performed incorrectly, or that a true inhibitor that was identified in our screen was not chosen for future study simply because we made the decision to only pursue compounds that segregated into groups of common moieties. Thankfully, despite the lack of true informative data, we did gain benefit from the screen. We were able to use the information from the group that contained a common thiol moiety to eventually develop an inhibitor that appears much more potent than MTOB. The effort served as a catalyst for rational design of drug targets, instead of a roadblock that impeded further small molecule drug discovery for CtBP.

We were able to use the structure of MTOB to identify a more potent inhibitor of CtBP enzymatic function, HIPP. While this rational design approach proved to be effective, it is possible that other design paradigms can be developed to target CtBP activity. Fragment based drug design (FBDD) provides an alternative approach to high-throughput screening that can inform new molecular scaffold designs for inhibitors.<sup>89,90</sup> High throughput screening has been shown to be susceptible to providing false-positive hits. In many of these cases, this is due to



aggregation, where the drug molecule can sequester the protein of interest without actually interacting in a biochemically or physiologically relevant way. Also problematic is the molecular complexity of compounds in high throughput screens. Basically, the larger the molecule being studied, the more opportunities that molecule has to interact with the protein of interest. These interactions often may be non-specific to the function of interest, and may even involve unfavorable reactions. For example, a phenyl group of a molecule may increase inhibition potential, but an ester group on the same molecule may counteract or decrease binding affinity. In order to identify specific components that are important for inhibition, fragment based drug design has proved increasingly effective. This concept involves finding individual components that can interact with the protein, and then using these individual hits to assemble groups of molecules that contain several key moieties, with the hope that each component contributes additively to the inhibition potential.

FBDD involves its own considerations. A fragment is likely to bind CtBP protein more weakly than good molecular inhibitors with several components. As such, one must assure that the assay is sufficiently sensitive. The NADH disappearance assay used in the high throughput screen may be sufficient to detect useful components at high fragment concentration, but it is generally believed to be less sensitive than other techniques. One of the most commonly used techniques in FBDD is that of structure-activity relationship by nuclear magnetic resonance (SAR by NMR). Nuclear magnetic resonance allows observation of chemical shifts in the protein by addition of fragments. It can also identify the location of ligand binding among inhibitory components (the structure-activity relationship). Unfortunately, the screen requires large amounts of radioactive isotope labelled protein. The other commonly used technique with fragment screening is surface plasmon resonance (SPR). SPR involves immobilizing the protein



to a sensor chip and then running different fragments across the system. When a fragment binds the protein, it increases the mass near the surface of the sensor. One concern with SPR is the false discovery of nonspecific inhibitors. To distinguish these from true inhibitors, SPR experiments are often replicated with protein that involves mutations in the active site. Nonspecific inhibitors should bind nearly equally under these circumstances and can be removed from further validation. However, it is difficult to distinguish nonspecific inhibitors from allosteric ligands. The Grossman lab has generated several active-site mutants of CtBP (see **Chapter 4**), and the CtBP protein seems to be relatively stable, making SPR experiments an attractive alternative approach for future drug design.

FBDD is a viable possibility for rational design of inhibitors. We have developed tools that could aid in testing fragment based screening. In the pursuit of better inhibitors, the Grossman lab, in collaboration with Drs. William Royer, Keith Ellis, and Glen Kellogg, have developed docking simulations using the crystal structure of MTOB and HIPP-bound CtBP to predict good compounds for enzymatic and biological screening (further mentioned in **Chapter 3**). This, along with our NADH disappearance assay, may serve as a simple way to assemble novel CtBP-inhibitors using a fragment based approach to drug design.

#### Understanding the impact of HIPP inhibition on CtBP oncogenic function

Among the many questions raised from this study, perhaps one of the most pertinent is: what are the implications of HIPP's interaction with CtBP in a therapeutic context? Specifically, an issue is presented in using the enzymatic function of CtBP as a model to test drug compounds for utility against CtBP. One way in which an ideal drug target would function is to disassemble the CtBP2 complex, allowing for relieved expression of pro-apoptotic genes and other tumor



suppressors. Enzymatic disruption does not mirror disruption of an *in vivo* transcriptional complex. In fact, it is believed that CtBP's enzymatic function is a relic of its dehydrogenase lineage<sup>46</sup>, and so disruption of CtBP enzymatic activity of itself does not prove that a drug will be therapeutically relevant. Rather, inhibitors can disrupt enzymatic reactions at several steps. An inhibitor could bind to free enzyme, to an enzyme/coenzyme (NADH) complex, or, following the loss of the reduced form of the substrate, it could bind prior to the release of the oxidized coenzyme. It is important to determine whether drugs in reality disassemble the complex. If drugs bind to a ternary complex, they may have undesired consequences, namely by providing a proliferative advantage to cancer environments by preventing further disassembly of CtBP oligomers that are complexed to target genes. Similar molecules, and our own simulation data, suggested that the predominant mechanism of HIPP action was on an abortive ternary complex. In truth, it is likely that more than one mechanism plays a role. The design of the NADH kinetic assay favored this mechanism, as NADH was held in high excess, as was MTOB, compared to HIPP. With regard to access in the assay, a single CtBP molecule most likely first contacts an NADH molecule, forming the ordered reaction necessary to dimerize. Then, of molecules that can fit within the substrate-binding domain, MTOB was the most abundant (up to roughly 50fold excess under some conditions). HIPP would need to compete to find access to CtBP, and if NAD+ release was the rate limiting step, it would have the greatest opportunity to interact at that point. It is difficult to conjecture the state of CtBP molecules within cell systems, but we can perform some tests that will help us to understand inhibitor interaction both with enzymatic and cell based assays. Also, we can think of processes that would allow for us to promote complex disassembly. While the Discussion and Future Directions section of Chapter 3 examines different therapeutic strategies, one thought is worth mentioning here. It is proposed that if



inhibitor binding does function to stabilize CtBP transcriptional complexes, a potential solution could involve flushing the system or organism with MTOB, followed by treatment with a CtBP-specific inhibitor. In this way, an increase in MTOB or other substrate may push the complexes for disassembly, giving HIPP access to sequester CtBP monomers. Appreciable work would be necessary to optimize the timing of such a regimen, so that inhibitor would be added after loss of NAD+ in the enzymatic reaction, but before reassembly of other complexes.

We were able to develop a hypothesis stating that for enzymatic function and dimerization, CtBP must undergo an ordered addition reaction wherein NADH first binds, to allow domain closure. MTOB can bind regardless of the presence or absence of NADH, but premature binding impedes NADH binding and domain closure. HIPP was simulated to inhibit as part of an abortive ternary complex. In order to test the branches of our hypothesis, an ideal strategy would involve running similar enzymatic reactions as those described in the results, but with pre-steady state, or burst, kinetics. Pre-steady state interactions measure the rate of a reaction within the first couple of seconds. The purpose of pre-steady state kinetics is to help understand early processes, such as the order of addition of components in a reaction or a redox reaction, with a single turnover.<sup>91</sup> To this point, we have not been able to do pre-steady state kinetics, largely because we have lacked the instrumentation to do so. In order to capture order of addition, it is important to monitor a reaction before it can start moving to product. This requires that one both rapidly mix the reaction and nearly simultaneously read the results. With manual addition and mixing, along with our spectrophotometer, we cannot read a reaction in under 15 seconds, which is far too late for measuring the pre-steady state phase of the enzymatic reaction. With proper instrumentation we could use either NADH absorbance (A=340nm) or fluorescence (emission at 445nm) to study order of addition. By combining roughly equimolar



MTOB to enzyme, followed by the immediate addition of NADH, we should be able to see if MTOB inhibits NADH interaction with the protein. By then completing the experiment in reverse order of addition, it would be plausible to compare the experiments to determine whether CtBP requires an ordered reaction for proper NADH binding. Similar experiments can be carried out in the presence of HIPP.

With current resources available to the Grossman lab and colleagues, a number of experiments can be performed. First, by using crystal structures of MTOB or HIPP bound to CtBP without the cofactor NADH, we can determine if MTOB-binding by itself is capable of permitting a conformational change that closes or clamps CtBP. If it does not, our hypothesis that NADH is necessary for protein clamping gains more support. Also, while pilot experiments were not successful (data not shown), it should be possible to perform pre-incubation experiments with our enzymatic NADH disappearance assay that can give us answers similar to that of what is possible with pre-steady state kinetics. Incubating CtBP with equimolar amounts of MTOB and subsequent addition of NADH, in slight excess or equimolar concentrations as CtBP and MTOB will be compared to experiments that have either concurrent addition of NADH and MTOB, or NADH incubated first. Single absorbance measurements would be taken, instead of attempting to calculate initial velocity of the reaction. An alternative approach would consist of adding half the molar equivalent of MTOB or HIPP as CtBP2 protein and then perform order of addition experiments with an excess of NADH. In this way, one can ascertain similar types of data, but as a function of normal enzymatic function.

Other techniques are being pursued to learn more about the effect of inhibitors on oligomerization and transcriptional function. Early analytical ultracentrifugation experiments with purified protein have been performed in the presence of HIPP (data not shown). The



reference sample sedimentation, demonstrates that CtBP2 alone exists almost entirely as a dimer. With the addition of HIPP, we see the formation of a second peak showing monomer. This data is encouraging in that it suggests that HIPP can dissociate CtBP dimers. Experiments have yet to be performed to determine the sedimentation profile of CtBP and NADH in the presence of MTOB, to give a reference for the expected amount of dimer and monomer under normal conditions. Additionally, early work has been performed to set up co-immunoprecipitation (Co-IP) experiments involving two differently tagged CtBP2 vectors. With this assay we will be able to study whether addition of HIPP or other drugs disrupts interaction of two monomers in a cell based system. As will be seen in Chapter 3, luciferase experiments have been performed to look at whether CtBP-specific function has been alleviated in the presence of inhibitors. Finally, the Grossman lab is working to optimize chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays for CtBP targets so that we can directly assess whether CtBP-scaffolded transcriptional regulatory complexes are being dissociated from their promoter regions in the presence of inhibitors. From preliminary ChIP experiments performed by Dr. Seema Paliwal, formerly of the Grossman lab, we have shown that HIPP treatment displaces CtBP from the pro-apoptotic BH3-only gene, Bik (Fig. 2\_6). We endeavor to similarly validate the next generation of inhibitors that are discussed in Chapter 3.





**Figure 2\_6. 2-Hydroxyimino-3-phenyl-propionic acid (HIPP) displaces CtBP2 from the Bik promoter.** HCT116<sup>-/-</sup> cells were treated for 72 hours with 1 mM HIPP or DMSO (control), and CtBP2 association with the Bik promoter assessed by ChIP using control IgG or anti-CtBP 2 antibodies and formaldehyde crosslinked chromatin. DNA retained in the ChIPs was analyzed by PCR using either Bik promoter primers that amplify a fragment containing BKLF sites (Bik) or a fragment of DNA located 10 kb upstream of the Bik transcription start site (NS).



# Chapter 3: Manipulation of the HIPP backbone for future drug discovery **Rationale:**

In the 2010 study demonstrating MTOB as a proof of principle CtBP-inhibitor, the Grossman lab was able to characterize the effect of MTOB cytotoxicity through cell based assays and mouse experiments.<sup>70</sup> For example, in HCT116 p53 null human colorectal cancer cell lines, MTOB was capable of displacing CtBP from the Bik promoter to induce Bik expression and apoptosis when MTOB concentrations were greater than 4mM. This same cytotoxic result was observed in sister HCT116 cells with functional p53. Knockdown of Bik, followed by treatment with 4mM MTOB almost entirely rescued cells from death, indicating that CtBP-mediated Bik de-repression was the primary mechanism of cytotoxicity in this system. Similarly, the lab group of Dr. Kevin Gardner has researched MTOB usage as a therapy in breast cancer cell lines.<sup>30</sup> Looking at a panel of 30 genes that were found to be CtBP-regulated in MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells, they saw that 10mM MTOB de-repressed 40 and 46% of genes, respectively with 70% concordance of the specific genes involved. In other words 70% of the genes that were de-repressed were shared between cell lines. By ChIP analysis, they showed that MTOB treatment displaced CtBP from 67% of its binding sites to promoters, which explained >70% of the gene expression changes in MCF-7 cell lines. In MDA-MB-231 cell lines, there was a smaller difference; MTOB caused 30% loss of CtBP promoter occupancy with a 50% concordance to the de-repressed gene function. This difference was attributed to lower CtBP levels seen in MDA-MB-231 versus MCF-7 cells.

Encouraged by our findings with regard to the discovery of HIPP, we examined HIPP induced cytotoxicity compared to that of MTOB. The results of the previous chapter gave insight into the relevance of rational design for discovering more potent inhibitors, and we have



proven that we can indeed identify a better class of inhibitors with our enzymatic assay. But the previous experiments did not demonstrate any cytotoxic effects or observations on phenotypic differences within cancer systems. Going forward in our experimentation, special emphasis was made to find drugs that were strong inhibitors as indicated not only by enzymatic assay, but also by demonstrating cytotoxicity to cells. We worked to create an even better series of drugs by deconstructing the HIPP structure and by substituting additional moieties. Two compounds, containing chlorine substitutions on the third and fourth carbon, respectively, on the phenyl ring of HIPP were shown to be significantly better enzymatic inhibitors and more cytotoxicity and relief of repression on the promoter of the CtBP-targeted pro-apoptotic gene Bik. In parallel, we sought to find treatment regimens that could be used in combination with CtBP-inhibitors to enhance cell death.

#### **Materials and Methods:**

#### **Clonogenic Assays:**

100,000 MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells were plated per well and incubated overnight. Plates were treated with differing concentrations of drug or DMSO. Final DMSO concentration in each well was 0.5%. After 72 hours of drug treatment, media was aspirated, cells were rinsed in PBS, and fresh media was added. Cells were incubated a further 96 hours, and then plates were aspirated, rinsed in cold PBS, and cells were fixed in ice-cold methanol. Cells were then stained with a 0.05% crystal violet solution in PBS, rinsed and allowed to dry. n=3 independent replicates were performed.



## **Enzymatic Assays for CtBP Inhibitor Determination:**

Assays were performed similarly to NADH disappearance assays in **Chapter 2**. Briefly, purified CtBP2 in 50% glycerol was added to 150 μM NADH, 48 μM MTOB and various concentrations of inhibitor in buffer containing 25 mM HEPES, pH 7.1, 25 mM potassium chloride, and 1 mM DTT. The final concentration of CtBP2 was 40 μg/mL (986 nM) per reaction. Inhibitors dissolved in DMSO constituted 1% of the total volume. For compounds **4**–**13**, inhibitor concentrations ranging from 300 μM to 10 μM and a no-drug (DMSO) control were tested. For **9** and analogues **14a–m**, inhibitor concentrations of 5 μM, 2.5 μM, 1 μM, 500 nM, 100 nM, 50 nM, 10 nM, and 0 nM (DMSO control) were used. Three triplicate runs were performed for each inhibitor.

Reaction components were added to 96-well UV-Star Microplates (Greiner Bio-One) and upon addition of CtBP, reactions were mixed vigorously and immediately read by a Synergy H1 microplate reader (BioTek). Absorbance was recorded at A = 340 nm every 30 s for 15 min at 25 °C to measure CtBP2 dehydrogenase function (NADH, but not NAD+ absorbs light at 340 nm). Change in absorbance was plotted after 15 min and IC<sub>50</sub>concentrations were determined using Prism (Graphpad, Version 5.04).

#### **Bik Luciferase:**

HCT-116 p53<sup>-/-</sup> colorectal cancer cell (800 cells per well) were plated in a 96-well plate. After 24 hours, cells were transfected with pCDNA3-V5-CtBP2, the transcription factor pCDNA3-V5-KLF8, the firefly luciferase vector pGL3-Bik (promoter region -1710 to +203), and control luciferase plasmid expressing Renilla luciferase, pRL-TK, using Lipofectamine 2000 (Thermo Fisher). Following a further 24-hour incubation, vehicle (DMSO) or inhibitors (**9**, **14g**, **14h**, **14f**, **14k**, and **1**) were added to their final concentrations (1, 2, or 4 mM) and the expression



of luciferase reporter genes was determined using the Dual Luciferase assay (Promega). For analysis, firefly expression was normalized to Renilla control, and values were reported as a proportion of the luciferase expression of the vehicle (DMSO) control. Statistical analyses were determined by One-way ANOVA using a Tukey's post-test using a statistical package by Navenda Vasada (statistica.mooo.com), comparing 2mM, 4mM and no drug concentrations. Data points display the average of three independent experiments, and error bars represent standard deviation.

#### MTT Cell Viability Assays:

To measure cell viability with new inhibitors, HCT-116 p53<sup>-/-</sup> colorectal cancer cell (~1,000 cells) in 100  $\mu$ L media were plated in a 96 well plate. After a 24 hour incubation, inhibitors in DMSO were further diluted in NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (0.8% diluted DMSO final volume/well) and added to plates at 4, 2, 1, and 0.5mM concentrations. 72 hours after addition of inhibitor, 20  $\mu$ L of MTT solution (Alfa Aesar) was added to each well and cells were incubated a further 4 hours. Media was then aspirated and the MTT metabolic product formazan was resuspended in 200  $\mu$ L DMSO. Optical density was measured at 560 nm (subtracting background at 670 nm) using a microplate reader and IC<sub>50</sub> concentrations were determined using Prism (Graphpad, Version 5.04).

For combination experiments with 4-Cl HIPP/3-Cl HIPP and MTOB, assays were performed as above, with concentrations as specified in the figure legend. For the various cell lines used to determine HIPP IC50, experiments were performed similarly, varying initial cell counts according to growth rate and size to assure that no treatment cells were not confluent 72 hours post drug treatment. These assays contained contributions from various members of the Grossman lab.



## **Results:**

## **HIPP** cytotoxicity

Since HIPP was shown to be a significant inhibitor of CtBP, we endeavored to determine whether it caused cytotoxicity with equal potency to MTOB. HIPP was evaluated at various concentrations to generate cytotoxic EC50 values for several cell lines (**Fig. 3\_1A**). Interestingly, cytotoxicity coordinated with the cell types involved. Ovarian and colon carcinoma cell lines were most susceptible to HIPP treatment, whereas breast cancer and sarcomas were most resistant to the drug. Of note, the EC50 of HIPP in HCT116 p53<sup>-/-</sup> cells was similar to that seen with MTOB<sup>70</sup>. Further investigation by clonogenic formation assay shows that MTOB exhibited a slightly more potent effect long term (**Fig. 3\_1,B-C**). Anecdotally it has been observed that MTOB does not show demonstrable levels of cell death until later points in time, but it appears to be more cytotoxic in long-term assays.

### Discovery of more potent inhibitors of HIPP through analogue design

While HIPP was a more powerful inhibitor than MTOB, it did not demonstrate a more potent effect in cell-based assays. We therefore worked to design a better class of inhibitor that was also significantly more cytotoxic to cells through CtBP-specific avenues. In order to do so, different ketone-isosteres were produced using the backbone structure of phenylpyruvate (**Fig. 3\_2A**). This was done to determine whether the imine of HIPP produced the most specificity for enzymatic interaction, and the moiety was replaced with an  $\alpha$ -thioketone, acrylic acid, malonic acid, amide, and hydrazone (**Fig. 3\_2A**, compounds 4-8, in order). Interestingly, none of these compounds, with the exception of HIPP, and to a weaker degree phenylpyruvate, showed enzymatic inhibition through an NADH disappearance reaction (**Fig. 3\_2C**).



A)												
Table 1. HIPP IC50 cytotoxicity among several cell lines												
Cell Line:	CAOV-3	SK-OV-3	HCT116, p53 <sup>-/-</sup>	T98G	MDA-MB- 231	MCF-7	SaOS	U2OS				
Cancer Type:	Ovarian	Ovarian	Colon	Glioblastoma	Breast	Breast	Sarcoma	Sarcoma				
HIPP IC50 (mM):	0.9	2.7	4.1	4.2	4.3	6.1	6.6	7.4				
B) DMSO Con. 1mM 2mM C) Control 1mM 2mM												

8mM

3mM 4mM HIPP 3mM 4mM MTOB

8mM

**Figure 3\_1 HIPP cytotoxicity in multiple cancer cell lines A)** Healthy cell viability was assessed at several drug concentrations and analyzed after 72 hours by MTT assay. IC50 was measured using nonlinear regression analysis by Graphpad Prism. Work was contributed be several members of the Grossman lab. Clonogenic assay involved addition of drug for 72 hours, followed by 96 hours no treatment. Representative results are shown for HIPP **B)** and MTOB **C)**.





**Figure 3\_2. Replacement of the HIPP imine and deconstruction analogues of phenylpyruvate to identify key components contributing to enzymatic inhibition.** Compounds were either synthesized by Dr. Sudha Korwar and Dr. Keith Ellis or purchased for testing. **A)** The ketone of phenylpyruvate was substituted with other moieties to look for isosteres that could increase inhibition potential. **B)** Phenylpyruvate was further deconstructed to identify which components were imperative for inhibition. **C)** Enzymatic IC50s were calculated with an upper limit of 300µM drug. All assays were performed in duplicate, with triplicate measures.



Using a similar approach, deconstruction analogues of phenylpyruvate were also designed. These included removing the phenyl ring (pyruvate), the ketone (hydrocinnamic acid), the carboxylic acid (1-phenylpropan-2-one), and shortening the carbon chain by removing the methylene spacer between the phenyl ring and the  $\alpha$ -keto acid (**Fig. 3\_2B** compounds 10-13, in order). Similar to the ketone replacement compounds, deconstruction of phenylpyruvate eliminated inhibition activity. Therefore, of the compounds that we tested, HIPP was the most potent inhibitor, and each moiety studied, including the phenyl ring and imine, appear to be important for optimized CtBP inhibition.

Knowing that HIPP provides the best basic structure for inhibitor design, a series of compounds was designed, creating substitutions along the aromatic ring. These compounds were validated as potential inhibitors using docking simulations with the CtBP-HIPP crystal structure (performed by Dr. Glen Kellogg), and 13 of the best, based off HINT scoring function, an algorithm which correlates with free energy of binding,<sup>92</sup> were synthesized. These various substitutions are found in **Figure 3\_3**. The number preceding each substitution indicates to which carbon of the phenyl ring it was attached.

We evaluated these compounds using NADH disappearance assays to test for enzymatic inhibition and MTT assays to assess for differences in cell viability in the presence of drugs. A summary of these results are found in **Table 1** and examples showing raw data values with some of our best inhibitors are found in **Figure 3\_4,A-C**. Several general characteristics can be observed from these new compounds. Of note, substitutions on carbon C-2 are poor inhibitors in enzymatic assays, with the best of these, 2-Cl HIPP, inhibiting at a concentration of 7.65  $\mu$ M. By comparison the best inhibitors, 3-Cl HIPP and 4-Cl HIPP have enzymatic IC50's of 0.17 and 0.18  $\mu$ M respectively. One derivative, 2-OMe HIPP, was found to be incapable of inhibiting



CtBP enzymatic function, with an IC50 beyond the upper limits of the assay. However, the compound was comparatively very cytotoxic in HCT116 p53<sup>-/-</sup> cells, with a cellular EC50 of 1.24 mM. 3-OH and 4-OH HIPP both had cellular EC50's extending beyond the upper limit of ranges tested (10mM). Together, we chose those compounds that were both more cytotoxic and better inhibitors (**Fig. 3\_4D**) as potential lead compounds for further analysis. Of those compounds evaluated, 3-Cl HIPP and 4-Cl HIPP were the two compounds that met this criteria (see **Table 1**), with cellular EC50 values of 0.85 and 1.74mM.

We sought to understand the differences between cell viability and enzymatic IC50. The cLogP values (**Table 1**), which measure the difference in solubility between octanol and water, was found to be less than 3 for each compound. This value indicates they are likely cell permeable, and meet the threshold for suggested lead compounds in drug design.<sup>93</sup> Additionally, Dr. Sudha Korwar performed a high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) experiment for HIPP, 3-Cl HIPP, and 4-Cl HIPP for a period of 3 days to monitor degradation of the compounds. After 72 hours no degradation was observed, suggesting that the compounds were not hydrolyzed in aqueous conditions.

While the two new lead compounds, 3-Cl and 4-Cl HIPP demonstrate a discrepancy between viability and inhibition, they still show 4-fold higher cytotoxicity than either HIPP or MTOB. To assess whether this decrease in cell viability may be due to CtBP inhibition, we performed Bik luciferase experiments in HCT116, p53<sup>-/-</sup> cell lines. Bik is a gene that is normally repressed by CtBP and encodes a BH3-only pro-apoptotic protein that, when expressed, induces apoptosis through the caspase-9 mitochondrial system.<sup>56</sup> CtBP downregulation leads to Bik expression. The subsequent Bik-induced cell death is a significant source of CtBP-mediated apoptosis.<sup>57</sup> In this experiment, the Bik promoter was attached to a firefly luciferase gene. We





**Figure 3\_3. Analogues of HIPP designed to explore structure-activity relationship.** Substituents were placed within the phenyl ring of HIPP (R-). The numbers preceding each substitution specify onto which carbon of the phenyl ring it is placed.

Compound	Substituent	HINT score	CtBP IC <sub>50</sub> ª (µM)	Cellular IC <sub>50</sub> <sup>a</sup> (mM)	C Log P
9	Н	963	0.24 (0.21, 0.27)	4.12 (2.96, 5.73)	1.36
14a	4-Me	946	0.32 (0.29, 0.37)	3.28 (2.51, 4.28)	1.86
14b	3-Me	756	0.48 (0.43, 0.54)	3.26 (2.71, 3.93)	1.86
14c	2-Me	1078	8.73 (6.19, 12.29	0.23 (0.16, 0.35)	1.81
14d	4-OMe	925	2.16 (1.19, 3.90)	1.93 (1.65, 2.25)	1.28
14e	3-OMe	919	0.88 (0.81, 0.97)	5.60 (3.56, 8.84)	1.28
14f	2-OMe	858	>100	1.24 (1.02, 1.51)	1.28
14g	4-CI	861	0.18 (0.16, 0.20)	1.74 (1.47, 2.06)	2.07
14h	3-CI	844	0.17 (0.15, 0.19)	0.85 (0.76, 0.96)	2.07
14i	2-CI	974	7.65 (5.93, 9.86)	2.37 (1.83, 3.08)	2.07
14j	4-OH	767	7.34 (5.26, 10.25)	>10	0.69
14k	3-OH	1003	0.72 (0.67, 0.78)	>10	0.69
141	4-F	n.d. <sup>b</sup>	0.30 (0.27, 0.33)	3.97 (3.52, 4.49)	1.50
14m	4-CN	574	0.90 (0.82, 0.98)	1.10 (0.81, 1.49)	0.79
MTOB (1)	_	n.d. <sup>b</sup>	n.d. <sup>b</sup>	4.0°	-0.34

 Data represents the averages with 95% confidence intervals shown in parentheses of three independent experiments.

b n.d. = not determined.

**Table 1. Inhibition of HIPP analogues by enzymatic reaction and cell viability in HCT-116 p53-/- colon cancer cells, along with a measure of hydrophilicity, cLogP.** The cellular IC50 for MTOB was determined in reference 68.








expect that CtBP-specific inhibitors will derepress the Bik promoter, and better inhibitor function will be associated with higher Bik-luciferase levels. In order to capture Bik expression without inducing cell death, we performed experiments 24 hours after drug addition, using a range of concentrations that incorporate the prescribed EC50 cytotoxicity values generated from a 72 hour time point.

The Bik luciferase experiment was performed with 0, 0.1, 0.2, 0.5, 1, 2, and 4mM drug concentrations. 3-OH HIPP was used as a negative control, as it was shown to inhibit CtBP in enzymatic assays, but was not cytotoxic at the levels tested in this assay (**Fig. 3\_5A**). 2-OMe HIPP was also used as a control that exhibits cytotoxicity, but is not an inhibitor of CtBP. 2-OMe HIPP, 3-Cl HIPP, and 4-Cl HIPP luciferase activity could not be calculated at 4mM concentrations due to significant cell death. After 24 hours with 2mM drug concentration, both 3-Cl HIPP and 4-Cl HIPP expressed significantly higher Bik concentrations than any other drugs at either 2mM or 4mM concentration (p<0.01, **Fig. 3\_5B**). The fold change over the no-drug control for Bik luciferase was as follows: 3-Cl HIPP had a 1.32-fold increase at 1mM and a 2.9-fold increase at 2mM; 4-Cl HIPP had a maximum fold induction of 1.8 fold at 4mM concentrations. MTOB showed only marginal increases in Bik luciferase expression over the no-drug control.

It is important to note the results of our controls. 2-OMe HIPP, at the highest dose tested that did not significantly kill cells, showed only a modest 1.45-fold induction of Bik promoter activity. This was not found to be statistically significant versus the no-drug control. 3-OH HIPP showed an increase in luciferase expression at 4mM concentrations (1.6-fold); however, it was likewise not statistically significant.



Together, this luciferase data fits with our hypothesis and correlates strongly with the enzymatic inhibition profiles that were generated. Neither 3-OH HIPP nor 2-OMe HIPP showed significant luciferase expression, even though 2-OMe HIPP induced cell death at the highest levels measured. Due to the lack of enzymatic CtBP inhibition or Bik luciferase expression, it is hypothesized that 2-OMe HIPP induces cell cytotoxicity through a CtBP-independent mechanism, that has yet to be investigated. 3-Cl HIPP and 4-Cl HIPP had the highest luciferase expression, and the only expression that was statistically significant. This result suggests that this increased cytotoxicity is due, at least in part, to CtBP inhibition. While these compounds do not reach cytotoxic potentials that can be considered therapeutically efficacious, the ability to further improve upon HIPP is encouraging and suggests that we have a viable rationale for future drug design.





Figure 3\_5. Treatment with drugs shows variable expression of the CtBP-repressed Bik promoter in luciferase assays. A) An adaptation from Fig. 13D showing the molecules carried forward to luciferase expression. Points intersecting the orange axis represent IC50 outside the range of the assay. 3-OH HIPP is a CtBP specific, but non-cytotoxic inhibitor. 2-OMe HIPP is cytotoxic, but not CtBP specific. B) The pro-apoptotic Bik-promoter was fused to firefly luciferase and measured following 24 hours of drug treatment in HCT116, p53-/- transfected cells. Values were normalized to a renilla luciferase internal control and a 0.5% DMSO, no drug control, was set to 1. 2-OMe HIPP, 3-Cl HIPP, and 4-Cl HIPP were cytotoxic at 4mm concentration and luciferase expression could not be determined. \*\* = p <0.01 vs all other 2mM and 4mM drug concentrations, by Tukey's post-test following One-Way ANOVA. No other statistical significance was found between other groups at 2mM, 4mM concentrations or versus the no-drug control.



## Combination experiments for more potent therapeutic strategies:

As new drugs were developed, we made efforts to test compounds in combination with other therapeutics. One of the first experiments performed was with MTOB in conjunction with chemotherapeutic reagents. This extended from earlier published experiments with MTOB and cisplatin in which cisplatin and MTOB combined to exhibit an additive effect.<sup>70</sup> Cisplatin functions by entering cells and creating reactive oxygen species.<sup>94</sup> It also intercalates with purine residues on DNA to induce DNA damage and halt cell cycle progression. Oxaliplatin is similar in structure, but is characterized by rapid displacement of an oxalate group that causes DNA damage.<sup>95</sup> It can create inter-strand crosslinks similar to cisplatin, but the major mechanism of action is believed to be caused by intra-strand reactions between guanines, or occasionally guanine-adenine interactions. Gemcitabine, on the other hand is considered an antimetabolite. A di-phosphorylated form of the molecule limits a cell's deoxyribonucleotide (dNTP) pool by inhibiting a molecule, RRM1, that is necessary for nucleoside recycling. It further intercalates into elongating DNA, blocking base-excision repair and inducing downstream apoptosis.<sup>96</sup>

Using Clone-A colon cancer cells, we performed similar experiments with oxaliplatin and gemcitabine as to those done with cisplatin, by varying MTOB concentration while keeping the concentration of chemotherapy constant (**Fig. 3\_6**). We saw roughly 50% cell death with 4mM MTOB after 72 hours, while gemcitabine was effective in reducing cell viability to about 30% with 500nM drug. Oxaliplatin showed roughly 70% viability with a  $2\mu$ M concentration. Combinations failed to show an additive or synergistic effect. In fact, addition of MTOB to gemcitabine increases the cell viability above that of gemcitabine treatment alone. Low levels of MTOB with oxaliplatin seem to function similarly. At the highest concentration of MTOB,





**Figure 3\_6. Combination therapies using chemotherapeutic agents with MTOB to measure cell viability.** Using Clone-A cells, we performed MTS assay, in the presence of DMSO control, MTOB alone, gemcitabine or oxaliplatin alone, or MTOB and gemcitabine/oxaliplatin together 72 hours post inoculation. n=2 independent biological replicates with triplicate measures.



oxaliplatin did not show a greater collaborative effect than the amount of cell death seen alone with MTOB at 4mM drug concentration. These results differed from expectations, and may be attributed to a couple of factors. For one, the original cisplatin experiments used HCT116 colorectal cells, instead of Clone-A cells and so results cannot be compared directly. Also, cisplatin has been indicated to activate HIPK2, a kinase that can phosphorylate CtBP serine residue S428 of CtBP1.<sup>29,61,62</sup> The phosphorylation event targets CtBP to proteasomal degradation. This may provide cisplatin an advantage over other chemotherapeutics by also indirectly targeting CtBP-mediated degradation. Regardless, under these conditions, MTOB does not complement gemcitabine or oxaliplatin as a treatment strategy in this cell type.

Despite the lack of synergy or additive effects between MTOB and chemotherapeutic agents in cell culture systems, Dr. Barur Rajeshkumar, a former postdoc of Dr. Grossman at the University of Massachusetts Medical School, performed preliminary mouse experiments with HIPP. He first determined the maximum tolerated dose to be 250mg/kg. Unlike MTOB, which is highly tolerated in mice in doses exceeding 750mg/kg, HIPP does exhibit lethality. Taking this understanding forward, he took two sets of *Nu/Nu* mice and injected them with either 3 x 10<sup>6</sup> Clone-A or HCT116, p53<sup>-/-</sup> colon cancer cells. After a week, the mice were started on a regimen of IP injections with PBS, 250mg/kg gemcitabine, 50mg/kg oxaliplatin, 250mg/kg HIPP, or combinations of chemotherapy and HIPP (250mg/kg each of gemcitabine and HIPP, or 50mg/kg of oxaliplatin with 250mg/kg HIPP), once a week for a total of 8 weeks. After this time, mice were sacrificed and tumor volume was measured. In mice xenografted with Clone-A cells (**Fig. 3\_7A**), HIPP and gemcitabine had a somewhat additive effect, with the combination of treatments forming significantly smaller tumors than PBS treated mice. Oxaliplatin and HIPP co-treated mice, by contrast, did not see any benefit in the relief of tumor





# Figure 3\_7. Combination therapies to reduce tumor burden in immunodeficient mice.

Nu/Nu mice were inoculated with  $3*10^6$  Clone-A colon cancer cells **A**) or HCT116 human colorectal cancer cells **B**). After 1 week, they were treated weekly by intraperitoneal injection (IP) with either 250mg/kg PBS, oxaliplatin, gemcitabine, HIPP, or combination of HIPP and chemotherapy. After 8 weeks, mice were sacrificed and tumor weight was measured. n=14 mice began treatment for each group. \*=p<0.05 vs PBS control; \*\*=p<0.01 vs PBS control; \*\*\*=p<0.01 vs all other treatments by Tukey's post-test.



burden versus oxaliplatin treatment alone. Mice xenografted with HCT116 cells illustrated a more substantial phenotype (Fig. 3\_7B). Oxaliplatin and gemcitabine alone were capable of lowering tumor weight compared to a PBS control. Oxaliplatin in combination with HIPP showed a slight combined effect in decreasing tumor weight, but it was not significantly more than oxaliplatin alone. Gemcitabine and HIPP treatments, however, combined to show an apparently synergistic effect. Many mice did not have tumors that could be weighed by the end of the treatment and the average weight of tumors in this group was 0.38 grams. Gemcitabine treated mice had an average tumor weight of 3.95g and HIPP treated mice had an average of 5.49g. PBS treated mice carried tumor burdens weighing 6.80g. Subtracting the difference in weight between gemcitabine-only treated mice and HIPP-only treated mice, compared to PBS controls, we see a combined difference in tumor weight of 4.16g. The combination therapy showed a difference in weight of 6.42g versus PBS controls. This suggests that indeed, there is a synergistic effect seen with these two drugs combined. Heartened by these results, mouse studies are being performed using 4-Cl HIPP. The first studies will evaluate the maximum tolerated dose of 4-Cl HIPP before assessing its tumor anti-proliferative effect as a therapy, both alone, and in combination with chemotherapeutics and other drugs.

Another avenue for combination therapies could involve using two drugs that target the same basic pathway in the hopes of seeing a more complete ablation of that pathway's phenotype. CtBPs are known to incorporate a number of different transcriptional regulators to control gene expression. One group of proteins that CtBP recruits is histone deacetylases, or HDACs. As the name implies, HDACs remove acetyl groups from histones, which tightens DNA wrapping along the histone, making DNA much less accessible to transcriptional



machinery. Inhibitors have been developed to target aberrant de-acetylation. One inhibitor in particular, suberic bishydroxamate (SBHA) is an inhibitor that targets cancer systems, through mediating the upregulation of Bcl-2 family proapoptotic proteins, such as Bim, Bax, and Bak<sup>97</sup>. CtBP has also been shown to repress Bax and other Bcl-only proapoptotic genes<sup>29,53</sup>. We therefore hypothesized that inhibitors for both of these protein families would target a similar pathway. If so, we could account for insufficient repression of one set of molecules by repression of the other to create an additive effect. To test this idea, we performed an MTT cell viability assay, as before, in H1299 cells (**Fig. 3\_8**). We saw the effect of MTOB or SBHA alone, or in tandem. The results fail to show a clear additive effect with concentrations of MTOB as high as 1mM and SBHA as high as 30µM. Mild levels of additive effects can be seen with lower concentrations of SBHA and 1mM MTOB, but the results are very subtle. One interpretation of this result is that one inhibitor is sufficient to target the Bcl-2 family pro-apoptotic gene pathway; the addition of another inhibitor is redundant, but does not enhance targeting. The result differs from expectations, but is nevertheless informative.

Lastly, we sought to incorporate our newest inhibitor leads, 3-Cl HIPP and 4-Cl HIPP in combination therapies. We specifically hypothesized that MTOB could be used in conjunction with these inhibitors to take advantage of the enzymatic function of CtBP. We postulated that at high levels, MTOB would be able to enforce a dehydrogenase reaction between itself and NADH, which would then cause release of MTHB and NAD+, allowing disassembly of CtBP complexes. Concurrently flushing the cells with our HIPP analogues would allow binding to the CtBP monomeric state with much higher affinity than MTOB alone before CtBP had the opportunity to reform complexes. As mentioned previously, HIPP has a ~1000-fold higher





**Figure 3\_8.** Combination therapies of MTOB with the HDAC inhibitor Suberohydroxamic Acid (SBHA). Cell viability was determined in H1299 lung cancer cell lines by drugging cells that had been plated overnight. After 72 hours drug treatment, viability was measured by MTS assay. Cells were treated with MTOB alone, SBHA, or in combination to test for additive or synergistic effects. A second control was included to illustrate that differences were not due to plate effects. Absorbance was measured at A=490nm and is a measure of living cells.



affinity than MTOB (MTOB Kd=2.96mM, HIPP Kd=1.30µM), and although Kd had not been specifically measured for 3-Cl HIPP and 4-Cl HIPP, we assumed that they would have similar affinities based off their more inhibitive enzymatic IC50 values. Our assay alone cannot prove the hypothesis that MTOB and HIPP combination would induce monomeric CtBP isolation followed by monomeric sequestration, but significant data with MTOB and HIPP, would provide the impetus for further investigation.

The results of the screen are seen in Figure 3\_9A for 4-Cl HIPP and Figure 3\_9B for 3-Cl HIPP. Note that the y-axis measures living cell viability. Briefly, HCT116 cell lines were again propagated and plated for MTT assay. Both MTOB and HIPP derivative drugs were varied across a panel of concentrations and in different combinations, and the plates were incubated for 72 hours before being read by MTT assay. 3-Cl or 4-Cl HIPP concentrations were 0, 0.01, 0.05, 0.1, 0.5, and 1mM. MTOB concentrations were 0, 0.1, 0.5, 1, and 2mM. For the sake of clarity, only 0mM (orange bars) and 1mM (grey bars) MTOB concentrations are shown. For lower concentrations of MTOB no significant effect was seen. But with a concentration as low as 1mM MTOB, there was a significant difference seen with combination therapy with 50µM 4-Cl HIPP compared to 4-Cl HIPP alone (Fig. 3 9A, p=0.03 by one-sided paired t-test). Similarly, 1µM 4-Cl HIPP with 1mM MTOB trended toward significance (p=0.069). It is likely that further investigation will yield more power to understand the significance of this observation, as the data only represents two independent replicates, each measured with triplicate wells. However, it should be noted that neither concentration alone is sufficient to cause cell death. In HCT116 cells, the IC50 for MTOB treatment is over 4mM. In the 0mM MTOB control for 50µM 4-Cl HIPP shows no decrease in cell survival. Thus, we see significant cell



death using a roughly 4-fold lower concentration of MTOB and a 3-fold lower concentration of 4-Cl HIPP than what has been necessary to generate 50% cell cytotoxicity alone.

Interestingly, this theme is not observed for 3-Cl HIPP (**Fig. 3\_9B**). More work is required to: first, assure the validity of this data through further replication; second, tease apart the conditions in which combination therapy with MTOB may be useful so that it can be translated to an *in vivo* system; and third, perform assays that will be informative as to whether this treatment regimen functions according to the hypothesized mechanism. There remains the possibility that this treatment may work by some hitherto unknown pathway. The discussion investigates potential assays that can interrogate these goals. Altogether this research has allowed us to branch substantially from looking at a single therapy regimen for drug treatment and continued drug discovery.





■ 0mM MTOB ■ 1mM MTOB



**Figure 3\_9. Combination therapy of 4-Cl and 3-Cl HIPP analogues with MTOB.** MTT assay in HCT 116 p53-/- cell lines, treated with varying concentrations of either 4-Cl HIPP **A**) or 3-Cl HIPP **B**) and MTOB for 72 hours. n=2 independent replicates of 3 wells each. \*=p<0.05 by one-sided paired t-test.



# **Discussion and Future Directions:**

#### Discovery and screening of more potent inhibitors based on the structure of HIPP

Through a detailed interrogation of the components of HIPP and phenylpyruvate, we discovered which regions are necessary for inhibition, and determined that the branch length, phenyl ring, carboxylic acid and imine moieties all contribute toward inhibitor function. Additionally, we were able to discover two drugs, 3-Cl HIPP and 4-Cl HIPP that are more enzymatically inhibitory (IC50: 0.17µM and 0.18µM, respectively) than HIPP (0.24µM) and that, for the first time with a substrate-specific CtBP inhibitor, reached cytotoxic levels bordering on micromolar concentrations. (3-Cl HIPP: 0.85mM; 4-Cl HIPP: 1.74mM; HIPP: 4.12mM). Additionally, we were able to show this cytotoxicity likely occurs in part through de-repressing CtBP transcriptional function. By luciferase assay, it was observed that HIPP, 3-Cl HIPP, and 4-Cl HIPP each had the highest increase in Bik luciferase function, correlating with the combination of cytotoxicity and inhibition associated with each. 3-Cl HIPP and 4-Cl HIPPmediated bik-luciferase expression was significantly elevated at a level nearly three-fold higher than controls. Importantly, our controls functioned as hypothesized. A cytotoxic, but not CtBPspecific, drug was able to kill cells at the highest concentration (4mM), but did so without increasing Bik luciferase expression. Second, a CtBP inhibitor that was not cytotoxic, 3-OH HIPP, did not show cytotoxicity and did not show significantly increased Bik levels. MTOB likewise did not induce apoptosis (typical MTOB-mediated apoptosis does not occur before 48hours), and as such, Bik luciferase levels were also low. This provides some weight to the merit of the luciferase assay, showing in this instance that nonspecific cell death does not raise Bik. Further, Bik expression is not elevated with CtBP-specific drug targets, except at



concentrations and under conditions that begin to promote apoptosis. This experiment raises new questions and new avenues for future research.

An example is seen with the newest batch of compounds. 3-OH HIPP was found to be a good inhibitor of CtBP function but was not found to exhibit significant cytotoxicity. This finding is interesting and it begs the question as to what is occurring during drug treatment. Looking at the cLogP value shown in Table 1, it appears that the compound is capable of permeating the cell membrane. One may then envision different scenarios: first, 3-OH HIPP could be metabolized within the cell or elsewhere localized. Second, 3-OH HIPP could be repressing CtBP2, but this repression is not sufficient to cause cell cytotoxicity. Accepting the possibility of this second option, one would infer then that 3-Cl HIPP and 4-Cl HIPP are CtBPspecific, but exhibit cytotoxicity through a number of different pathways. Based off luciferase data, these two molecules relieve Bik expression with concentrations that start to exude a cytotoxic effect. This leads us to believe that in large part the cytotoxicity is due to relief of CtBP expression. However, this does not eliminate off-target effects. One way to resolve this issue is to test localization of 3-OH HIPP. This could be performed by creating a radio-isotope labeled form of 3-OH HIPP and looking at localization of the molecule using autoradiography or electron microscopy. Outside of this, we can perform HPLC experiments as has been done for our lead HIPP analogues to look for loss of the hydroxyl group in water. We can also simply investigate whether any inhibition is seen in cell culture experiments, by looking at a profile of CtBP-regulated genes in the presence of 3-OH HIPP and other inhibitors.

## Lessons learned from other CtBP-targeted therapies

Other laboratories have similarly seen the clinical relevance of CtBP as a therapeutic target and have begun to develop inhibitors by different mechanisms. Currently there are two



other compounds that have been reported for CtBP, and they were each found in very different ways. The first inhibitor was discovered by a reverse two-hybrid bacterial screen. They created fusion genes that were required for survival in selection media. These genes were only functional when CtBP dimerized. Through this screen, they looked for peptides that could impede cell growth as an indication of CtBP-dimer disruption. In this way a cyclic peptide was discovered that inhibits CtBP1 heterodimerization to CtBP2.98 They verified this abrogation of dimerization by using an approach involving the Cos-7 cell line. Cos-7 cells are a unique cell line of fibroblast-like monkey kidney tissue that have a propensity to show a dependence of CtBP1 on CtBP2 for nuclear entry, due to the fact that CtBP2, but not CtBP1, has a nuclear localization signal. CtBP1 must heterodimerize with CtBP2 or it is constrained to the cytoplasm in over 60% of cells.<sup>35</sup> With transfection of a fluorescently labeled CtBP1 plasmid, one can see localization in the presence or absence of inhibitor. The peptide further induced micronuclei formation and caused significant cell cytotoxicity, as measured by colony formation assay at 50 µM concentration. The Cos-7 approach to showing disruption of dimerization is a clever cellbased assay, and the results seem promising for the peptide, but more work needs to be done. For example, this particular peptide has not been verified to be CtBP-specific, especially within cell-based cytotoxicity assays. Also, no work has been done yet to show relevance in *in vivo* models.

A third inhibitor of CtBP was identified using a process called an AlphaScreen that monitored the disruption of CtBP binding to E1A.<sup>99</sup> A hit was confirmed with fluorescence polarization, by using a fluorescein-labeled 14-mer E1A peptide to monitor the direct interaction between the two molecules. Through this process, a small molecule inhibitor was discovered that had weak substrate potential. It is not believed that it disrupts substrate binding, because in



their experiments MTOB addition did not impede E1A binding. Importantly, however, their inhibitor did alleviate repression of E-cadherin, a CtBP-regulated gene, by luciferase assay. One concern is that in this particular instance their CtBP inhibitor, NSC95397, has also been shown to suppress inflammation and to induce apoptosis by directly inhibiting other molecules including kinase phosphatase, MKP-1, Ca(2+)-binding protein, S100A4, kinase AKT, and several other proteins.<sup>100-103</sup> The observation that this compound interferes with several specific pathways outside CtBP-interaction with binding partners prevents it from being carried forward as a targeted therapy. The study suggests that while assessing compounds for their ability to disrupt CtBP interaction with its binding partners is informative, it may not be the optimal first-tier screening assay.

Each of the different techniques for drug discovery has key advantages and potentially substantial drawbacks. Our insistence in using features that have hitherto been only found in CtBP-family proteins provides an advantage in helping to ensure that therapies can minimize offtarget effects. Furthermore, it is critical that we work to validate compounds for CtBP-specific loss of viability.

#### Next generation targeting strategies

3-Cl HIPP and 4-Cl HIPP represent the best current small molecule compounds capable of disrupting CtBP activity. But for them to be therapeutically relevant, we would hope to decrease the concentration of the effective dose (the EC50 in MTT and colony formation assay) by orders of magnitude to low micromolar concentrations, thus improving the therapeutic index. Work is ongoing to both find better inhibitors using our rational design strategy and by studying combination therapies.



The Grossman lab has formed a collaboration with Dr. William Royer that allows us to use crystallographic research in order to visualize binding of potentially relevant inhibitors. When designing drugs with better binding affinity than these HIPP derivatives, it is important to note the space within the substrate-binding cleft<sup>81</sup>. To more fully displace the water network in HIPP (**Fig. 2\_3G**) it may be possible to replace the imine (N-OH) and carboxylic acid moieties with larger groups that can increase bulkiness. There is still opportunity to do this, as our experiments did not directly probe larger moieties on the imine residue, and there was not an attempt to replace the hydroxyl of the carboxylic acid using the HIPP backbone. The intended end result of this would be total displacement of the water network which could help further increase CtBP-specificity.

When testing new compounds, we have shown that we have the basic schematic for a screening pipeline. CtBP enzymatic reactions formulate the first set of tests. As the second tier of screening, it would be useful to compare potential compounds using different dehydrogenases (e.g. lactate dehydrogenase), as was performed with the Cl-HIPP analogues,<sup>104</sup> to ensure that candidate inhibitors do not inhibit similar dehydrogenases. Third, determining a cytotoxic IC50 is important to ensure the compound has clinical utility. Finally, it is important to determine CtBP-specificity, through luciferase assays and rescue experiments. While a sufficient rescue experiment has not been shown thus far, preliminary results of one strategy are presented in Chapter 4.

In addition to these initial screening tests, it will be useful to incorporate some of the assays that have been used to discover the other currently hypothesized CtBP-therapeutics. Each of these assays fills in a small piece of the puzzle. Does our inhibitor prevent dimerization? This can be assessed by immunofluorescence with the Cos-7 cell line and a GFP-tagged CtBP1



plasmid, showing the effect of CtBP2 heterodimerization by localization to the nucleus. Does a new inhibitor prevent CtBP from binding to a transcription factor, or other portion of its complex? A fluorescence polarization experiment could help to answer that question. Coupled with classical biologic techniques, such as immunoprecipitation, qPCR, and ChIP, we can identify the basic information needed to confidently take next generation inhibitors to mouse studies and further.

With good candidate inhibitors, we can start to test combination therapies. While HDAC inhibitor combination experiments were not demonstrated to be an effective strategy, there are several more avenues that can be pursued. One possible paradigm for combination therapy involves disrupting CtBP activity through metabolic regulation. We have previously discussed that CtBPs function as redox sensors, and that they have greater than 100-fold affinity for NADH over NAD+. The reduced form, NADH, is one of the products of glycolysis and can be interchangeably converted to NAD+ to carry out the metabolic processes of cancer cells. Due to a preference for glycolysis, tumors have a higher demand for glucose; thus the total pool of both NAD+ and NADH is higher in cancer cells than in most normal tissue. With this in mind, it is possible to take advantage of the aberrant metabolic environment of cancer cells at three points in the glycolytic pathway. First, it may be possible to lower the total glucose concentration in cells. Second, we can more specifically lower NAD concentrations within cancer cells. Third, one can alter the ratio of NAD+ to NADH. Each of these methods will have a plethora of effects, but all are predicted to disrupt both oncogenic function and CtBP's classical roles in cancer systems.

Therapies have been studied that target glycolysis at each of the aforementioned steps. For example, several drug compounds have been discovered as therapeutics that disrupt glucose



uptake. 2-deoxyglucose (2-DG) is a competitive inhibitor of glucose metabolism that becomes trapped following phosphorylation.<sup>105</sup> This is turn causes cellular ATP to be depleted, causing short supply of necessary glycolytic components. Since it is a competitive inhibitor, it must be used in high concentrations, as compared to intracellular glucose. It is observed to only partially reduce the access of glucose for glycolysis. 2-DG is not effective as a single agent *in vivo* but may be a reasonable and well-tolerated combinatory therapeutic. 3-Bromopyruvate (3-BrPA) inhibits hexokinase, the enzyme responsible for the first step of the glycolytic pathway, and is especially cytotoxic to cancer cells under hypoxic conditions or those involving mitochondrial defects. 3-BrPA is an order of magnitude more effective than 2-DG, but as an alkylating agent, it is also suspected to cause cell death by intercalating into DNA throughout the cancer genome. Some naturally derived glucose-uptake inhibitors have only been studied sparingly in clinical trials, including Genistein, a compound found in soybeans, and resveratrol, a phytoalexin found in grapes.<sup>105-107</sup> Early studies suggest that these compounds may be good cancer preventative reagents, but much more work is needed to make any definitive claims. Resveratrol appears to be particularly attractive: in a variety of cancer cells, including breast and ovarian lines, it was shown to cause glucose deprivation, reduce lactate production, and retard cell proliferation.<sup>108,109</sup>

In glycolysis, NAD+ can be synthesized from tryptophan or recycled from three salvage pathways, using nicotinamide, nicotinic acid, or nicotinamide riboside as precursors. Of these processes, the nicotinamide salvage pathway is the primary mechanism for NAD+ synthesis, and its rate limiting step is dictated by the action of an enzyme called nicotinamide phosphoribosyl transferase 1, or NAMPT.<sup>110</sup> NAMPT inhibitors hold promise and have been interrogated in phase I clinical trials. In each clinical trial, dose-limiting toxicity was observed at low concentrations with late onset (>8 days) thrombocytopenia. For this reason NAMPT inhibitors



are not considered good single-target therapies, but may be useful at much lower concentrations in combination with CtBP-specific inhibitors.<sup>111</sup> Finally, research suggests that it may be possible to forcefully alter the NAD+/NADH ratio by adding NAD+ precursors to either cell or animal systems.<sup>112</sup> In one study, the specific addition of nicotinamide (NAM) increased the NAD+/NADH ratio. The treatment was able to prevent spontaneous breast cancer progression and metastasis, while increasing animal survival in mouse studies. This suggests that the NAD+/NADH balance is important for normal cancer processes. We propose that, in part, shifting NADH to its oxidized form will reduce CtBP activity, given its 100-fold lower preference for NAD+ and the necessity that CtBP has for NADH in order to dimerize and recruit transcriptional co-regulatory complexes. In effect, in conjunction with a CtBP-specific inhibitor that is targeted to the substrate binding domain, such as 4-Cl HIPP, we may be able to impair CtBP mechanisms by two independent targeting strategies: one disrupting NAD binding, and the other disrupting access to the CtBP substrate-binding domain.

#### Envisioning clinically relevant drug therapies

The ultimate goal of studying the therapeutic potential of cancer markers or oncogenes is to find targets that can be clinically relevant and make it to testing in clinical trials. We discussed in the rationale of Chapter 1 the properties that make CtBPs an ideal drug target. Included among them is the fact that CtBP1 and CtBP2 are clearly overexpressed in cancer tissue compared to normal adjacent tissue in several tumor types, suggesting that it is disease modifying. Several pathways have been elucidated in which it promotes cancer survival and growth. Disruption of CtBP complexes is known to cause apoptosis, independent of p53 status. We have developed crystal structures that have helped to identify very specific inhibitors. With these crystals and 3D-modeling techniques we can simulate other drug compounds. As we get



more data, the accuracy of these techniques will improve. We are able to test compounds using enzymatic assays. These assays are replicative and have proven informative in predicting the possible mechanism of action of substrate-localized CtBP-specific drugs. Further, it has been demonstrated in several instances, including our lab, that CtBP targeting by MTOB is a capable, albeit weak cancer therapeutic, providing incentive to continue down the road of drug discovery using similar inhibitors.<sup>30,70</sup>

With all these findings that indicate that the design of CtBP-specific compounds may one day be a clinically useful cancer therapeutic strategy, it is necessary to be critical of potential pitfalls as well. There are a couple points to consider that could make CtBPs unfavorable as therapeutics that should be taken into consideration before moving drugs to clinical trials.<sup>77</sup> First, one should note that CtBPs have important physiological functions in the body, the most important of which is found in the brain. CtBPs are ubiquitously expressed in the brain at relatively robust levels.<sup>21</sup> One may predict delivery of drugs should not be able to find access to the brain because of the partition of capillaries and endothelial cells that is known as the bloodbrain barrier. Luckily for our purposes, the blood-brain barrier has historically provided a difficult obstacle for delivering drugs to the brain. However, since CtBPs have been implicated in normal cellular processes such as cell cycle and nuclear replication maintenance, off-target effects are something to consider<sup>30,113</sup>. This point is intrinsic to the concept of the therapeutic index. Basically, the therapeutic index is measured by determining the concentration at which a drug is toxic in 50% of individuals divided by the concentration at which the compound is 50% effective. An ideal drug would have a very low effective dose and a very high toxic dose. In our lab we have seen that MTOB has a very high toxic dose in mouse models. In fact, we were not able to see any phenotypically negative effects at the highest dose, 750mg/kg, tested.



Unfortunately, the concentration used to determine an effective dose was also 750 mg/kg. For HIPP treated mice, experiments are currently underway to determine the effective concentration. However, we saw that concentrations at 500 mg/kg were cytotoxic to mice. As a good predictive model for low effective doses in animals, in a cell culture context we would hope to find drugs that are effective in nanomolar concentrations. Our best compounds thus far have EC50 concentrations in the high micromolar range.

A group from Bayer Healthcare©, in a paper discussing the attributes of good drug targets, suggested that an ideal target would include favorable prediction of side effects based on phenotypic data.<sup>77</sup> These models can include knockout mice or models containing mutations in the target of interest. Mouse models showed that CtBP1 null mice were viable, but that CtBP2 knockout mice died at embryonic day E10.5.<sup>19</sup> These models seem disparaging, but in fact do not serve to predict phenotypes in adult onset cancers. A better model would include an inducible knockout of CtBP in various tissues, excluding the brain, in order to predict potential off-target drug effects. An inducible system would be necessary to ensure that pups are able to grow to adulthood before extinguishing CtBP expression.

Our discovery that 3-Cl HIPP and 4-Cl HIPP are better and more specific inhibitors than those previously shown is an encouraging next step. To increase the validity of these findings as a therapeutic there are a number of experiments that can give credence. For example, Dr. Mike Straza was able to demonstrate that for MTOB, cytotoxicity positively correlates with the degree of transformation of MEFs.<sup>70</sup> While these experiments have not been performed on newer generation compounds, it would provide an *in vitro* assay for demonstrating that modulating CtBP activity is less critical under more physiological conditions. It is hypothesized that similar



to MTOB, CtBP-specific compounds will show greater functionality in response to greater oncogenicity of cell lines.

Ultimately, the goal for a drug target is to be able to move it into the clinic. To envision one of these compounds becoming ready for clinical testing, we must identify optimal compounds from screening. This process is ongoing. Top compounds also need to be validated in mouse models. The results of *in vitro* studies are important for screening purposes, but negative results should not necessarily preclude further studies in animal models.

The results from **Figure 3\_6** and **Figure 3\_7** demonstrate this point. Based on cell culture data, CtBP-based therapies would not be effective in conjunction with gemcitabine. Mouse data contradicted this notion showing a clear synergistic effect caused by the combination of the two compounds. It is ethically unjustifiable to test all strategies in mouse models, but *in vitro* and *in vivo* results sometimes differ significantly. The best or most convincing targets should be considered for further development. Among these, one clear option from the data presented thus far is to test 4-Cl HIPP in conjunction with MTOB.

Finally, the specific target of these therapies should be considered. CtBP is upregulated in several forms of human cancer, including breast, colorectal, and ovarian. For the first set of mouse experiments, one can use immunodeficient xenograft mouse models inoculated with cancer cells of interest, but moving forward, studying a specific cancer type may prove beneficial to provide a proof of concept for clinical utility. The number of cancer mouse models are vast. In breast cancer, the models are known to better capitulate a human cancer-like phenotype, and there are models that share significant genomic similarity in tumor samples to the heterogeneity seen in human breast cancer tissue.<sup>114</sup>



Colon cancer models can be easily chemically induced (e.g. dimethylhydrazine and azoxymethane), and genetic models consist of APC<sup>min</sup> models of Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (FAP) and Hereditary Non-polyposis Colorectal Cancer (HNPCC or Lynch syndrome).<sup>115</sup> FAP patients have been shown to have increased concentrations of CtBP1 in adenomas, and so the APC<sup>min</sup> and other models may be translatable to a patient population.<sup>69</sup> This altogether makes colon cancer models an attractive option for further study.

CtBPs are most often genomically duplicated in ovarian cancer (**Fig. 1\_3**), and 83% of ovarian tumors overexpress CtBP2 versus normal adjacent tissue.<sup>72</sup> Human ovarian cancer has a low 5-year survival rate of 46% (seer.cancer.gov) and is often difficult to treat. It may be worth pursuing CtBP-specific therapeutic treatments for ovarian cancer, but while mouse models are helpful, only a single, recently developed model exists that can recapitulate the most common type of ovarian tumor, high-grade serous adenocarcinoma.<sup>116,117</sup> Coupled with reports that only 8% of animal model research in cancer is successfully translated to clinical trials,<sup>118</sup> the ability to effectively study ovarian cancer is a challenge, albeit a worthwhile one. When envisioning the next steps for therapeutic development, there does not appear to be a clear single path forward, but several different models are worth further consideration.



# Chapter 4: Early research into the biological relevance of the substrate domain in cancer cell systems, with a special emphasis on CtBP2 W324.

# **Rationale:**

Up to this point, most of the progress made in our studies has come through manipulating the substrate binding domain of CtBP2. We have queried the mechanism whereby CtBPs may function; our hypothesis states that NADH binds CtBP to allow dimerization, and the major role of the substrate-binding domain is to help to disassemble the complex. However, only a few papers have demonstrably shown that substrate-binding in cell based assays or *in vivo* actually disrupts CtBP function, and not all studies seem to agree. To investigate substrate function, a series of point mutations were created using the crystal structure of MTOB and NAD+-bound CtBP to select for residues that may be informative. We intended to compare substrate-domain mutations with other regions of the protein that we know to be integral, explicitly mutations of the dimerization domain.

Previous studies have similarly sought to interrogate specific domains of the CtBP protein by creating point mutations and observing the effects. For example, an early study showed that mutating a dimerization residue, G183 in CtBP1 (G189 in CtBP2) was incapable of disrupting normal CtBP-mediated transcriptional repression in a Gal-4 reporter system.<sup>53</sup> Likewise, it found that a mutant of the catalytic domain, H315 (H321 in CtBP2), showed no difference in transcriptional repression based on both luciferase and Gal-4 reporter assays. They concluded that the dehydrogenase activity of CtBP was not necessary for transcriptional repression. Another study refuted this claim: G189 of mCtBP2 was found to be critical to allow NAD+ binding and dimerization.<sup>33</sup> Mutating the glycine to an alanine caused a significant



decrease in transcriptional repression potential in a Gal-4-tagged mCtBP2 assay.<sup>27</sup> This disruption of repression was caused by hindering CtBP dimerization. To a lesser extent, mutations of H321 and R272, two members of the CtBP catalytic triad, which are responsible for bringing substrate into close contact with NADH, disrupted transcriptional activity. A double mutant of G189R and R272L, completely disrupted CtBP-mediated repression.

Yet another study dissected mutations with regard to function.<sup>39</sup> A series of point mutations of the CtBP dimerization domain and a second series of point mutations of the catalytic domain were made. The mutations in the catalytic domain consist of the catalytic triad, G295, R266, H315, and a fourth mutation in D290 in CtBP1. This catalytic mutant disrupted binding to GST-tagged E1A and largely alleviated CtBP-mediated repression in a Gal4 reporter system, but it did not disrupt dimerization. By comparison, dimerization and NAD mutants dysregulated dimerization and had the gravest effects on disrupting CtBP regulation. This data was partially validated in drosophila where a G183E (corresponding to G189E in CtBP2) mutant completely abolished transcriptional repression activity as visualized in embryo development. However, H315Q (H321 in CtBP2) did not affect this repression.<sup>119</sup> Finally, using a single point mutation in the histidine of the catalytic triad in dCtBP in drosophila, it was shown that catalytic disruption did not have a visible effect on development *in vivo*.<sup>41</sup> It was capable of disrupting dehydrogenase activity in an *in vitro* system.

The published data, together, is somewhat contradictory, but most recent studies seem to suggest that the catalytic, or substrate-binding, domain of CtBP can disrupt transcription regulation and dehydrogenase activity. However, in studies that have been performed *in vivo* using drosophila model systems, it appears that mutations of the catalytic site do not have a biological effect. It should be noted that these systems look at catalytic function with regard to



drosophila development. Our research looks to study the biological effect of substrate mutants in cancer cell systems. Due to the vastly different systems and life events that are being studied, it is possible that the function of substrate binding in cancer cells differs immensely from that of drosophila development. The effort in this chapter also differs from previous publications that focused exclusively on the role of transcriptional function and dimerization. We endeavor to couple biochemical assays with biological assays to observe the result of disrupting substrate-binding on a variety of pro-oncogenic phenotypes.

Of particular interest to our study is the residue tryptophan 324 (W318 in CtBP1). It was discovered that this residue, found in the catalytic domain of CtBP, is unique among all dehydrogenases to CtBP-family proteins.<sup>39,79</sup> The crystal structure shows that the residue is imperative for bringing substrate and NADH into close proximity. We have already started designing inhibitors that take advantage of an enhanced interaction with W324. In another study, it has been recognized that this unique moiety lies closely to, and may stabilize interaction with, NADH<sup>45</sup>. As such, it was used for FRET (Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer) analysis to show that NADH has a lower Kd with CtBP than does NAD+, providing evidence that NADH is preferentially bound over NAD+. Recently, a study suggested that W318 was required for full dimerization of CtBP1 after NADH binding.<sup>44</sup> We hypothesize that this unique tryptophan may function as a sort of keystone for dehydrogenase and dimer function. We believe that mutation of this residue will cause phenotypic differences that prohibit numerous pro-oncogenic activities.

In this chapter, we perform a screen with several mutants to identify those that may be informative to carry over into cell based assays. We show the completion of one of these first assays, a cell migration, or scratch, assay. Further, we propose a system in which we can use



these mutations to study the specificity of new drug compounds. We show pilot data for this approach.

# **Materials and Methods:**

Site-directed Mutagenesis and PCR:

Using a pet28a vector containing the truncated, 31-364 a.a., his tagged CtBP2 cDNA, site directed mutagenesis was performed using a protocol for single base pair substitutions. Briefly, non-overlapping primers were designed to create point mutations with the nucleotide substitution found in the forward primer followed by at least 10 nucleotides with perfect alignment. The reverse primer binds with perfect alignment, adjacent to the nucleotide substitution. Sample primers for W324G are shown below:

# W324G Fw: 5-CTCACACTGCCCGGATACAGTGAGCAGGCGTC-3

W324G Rev: 5-GACGCCTGCTCACTGTATCCGGCAGTGTGAG-3

Primers were phosphorylated and PCR was run. The PCR mix and cycling conditions are as follows: 10ng template, 1uL of 10mM dNTPs, 10uL HF Phusion buffer, 0.5uM Fw Primer, 0.5uM Rev Primer, and water 50uL was added together, followed by addition of 1uL Phusion polymerase. Tubes were heated to 98C to denature, and a cycle consisting of denaturing for 10 seconds at 98C, annealing at 3 degrees above the melting temperature of the primers for 15 seconds, and elongation for 2.5 minutes. The cycle was continued for a total of 28 cycles. After PCR, the products were ligated and transformed into DH5a chemical competent cells and raised on a kanamycin background. Successful mutants were confirmed by sequencing.



Informative mutations, as determined by NADH reaction curves, were cut by restriction digestion and cloned into the full-length protein, which has a C-terminal V5 tag, in the pcDNA3.1 vector. CtBP2 cDNA contains single EcoRI and EcoNI restriction sites flanking the mutated region that are not found in the pcDNA vector. Unidirectional clones were generated by excising the insert with EcoRI and EcoNI restriction enzymes and then by re-ligating the mutation into the full-length protein using T4 DNA ligase. Successful ligation and transformation were verified by gel electrophoresis and sequencing. Dr. Priyadarshan Damle created, or assisted in the cloning of, several mutations presented in this work. Point mutants include: normal, (wildtype, WT) CtBP2, H83Q, R103K, V111I, R157A, G189A, R272A, R272K, H321A, H321Q, W324A, W324H, W324F, W324G, and Y325A.

#### Creation of Silent Backbone CtBP and Integration into a PZ04 vector:

A previous member of the Grossman lab designed a custom CtBP2 siRNA. Using the backbone of that siRNA we created a series of silent mutations:

#### siRNA for wtCtBP2:GCGCCTTGGTCAGTAATAG

#### Silent Mutant CtBP: GCGCCATGGTCTGTTATTG

Further, Dr. Priyadarshan Damle in the Grossman lab created a vector to create stable mutant cell lines and visualize transfection efficiency. The plasmid (map below) contains restriction sites for the transfer of CtBP2 from pcDNA using restriction enzymes for excision and re-ligation. CtBP2 is expressed under a CMV promoter. A second gene, GFP-puro is expressed under the SV40 promoter. CtBP2 mutants created in pcDNA3.1 were transferred through restriction digestion and ligation with shared restriction sites of the multiple cloning sites, Bam HI and XhoI.





# **Reaction Curves and kcat/km Determination:**

CtBP2 protein (a.a. 31-364) was purified, as described in the method section of Chapter 2. After purification, the concentration of each mutant was determined by BSA assay and purity was assessed by Coomassie stain. For reaction curves, 150uM final NADH and 50uM MTOB were added together with 18ug total CtBP2. Runs were read in triplicate and absorbance was measured at A=340nm every 30 seconds for 1 hour. Data represents the average of 3 to 9 reads.

Kcat/km is a measure of the efficiency of an enzyme, where kcat represents the number of substrate molecules the enzyme can turn over per second time, and Km represents the affinity for substrate, defined as the substrate concentration at half the maximum rate of the reaction. It is defined by the equation  $V=k_{cat}[E]_t[S]/(K_m + [S])$ , where V= enzyme activity,  $[E]_t$  is total enzyme binding sites for a substrate, [S] = substrate concentration. For this assay, CtBP protein was used at a concentration of 20ug/ml, which is the equivalent of 986.2nM. Since we assume that each molecule of CtBP only has one binding site for MTOB,  $[E]_t$  is equal to 986.2nM. The enzyme activity was determined by calculating the initial velocity of the enzyme by keeping levels of NADH constant and in far excess, and varying the concentration of substrate with each run. NADH was added at a final concentration of 150µM. The different concentrations of



MTOB were 48, 36, 24, 12, 8, 4, 2, 1, and 0  $\mu$ M. With the enzyme concentration, Graphpad Prism® was used to calculate k<sub>cat</sub> and K<sub>m</sub>, reported in this case as  $\mu$ M /sec.

Assays were performed by adding all components, except enzyme, together and allowing them to incubate. CtBP was then added, quickly mixed by manual pipetting and immediately placed in the spectrophotometer at A=340nm. The assay was measured for five minutes and initial velocity was calculated by calculating the slope from the first linear phase of the assay. Assays were performed with at least three measures to attain a value.

## **Transfections:**

Transfections were performed using lipofectamine. Briefly, two tubes containing 160uL Gibco® OptiMem<sup>TM</sup> were used for each condition. Purified plasmid DNA was added to 1 tube and Lipofectamine® 2000 (Thermo Fisher) was added at a ratio of 1.5:1, uL Lipofectamine:ug DNA. Tubes were incubated for 5 minutes and then combined. After a further 20-minute incubation, they were evenly added to 6cm plates containing cells at 50% confluency in media lacking antibiotics. Cells were harvested at the time points indicated.

## **Stable Cell Line Generation:**

HCT116, p53-/- or MDA-MB-231 cell lines were transfected with pZ04 plasmids containing vectors for: empty vector, wild type CtBP2, CtBP2 mutants G189A, R157K, R272A, H321Q, Y325A, W324G, W324F, H83Q, and R103A. After 48 hours, they were selected for with 8uL puromycin 50mg/mL. Cells were expanded until reaching 80% confluency and then Fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) was used to select for high GFP-expressing cells. Extra aliquots were frozen, and actively dividing plates were maintained in media containing 4uL of 50mg/mL puromycin per 10cm plate.



#### **Cell Migration Assays:**

For Migration Assay, equal number of MDA-MB 231 cells were plated at 50% confluency in a six-well dish. The estimated number of cells plated was approximately  $5 \times 10^5$ . Cells were then transfected as above with 3ug DNA. 48-hours post-transfection, a small wound was scratched into the confluent cell monolayer to form a cross pattern in each well. Pictures were taken in 2-hour increments until a total of 8 hours had passed. Images were captured using an electron microscope at 4x at the intersection of the cross. They were used to compare and quantify the percent closure of the wound, measuring the 'free' area using a free source scratch assay macro in Image J software. Each mutant was measured in triplicate for each independent experiment. Data was measured as a rate of migration per hour, and analyzed by One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-test.

#### Western Blot Analysis:

Cell cultures for western blot analysis were rinsed in cold PBS and harvested in RIPA buffer, pH 7.2 containing protease inhibitors using a cell scraper. The lysate was rotated at 4° C for 20 minutes and then the cell membrane was removed by centrifugation at 12000g for 20 minutes at 4° C. Lysates were quantified against BSA protein assay standards and 20ug was loaded onto a 3-12% gradient NuPage® Bis-Tris gel. Western blots were run and transferred using the Invitrogen NuPage® Novex ® Gel System on to a nitrocellulose membrane. The transfer membrane was blocked with 0.5% Casein and probed with either goat-polyclonal (Santa Cruz) CtBP2, monoclonal CtBP2 (BD Biosciences), or V5-antibodies (Abcam). B-actin was used as a loading control. Membranes were rinsed with TBST (Tris buffered saline with Tween 20). Fluorescent antibodies were used for visualization of the blot by the Licor® Odyssey scanner.



## **Drug Resistance Assays:**

To measure any differences in drug tolerance in cell lines containing mutants for our plasmids, CtBP2 null, HCT116 p53<sup>-/-</sup> cells were used. These cells were previously constructed using the CRISPR/cas9 system by Dr. Priyadarshan Damle, and were verified by sequencing. CtBP2 was disrupted by two different frame shift mutations and western blot showed complete loss of CtBP2 product. One cell line, called CtBP2<sup>-/-</sup> 6.1was transfected with pZ04 plasmids at a concentration of 1ug DNA per 100,000 cells and 1000 cells per well plated in a 96 well plate. After 48 hours, the cells were treated with roughly EC50 concentrations of drug as determined by values generated in **Table 1** (4mM HIPP, 1mM 4-Cl HIPP, 1mM 2-OMe HIPP, 0.5% DMSO). After a further 48-hour incubation, cells were treated for MTT assay, as described in the methods of Chapter 2. Values were normalized to a background frequency and then mutants were normalized to DMSO controls to account for variability due to transfection differences.



# **Results:**

#### **Evaluation of CtBP substrate-domain mutants by enzymatic assay**

Using the crystal structure of MTOB-bound CtBP to analyze the substrate-binding pocket, several amino acids were predicted to play a role in the substrate-binding domain. These residues include: R272, H321, H83, R103, V111, R157, G189, W324, and Y325.

R272 and H321 represent two of the three members of the catalytic triad, a conserved group of amino acids found across a variety of different enzymes. The catalytic triad is found at the active site and provides support for dehydrogenase function. H83 and R103 are residues that lie in close proximity to MTOB, with favorable charges for hydrogen bonding interactions. V111 is a residue that differs between CtBP2 and CtBP1 (an isoleucine is found at this site); it is not predicted to have any role significant for substrate-specificity. R157 and G189 are amino acids found within the dehydrogenase domain, and are considered dimerization mutants. G189 especially is well described as the middle glycine of a three glycine structure (GxGxxG) which forms a conserved dinuleotide binding motif.<sup>44</sup> W324, as has already been described, is a major focus of our research and is considered to be an integral component of CtBP-substrate specificity. Y325 is found adjacent to W324. It was included because it was predicted that the tyrosine molecule could provide residual support for the tryptophan.

Mutations of each of these residues were designed to disrupt the normal function of the amino acid residue. For example, H321 was converted to a glutamine (Q), which has a similarly sized branched chain and is neutrally charged and hydrophobic, in contrast to histidine (H) which is a moderate amino acid (neither strongly hydrophobic nor hydrophilic) and positively charged. Arginine (R) residues were mutated to lysines (K), a similarly positively charged, hydrophilic amino acid that has a single amino group at the end of its chain, instead of the more extended



guanadino chain typical of arginine. To test for the effect of complete disruption, many amino acids were substituted with an alanine (A) molecule, whose chain consists simply of a methyl group. Tryptophan (W) 324, as the primary target of our investigation, was replaced with a phenylalanine (F) to see if the phenyl ring moiety is the essential component of the side chain. It was also replaced with an alanine and glycine (G). Glycine residues are capable of inducing greater change than other amino acids due to the lack of a side chain, which allows for significant alterations in protein folding.

Synthesis of point mutations was accomplished with site-directed PCR techniques. Protein was expressed for each mutant and used for NADH disappearance assays in order to determine which mutations may be the most informative to carry forward to further studies. Reaction curves were created, showing the enzymatic activity of each mutant carried out over a period of one hour. Several of the more informative mutants are shown in **Figure 4\_1**. The change in absorbance over time was normalized to show how each enzyme compared as a proportion of the maximum conversion of NADH to NAD+ in wild type CtBP2.

In line with our predictions, W324F and V111I had reaction curves that mirrored that of wild type CtBP2 protein. The implication of this suggests that a W324F mutant should function similarly to wild type in other assays, and also indicates that the key portion of the tryptophan residue for normal function is the phenol ring. V111I showed that neither of these amino acid substitutions at a.a. 111, while different between the two CtBP family members, contribute to the role of dehydrogenase activity.

The other W324 mutations tested, W324G and W324A showed a severe impairment of enzymatic function. As far as can be seen, W324G is enzymatically dead. Indeed, compared to the mutant G189A, which impedes NADH binding, W324G is very similar. W324A appears to




**Figure 4\_1. Reaction curves for wildtype CtBP2 protein and several mutants.** NADH disappearance assays were performed over a time course of 1 hour. Several mutants were assessed including several that were carried forward into biological assays **A**) and that were selected for interesting properties **B**). Error bars represent the 95% confidence interval and all values were measured 3-9 times.



have very slow residual activity. Mutations of the catalytic triad, R272A and H321Q, showed almost no enzymatic activity. The other amino acids of interest, H83Q and R103A, displayed an intermediate level of activity. Each appeared to have an initial change in absorbance similar to wild type protein, but peaked at a lower level of total absorbance. This may be attributed to a possible difference in protein stability. The cause for this difference was not investigated further, but the results imply that H83 and R103 do play a role in CtBP regulation. Finally, the mutant Y325A appears to trend toward reaching peak absorbance levels, but has an unknown delay in velocity.

Reaction curve data, while a good visual indicator of the trends seen in enzymes, do not give a quantitative measurement with regard to the efficiency in which an enzyme can catalyze a reaction. But if one were to take several reaction curves and measure the velocity of the rate of the reaction at the beginning, it would be possible to compile all the data to generate a number of true enzyme efficiency. This number is referred to as the constant  $k_{cat}/k_m$  (a more detailed explanation of this value and how it is calculated can be found in the methods of this chapter). We endeavored to determine this value for wild type CtBP2 protein and W324A, W324F, H321Q, R272K, and H83Q mutants. We generated this value for only three: wildtype CtBP2 had a  $k_{cat}/k_m = 0.269 \ \mu M^{-1}min^{-1}$ , W324F  $k_{cat}/k_m = 0.268 \ \mu M^{-1}min^{-1}$ , and H83Q  $k_{cat}/k_m = 0.182$  $\mu$ M<sup>-1</sup>min<sup>-1</sup>. Unfortunately, based on model fitting provided by Graphpad Prism software, the goodness of fit was measured as  $R^2 = 0.65$ , 0.29, and 0.28 respectively. For other mutants no values were able to be determined, in part because either the initial velocity was too slow to measure within the framework (t=5minutes) of our assay, or because activity was altogether dead. Despite difficulty in generating a true constant value to describe the enzymatic activity of CtBP enzyme and its mutants, we have demonstrated that the reaction curves give an accurate



indication of true enzyme potential or abrogation. Based on the information generated by enzymatic analysis, W324A, W324F, W324G, H321Q, and G189A were taken forward for evaluation in biological assays.

#### Early biological evaluation of CtBP mutants

To date, no studies have been performed to look at the phenotypic effect of CtBPsubstrate domain mutants on cancer cell systems. Attempts to study pro-oncogenic differences in cell culture were met initially with difficulty in the Grossman lab, due to two basic issues. The first is that CtBP appears to be tightly regulated. Anecdotally, members of the lab have not been able to overexpress exogenous CtBP much more than twice the amount of endogenous CtBP, and elevated CtBP rapidly decreases with time. Second, different mutations transfected with slightly different efficiencies. Those mutants that seem most disruptive appear to have the best incorporation of CtBP into cells, perhaps due to the fact that since they may be nonfunctional or promote novel phenotypes, they can evade normal CtBP regulation. A further discussion of interventions that have been attempted in order to resolve these concerns is found in **Appendix II**.

We first set out to discover if CtBP2 mutants were capable of inducing differences in the migratory capability of cancer cells. CtBP has been demonstrated to both inhibit genes such as E-cadherin and activate genes like Tiam1 to promote migratory and invasive phenotypes<sup>31,54</sup>. Cell migration scratch assays were performed in MDA-MB-231 cells, a highly invasive and metastatic breast cancer line. Cells were transfected with each of our mutants and allowed to grow to a confluent monolayer, at which point a wound was made on the plate and the migration of cells into the open space was measured (**Fig. 4\_2**).



Migration rates indicate that CtBP2 overexpression is able to significantly increase the rate of migration in cell culture, as was expected. W324F mutant migration is indistinguishable from that of wild type, reemphasizing that the phenol group of tryptophan is imperative for proper function. Both W324G and W324A mutants had migration rates that were the same as an empty vector transfected control. Similar rates of migration were seen with H321Q and G189A. The similarity between rates of migration in these mutants compared to empty vector suggests that there is no advantage gained from an enzymatically non-functional mutant. On the other hand, there was no evidence of a dominant negative phenotype. From this first assay, catalytic domain residues seem to play an integral role for migratory function. Future experiments will look to further define the consequences of CtBP mutation on other phenotypes. Specifically, MTT assay, cell count monitoring, clonogenic and other assays will measure cell proliferation and viability differences. Invasion assays will take the results of migration data a step further. Additionally, mutants can be used to assess resistance to cytotoxic insults.

In the previous chapter, luciferase results showed that CtBP-specific inhibitors appeared to induce Bik expression. While this is a good first step in verifying that CtBP-inhibitors actually cause cytotoxicity through CtBP-specific mechanisms, one of the best ways to verify the results is through rescue assays. In these assays, addition of higher amounts of CtBP should start to ameliorate the percentage of death, preferably in a dose dependent manner. We hypothesized that we could similarly see this effect with mutant proteins. Specifically, we conjectured that if mutants had at least remedial function, but had a decreased affinity for inhibitor binding, they would be able to partially rescue CtBP-mediated apoptosis. A pilot study was performed to show proof of the concept using CtBP2-null cells generated by CRISPR (**Fig. 4\_3**). The





Figure 4\_2. Cell migration is dependent upon functional CtBP2. An empty vector (EV), CtBP2, or its mutants were transiently transfected into MDA-MB-231 cell lines and a wound was created. The rate of migration into the wound was measured after 8 hours (above). A Western blot shows lysates recovered from the assay showing representative transfection of each mutant (V5-CtBP2) compared to endogenous levels. Actin serves as a loading control. \*=p<0.01 vs. PZ04-EV. Data represents the average of n≥3 independent experiments, measured in triplicate. Error bars represent standard deviation. The data in this figure was generated by Zaid Nawaz.



experiment makes the assumption that HIPP and 4-Cl HIPP, in reality induce cell death in part through relief of CtBP-repression. We expect that relevant 'rescue' mutants would show increased survival over an empty vector control or wild type exogenous CtBP in the presence of these two drugs. We further expect that in the presence of non-CtBP specific inhibitors, like 2-OMe HIPP, the proliferative advantage would disappear.

Looking at a spectrum of CtBP2 mutants in the presence of HIPP (**Fig. 4\_3**) we see that several of the compounds had increased viability compared to the empty vector control. By comparison, three of those mutants, G189A, R103A, and Y325A continued to show increased cell survival in the presence of the non-CtBP-specific inhibitor 2-OMe HIPP (**Fig 4\_3C**). This suggests that the mutants confer a proliferative advantage that is not dependent on the mode of cell death. Presuming similar trends are seen with replication experiments, they should be disqualified as rescue mutants. 4-Cl HIPP serves to validate results seen in the HIPP experiment and shows that three mutants remain as candidates (**Fig. 4\_3B**). W324G very subtly expresses the pattern expected for a rescue mutant, but at levels that may be hard to quantify in future assays. R272A and H83Q show almost identical expression patterns above all other valid candidates, with roughly 50% increased survival in the presence of HIPP and 4-Cl HIPP and no difference in survival with 2-OMe HIPP, compared to empty vector. Based on our hypothesis, R272A and H83Q meet the criteria of potential rescue mutants.

This experiment is a pilot and so results cannot produce general conclusions, but it does provide encouragement that using substrate-binding mutants as rescue mutants is a technique that is worth pursuing in further detail. Efforts are underway to do so. Together we have shown that CtBP2 mutants of the substrate-binding domain are important for cell migration and that mutants





**Figure 4\_3. A pilot study of CtBP2 mutant resistance to CtBP-specific compounds.** CtBP2 wild type, mutants, or empty vector were transfected into CRISPR-generated CtBP2 null HCT116 p53<sup>-/-</sup> cells and incubated 48 hours before drug treatment with **A**) 4mM HIPP, **B**) 1mM 4-Cl HIPP, and **C**) 1mM 2-OMe HIPP. Candidate mutants for rescue experiments are those that have higher viability than EV controls with HIPP and 4-Cl HIPP, but not 2-OMe HIPP. Blue horizontal lines show the level of viability in EV transfected cells. n=1 independent experiment. Error bars represent standard deviation from triplicate well measures.



may provide a mechanism for studying further CtBP-specific therapeutics, by creating an easily interrogated rescue assay.

### **Discussion and Future Directions:**

Mutants were generated to assess the role of substrate-binding in CtBP2 in cancer biological processes in order to be able to understand the physiological function of substrate for CtBP. Several mutants were shown to inhibit enzymatic function, including W324A, W324G, H321Q, R272A, and G189A. With the mutants that were subsequently carried forward into cell migration experiments, the level of enzymatic function seems to correlate with biological function. W324F mutants had nearly identical enzymatic function and migration rates as wild type CtBP. This provides confirmation that the phenyl ring is important for normal function and is encouraging for the further development of inhibitors that take advantage of close association with this unique tryptophan through pi-pi stacking. We further showed that W324G and W324A mutants were non-functional in cell migration assays; they neither increased nor decreased rates of wound closure as compared to empty vector. This provides evidence that W324 may actually serve as a key residue for CtBP function. G189A, a mutation that inhibits NADH binding and impedes subsequent CtBP dimerization, proved to be similarly non-functional. Interestingly, H321Q also showed limited activity in cell migration assays. This contrasts with the results described in drosophila development data.<sup>41,119</sup> In both of those previous studies, H315 (analogous to H321) was found to not be necessary for development *in vivo*. We found that H321 impedes the normal function of CtBP in cancer cells to promote cell migration. One assay is insufficient to infer much with regard to biological function and so other assays are needed. To focus on key pathways involved with CtBP-mediated oncogenesis, we propose including



assays to measure cell invasion and proliferation, cell cycle regulation, and resistance to cell death.

Building upon this, in order to understand CtBP substrate binding by way of mutant studies, it is necessary to perform many of the transcription based assays that have been discussed previously. Especially with CRISPR produced CtBP2-null cells, we will be able to determine differences in transcription caused by even subtle alterations from mutant phenotypes. We have at our disposal functional luciferase assays and a number of target genes that have been validated for qPCR analysis. This, along with upcoming ChIP results, will permit the Grossman lab to, within the next couple of years, have a developed understanding of the role of the CtBPsubstrate binding pocket.

A goal of understanding substrate-binding is to be able to have a firmer appreciation of the mechanisms of CtBP so that we can create therapeutics that have limited unintended consequences. In the process of developing drugs, it is important to create a rescue assay that shows whether inhibitors are CtBP specific in causing apoptosis. We proposed a model wherein we use a semi-functional mutant of CtBP to validate CtBP-specificity. This would be especially useful due to the difficulty of maintaining upregulated CtBP, which makes rescue assay development tedious. Of all the mutants screened, H83Q is particularly interesting. It shows relatively normal enzymatic function, and was able to cause increased cell survival versus controls in an apparently CtBP-specific manner. The next biological assays will include H83Q and expand on the mutants that hitherto have been tested.



## **Chapter 5. Final Conclusions**

CtBP2 is one of two members of the CtBP-family transcriptional co-regulators that play an essential role in development. Increasingly CtBPs have been indicated as contributors to cancer development and progression. In this dissertation we delineate the characteristics that make CtBPs good targets for drug therapy. In part, CtBPs exhibit therapeutic potential because they have an intrinsic enzyme activity that can be utilized for drug screening. In addition, they have been shown to promote several pro-oncogenic processes, such as EMT, cell migration and invasion, cell proliferation, regulation of metabolism, and cell cycle regulation. CtBPs are more highly overexpressed in a number of patient tumor samples than in corresponding normal tissue, implicating their role as either a marker or a driver of cancer progression. This overexpression is stimulated by increased NADH concentrations, as seen in hypoxic conditions and through preferential glycolysis, seen in cancer via the Warburg effect. CtBPs can be sequestered and targeted for proteasomal degradation, ultimately leading to apoptosis due to de-repression of tumor suppressors, such as BH3-only apoptotic proteins Bik, Bim, and Bax. This apoptotic effect is seen regardless of the p53 status of the cancer tissue. MTOB treatment has served as a proof of principle that CtBP targeting has the potential to be therapeutically beneficial. In MEFs that are mutated to reflect various degrees of oncogenic transformation, MTOB cytotoxicity correlates positively with oncogenic potential.

The data presented in this work shows the development of a series of better inhibitors than MTOB. MTOB has limitations as a cancer therapeutic. At low levels, it mildly increases cell proliferation and it requires high concentrations to switch from functioning as a substrate, used for CtBP dehydrogenase activity, to an inhibitor. A high-throughput screen of 30,000



compounds failed to indicate a better class of inhibitors but inspired development of transition state mimetics (Fig 2\_1). The crystal structure of MTOB-bound CtBP indicated that we could create tighter binding by maximizing the association with a tryptophan residue that is unique to the substrate-binding domain of CtBPs, among all other dehydrogenases. We used information gleaned from these two avenues of research to increase pi-pi stacking by creating a phenyl ring to replace the thiol residue of MTOB. Further, the ketone on C-2 that normally undergoes hydride transfer with NADH was replaced with a non-reducible imine molecule (Fig. 2\_2B). This formed 2-hydroxy-3-imino-phenylpropionic acid, or HIPP, a >1000-fold better inhibitor in enzymatic NADH turnover assays. Determination of a constant of inhibition for HIPP, Ki, indicated an unusual pattern of seemingly non-competitive inhibition (Fig. 2\_4). An investigation of the literature and simulation studies suggest that HIPP can form a ternary abortive complex, wherein it can bind to CtBP after the redox reaction between MTOB and NADH. It interacts after the release of MTHB, but before the release of NAD+ (Fig. 2\_5). This model also proposes that CtBP's normal mechanism of dehydrogenase function involves an ordered bi-substrate reaction, where NADH is required to bind first for a conformational change to occur (domain closure) that allows CtBP dimerization. This is followed by MTOB binding which leads to a redox reaction and release of both substrates; however, MTOB is equally capable of binding first, and as a result can prevent NADH binding and enzyme accessibility. This was further demonstrated by illustrating that MTOB causes substrate-inhibition at concentrations in excess of NADH (Fig. 2\_4D). The close concordance between the generated data and simulations (Appendix I) confirms this as a valid possible mechanism. Current and future experiments are needed to validate this hypothesis. This is being done through preincubation experiments wherein HIPP and MTOB are added before NADH to test disruption,



and analyzed by GST pulldown experiments, to look at dimerization, and by NADH disappearance assay. Analytical ultracentrifugation is also used to determine if HIPP addition can push CtBP from a dimer toward a monomeric state. Knowing the state in which CtBP is bound by inhibitor will help validate the usefulness of HIPP and other compounds as drugs that can isolate the CtBP complex from the promoter regions of tumor suppressor genes.

HIPP was tested in cell viability assays and not shown to be a substantially better cytotoxic agent than MTOB (Fig. 3\_1). In order to improve therapeutic index, we hope to find an agent that is specific and can induce cell death at nanomolar concentrations. By deconstructing regions of phenylpyruvate (Fig. 3\_2), we found that each element studied was important for HIPP-enhanced binding. Moieties were substituted around the phenyl ring of HIPP (Fig. 3\_3). Two inhibitors, 3-Cl HIPP and 4-Cl HIPP were shown to be better inhibitors and roughly 4-fold more effective cytotoxic agents (cytotoxic EC50 values of 0.85mM and 1.74mM respectively, Table 1) than HIPP. Among others, 3-OH HIPP and 2-OMe HIPP were shown to be non-effective drug compounds that served as controls for other experiments. 3-OH HIPP was shown to be an inhibitor in enzymatic reactions but failed to induce cytotoxicity. Conversely, 2-OMe HIPP is extremely cytotoxic but not CtBP-specific (EC50=1.24 mM). With these drugs, we saw that 3-Cl HIPP and 4-Cl HIPP relieved Bik promoter repression in a luciferase assay, a process presumed to occur through displacement of CtBP. This correlated with CtBP-specificity and cytotoxicity, as 3-Cl HIPP and 4-Cl HIPP were the only compounds that showed this response (Fig. 3\_5).

Combination drug regimens were studied, and it was found that chemotherapeutic reagents did not exhibit additive or synergistic cytotoxicity in cancer cells (**Fig. 3\_6**), but HIPP and gemcitabine proved to be a synergistic drug combination in mice (**Fig. 3\_7**). Additionally,



HDAC inhibitors in combination with HIPP did not increase cellular cytotoxicity (**Fig. 3\_8**). In further combination therapies, 4-Cl HIPP, but not 3-Cl HIPP, showed an additive effect with MTOB, decreasing the effective concentration for each by 15-fold and 4-fold respectively (**Fig. 3\_9**). Work is underway to replicate these experiments, and mice studies have begun in order to test the maximum tolerated dose of 4-Cl HIPP. From this, we will have a starting point from which to perform a variety of studies to determine the ideal therapeutic regimen *in vivo* with the current molecules and tools at our disposal.

Finally, to enhance our understanding of the impact of using substrate-binding inhibitors, we created a series of point mutations in CtBP2. Mutations of some key substrate-binding residues, such as R272A and H321Q of the catalytic triad, were enzymatically dead (**Fig. 4\_1**). H321Q was further studied in a cell migration assay and found to be nonfunctional. We made a special emphasis to study W324 mutants, as we predicted that this unique tryptophan served as a 'keystone' residue that permitted NADH-binding, dimerization, and substrate-binding. W324F mutation did not show a difference in enzymatic activity or cell migration ability (**Fig. 4\_2**). More severe mutations, W324A and W324G, were enzymatically impaired and, in migration assays, nonfunctional. A scheme was proposed to create a rescue assay using substrate-binding deficient mutants as a means to study CtBP-specificity for future inhibitors (**Fig. 4\_3**).

Taken as a whole, this data takes a step forward in the development of CtBP-specific therapeutics. It is hoped that this work contributes to the eventual development of a therapeutic strategy that can be used in clinical trials. Further efforts are necessary, and will largely be driven by the results of mouse studies. We are beginning to study one of our best next generation lead compounds, 4-Cl HIPP, in mouse models. In addition, there is room to find other inhibitors. Two water molecules co-occupy the substrate-binding domain pocket with



HIPP; potential development of more specific compounds could be designed to further fill this cavity. Evaluation of novel compounds can be studied through a pipeline of enzymatic inhibition, cytotoxicity, regulation of CtBP target genes and gene promoters, and cytotoxic resistance in rescue assays, as has been laid out in this manuscript.

As results have been uncovered, the repercussions of this work have branched tremendously. Collaboration has increased within the Grossman lab and throughout VCU. Current projects are underway to: look at cancer stem cell treatment with CtBP inhibitors; develop and characterize CtBP-knockout cell lines for use as a model system; determine the oligomerization states of CtBP and analyze changes in the presence of inhibitors or substratedomain mutations; and perform mouse studies to look at the role of CtBP2 knockdown in tumor ablation. Upcoming experiments will look at 4-Cl HIPP effects as anti-cancer therapy in mouse models. It is the hope that within the next few years, a CtBP inhibitor or combination treatment will be available for clinical trials. With continued progress in the effort to understand CtBP within a cancer context, results are promising.



## Appendix 1: Simulation data comparing modes of inhibition

Using a predictive model of CtBP enzymatic activity in which addition of substrate and

coenzyme involves an ordered mechanism, we present the following schematic, generated by Dr.

William Royer:

## **Kinetic Simulations:**

Shown below is the general scheme used to simulate the inhibition that could result through the formation of ternary abortive complexes upon binding either inhibitor or substrate to CtBP following the release of reduced product (S' –5-methylthio-2-hydroxybuterate [MTHB]) but not oxidized cofactor.

S = MTOB (substrate); S' = MTHB (reduced product) N = NADH; N' = NAD<sup>+</sup> H = HIPP (inhibitor) E = CtBP (enzyme)



From this scheme, the following equation for v<sub>o</sub> was derived for HIPP inhibiting CtBP through formation of a ternary abortive complex:

$$v_o = \frac{Vmax [N] [S]}{[S][N] + Ks[N] + KnKs + k_3[N][S] (1 + \frac{[H]}{K_1})}$$

In order to successfully derive simulation models, one must account for all forms in which the enzyme could potentially reside, leading up to the condition that one wants to test. For



example, for an abortive ternary complex, the enzyme can be unbound, bound to the coenzyme NADH, to coenzyme and substrate, to oxidized coenzyme NAD+, or finally bound to NAD+ and inhibitor. Since we had performed enzymatic experiments prior, these models can help to verify the data that we have seen. In fact, an abortive ternary complex simulates closely with the data that we saw from our Ki studies with HIPP (Fig. A1. A-B). The abortive ternary complex shows inhibition that effects Vmax. Further, substituting [S] or substrate concentration, for [H], inhibitor concentration, one can use this same simulation to predict the effect of excess substrate on the reaction. This model (Fig. A1. C) shows an extremely similar pattern to the substrate inhibition that we observe once MTOB is found in excess of NADH (Fig. A1. D). The startling resemblance between this simulation should give weight to our hypothesis of HIPP as an inhibitor of ternary abortive complexes. Dr. Royer further simulated what data would look like if HIPP primarily interacted with free enzyme (Fig. A1. E). The pattern shows a change in Km rather than Vmax, suggesting that HIPP does not predominantly inhibit free enzyme. Nevertheless, as mentioned in the Discussion of Chapter 1, it is likely that HIPP can also bind competitively in vivo. Our assay favors a ternary abortive complex since we keep NADH in far excess, making access to free enzyme difficult. One way to potentially see the impact of HIPP binding free enzyme is by preincubating HIPP with monomeric CtBP protein and then performing an NADH disappearance assay. Efforts in the Grossman laboratory are being made to see inhibition caused by sequestering free enzyme.

Finally, simulations do not prove a hypothesis, but they can provide validity. There is some trial and error involved. In this particular case, it was necessary to approximate some variables. We are unsure of the rates of formation for many of the steps involved, and so these



numbers were estimated. However, together this work has helped us have a clearer picture of the mechanism of action of HIPP and its derivatives.



Figure A1\_1: Simulated data using a model predictive of HIPP inhibition binding to an abortive ternary complex or empty enzyme. Models were simulated to explain the seemingly non-competitive binding of HIPP to CtBP. An abortive ternary complex A) shows the best fit to HIPP Ki data B). This model also suggests substrate inhibition C) that mirrors what we see enzymatically with excess substrate D). Another model was derived by Dr. William Royer to predict HIPP binding to free enzyme E). It takes into account all states of the enzyme to the point of substrate binding. Total enzyme concentration, [E]t = [E] + [EH] + [EN] + [ENS]. Deriving the equation to solve for [ENS] we arrive at the equation Vo= (Vmax[N][S])/([N]Ks + Kn\*Ks+(1+[H]/Ki)). Extending the substrate concentration, we can see that this model appears to differ by Km rather than Vmax, which less suitably fits what we see from our data.



# Appendix 2: The importance of choosing the appropriate system for reproducible experimental data.

For the studies that we performed in Chapter 4, the majority of our effort was dedicated to creating and verifying a system that would reliably yield good results. In order to do so, the approach toward designing and carrying out experiments was changed multiple times. With the opportunity to be among the first to study CtBP in Dr. Grossman's lab at Virginia Commonwealth University, the design of these approaches allowed for numerous learning opportunities encompassing several skills, including cloning, assay optimization and troubleshooting. In addition, there are a number of lessons that were learned which can hopefully be applied toward future endeavors. The subsequent paragraphs discuss this learning process, and provide suggestions for creating an optimal system for studying CtBP based biology in cell-systems going forward.

The first attempts to study mutants in cancer cell systems involved creating a series of silent mutations within the protein coding sequence of CtBP2 in a pcDNA3.1 backbone (**Fig. A2, A**). The rationale for this approach claims that by creating silent mutations, one could then transfect exogenous CtBP2, treat cells with siRNA targeted to the normal sequence, and see downregulation of endogenous CtBP simultaneously with overexpression of exogenous CtBP. The system worked well (**Fig. A2, C**), but with both siRNA knockdown and overexpression, it was difficult to get reliable protein levels between independent experiments. Also, it was difficult to perform clonogenic or other long-term assays due to the transient nature of overexpression and knockdown. Attempts were then made to use lentiviral transduction to stably overexpress exogenous CtBP. Unfortunately, exogenous CtBP2 levels quickly dropped and endogenous expression was the predominant form synthesized (data not shown).



A third attempt utilized a new vector backbone, called pZ04, that was created by Dr. Priyadarshan Damle. It had a secondary SV40 promoter region that expressed a GFP, puromycin fusion gene in addition to silent backbone CtBP2. In this way, we hypothesized, it would be possible to stably transfect exogenous CtBP and select for those cells that integrated the plasmid into its genome by puromycin selection. The vector has the added benefit of expressing GFP, which allows a way to visually estimate transfection efficiency between different treatments under a fluorescence microscope. Fluorescence provides a means to bin cells based on high or low expressing GFP through FACS sorting. FACS sorting was attempted and cells expressing high GFP were FACS sorted and used for experiments. However, it was observed that expression was not standard between different cell lines. Inclusive with this observation was that expression level varied over passages, even while maintaining selective pressure. The result was an inability to determine if changes in phenotype were due to protein levels or the mutations themselves. An example is shown in Figure A2,B-C with migration data. Many of the trends are similar to that seen with the data presented in **Figure 4 2**, except for W324F. It was impossible from the assay alone to determine if the reduction in migration rate was due to lower levels of overall protein or because of an effect with W324F. These differences were not abrogated by siRNA knockdown of endogenous CtBP2.

After several months of attempting to resolve differences between stable cell lines, another attempt was made, using a CRISPR/cas 9 system to knockout CtBP2 in HCT116 p53<sup>-/-</sup> cells. Frameshift mutations were appropriately introduced and screened, multiple cells were divided into single cell suspensions, and pure knockout lines were cultivated. This method has successfully knocked out CtBP2 (data not shown). The success of this effort was surprising, because CtBP2 continued-knockdown has been shown to cause significant amounts of cell death.



Work is ongoing to characterize these cells and their mechanism of proliferation. It has been anecdotally observed that they grow and proliferate at similar rates to normal HCT116 cell lines. Similar difficulties inherent with transfection efficiency with different mutants are seen, but overall the cells provide a cleaner background than previous systems. One concern for this cell line is that the survival mechanism is unknown, and as such, cells are probably more 'non-normal' than the comparison cell lines. Cells may have been able to find a way to circumnavigate CtBP regulation altogether and addition of exogenous sources may not be transcriptional utilized as normal.

With any system there are benefits and flaws. One of the consistent difficulties with studying CtBP is the apparent tight regulation of the protein in cells. In each system, overexpression normalizes with time, regardless of whether consistent selective pressure is applied. With more resources, a good next step could make use of an inducible promoter. A promoter containing a lentiviral shRNA doxycycline-inducible system has been implemented for CtBP and is being studied currently in the laboratory of Dr. Kevin Gardner at the NIH<sup>120</sup>. A similar controllable expression system of CtBP would benefit our studies. A proposal for an alternative system would involve first creating CRISPR knock out cells for CtBP1. Since CtBP1 and CtBP2 are redundant, but CtBP2 is more imperative for nuclear localization, a large change in phenotype is not expected. Further, incorporating an shRNA inducible system could be coupled with CtBP2 expression in a vector containing silent mutations within the shRNA targeting region. The end result would be a chemically inducible system where all forms of CtBP are accounted for and under tightly regulated control that would hopefully limit variability between replicates, and provide a system for biological assessment of mutations and screening for CtBP-specificity with new drug therapies.





Figure A2\_2. Stable transfection of CtBP2 mutants induces highly variable protein levels, confounding results. Stable CtBP2 mutants were generated in MDA-MB-231 cell lines. Endogenous CtBP2 was knocked down by siRNA, and a wound healing assay was performed, A). Data represent  $n \ge 3$  independent replicates with triplicate measures and error bars represent the 95% confidence interval. The corresponding Western Blot B) shows exogenous CtBP2 expression (V5), endogenous expression (CtBP), and an Actin loading control. \*\*= p-value <0.01, \*\*\*= p-value <0.001 vs. control.



# References

1. Boyd JM, Subramanian T, Schaeper U, La Regina M, Bayley S, Chinnadurai G. A region in the C-terminus of adenovirus 2/5 E1a protein is required for association with a cellular phosphoprotein and important for the negative modulation of T24-ras mediated transformation, tumorigenesis and metastasis. *EMBO J.* 1993;12(2):469-478.

2. Chinnadurai G. CtBP family proteins: More than transcriptional corepressors. *Bioessays*. 2003;25(1):9-12.

3. Bergman LM, Blaydes JP. C-terminal binding proteins: Emerging roles in cell survival and tumorigenesis. *Apoptosis*. 2006;11(6):879-888.

4. Schaeper U, Boyd JM, Verma S, Uhlmann E, Subramanian T, Chinnadurai G. Molecular cloning and characterization of a cellular phosphoprotein that interacts with a conserved C-terminal domain of adenovirus E1A involved in negative modulation of oncogenic transformation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1995;92(23):10467-10471.

5. Frisch SM, Mymryk JS. Adenovirus-5 E1A: Paradox and paradigm. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*. 2002;3(6):441-452. doi: 10.1038/nrm827 [doi].

6. Frisch SM. E1A as a tumor suppressor gene: Commentary re S. madhusudan et al. A multicenter phase I gene therapy clinical trial involving intraperitoneal administration of E1A-lipid complex in patients with recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer overexpressing HER-2/neu oncogene. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2004;10(9):2905-2907.

7. Waterhouse AM, Procter JB, Martin DM, Clamp M, Barton GJ. Jalview version 2--a multiple sequence alignment editor and analysis workbench. *Bioinformatics*. 2009;25(9):1189-1191. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btp033 [doi].

8. McWilliam H, Li W, Uludag M, et al. Analysis tool web services from the EMBL-EBI. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2013;41(Web Server issue):W597-600. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt376 [doi].

9. Gachomo EW, Jimenez-Lopez JC, Smith SR, et al. The cell morphogenesis ANGUSTIFOLIA (AN) gene, a plant homolog of CtBP/BARS, is involved in abiotic and biotic stress response in higher plants. *BMC Plant Biol*. 2013;13:79-2229-13-79. doi: 10.1186/1471-2229-13-79 [doi].

10. Kim GT, Shoda K, Tsuge T, et al. The ANGUSTIFOLIA gene of arabidopsis, a plant CtBP gene, regulates leaf-cell expansion, the arrangement of cortical microtubules in leaf cells and expression of a gene involved in cell-wall formation. *EMBO J*. 2002;21(6):1267-1279. doi: 10.1093/emboj/21.6.1267 [doi].



11. Bettinger JC, Leung K, Bolling MH, Goldsmith AD, Davies AG. Lipid environment modulates the development of acute tolerance to ethanol in caenorhabditis elegans. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(5):e35192. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0035192 [doi].

12. Chen S, Whetstine JR, Ghosh S, et al. The conserved NAD(H)-dependent corepressor CTBP-1 regulates caenorhabditis elegans life span. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2009;106(5):1496-1501.

13. Reid A, Sherry TJ, Yucel D, Llamosas E, Nicholas HR. The C-terminal binding protein (CTBP-1) regulates dorsal SMD axonal morphology in caenorhabditis elegans. *Neuroscience*. 2015;311:216-230. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.10.026 [doi].

14. Nibu Y, Zhang H, Bajor E, Barolo S, Small S, Levine M. dCtBP mediates transcriptional repression by knirps, kruppel and snail in the drosophila embryo. *EMBO J*. 1998;17(23):7009-7020. doi: 10.1093/emboj/17.23.7009 [doi].

15. Mannervik M. Control of drosophila embryo patterning by transcriptional coregulators. *Exp Cell Res.* 2014;321(1):47-57. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2013.10.010 [doi].

16. Bhambhani C, Chang JL, Akey DL, Cadigan KM. The oligomeric state of CtBP determines its role as a transcriptional co-activator and co-repressor of wingless targets. *EMBO J.* 2011;30(10):2031-2043.

17. Itoh TQ, Matsumoto A, Tanimura T. C-terminal binding protein (CtBP) activates the expression of E-box clock genes with CLOCK/CYCLE in drosophila. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(4):e63113. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0063113 [doi].

18. Hoang CQ, Burnett ME, Curtiss J. Drosophila CtBP regulates proliferation and differentiation of eye precursors and complexes with eyeless, dachshund, dan, and danr during eye and antennal development. *Dev Dyn.* 2010;239(9):2367-2385. doi: 10.1002/dvdy.22380 [doi].

19. Hildebrand JD, Soriano P. Overlapping and unique roles for C-terminal binding protein 1 (CtBP1) and CtBP2 during mouse development. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2002;22(15):5296-5307.

20. Van Hateren N, Shenton T, Borycki AG. Expression of avian C-terminal binding proteins (Ctbp1 and Ctbp2) during embryonic development. *Dev Dyn.* 2006;235(2):490-495. doi: 10.1002/dvdy.20612 [doi].

21. Hubler D, Rankovic M, Richter K, et al. Differential spatial expression and subcellular localization of CtBP family members in rodent brain. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(6):e39710.



22. Kajimura S, Seale P, Tomaru T, et al. Regulation of the brown and white fat gene programs through a PRDM16/CtBP transcriptional complex. *Genes Dev.* 2008;22(10):1397-1409.

23. tom Dieck S, Altrock WD, Kessels MM, et al. Molecular dissection of the photoreceptor ribbon synapse: Physical interaction of bassoon and RIBEYE is essential for the assembly of the ribbon complex. *J Cell Biol*. 2005;168(5):825-836. doi: jcb.200408157 [pii].

24. Ivanova D, Dirks A, Montenegro-Venegas C, et al. Synaptic activity controls localization and function of CtBP1 via binding to bassoon and piccolo. *EMBO J*. 2015;34(8):1056-1077. doi: 10.15252/embj.201488796 [doi].

25. Corda D, Colanzi A, Luini A. The multiple activities of CtBP/BARS proteins: The golgi view. *Trends Cell Biol.* 2006;16(3):167-173. doi: S0962-8924(06)00025-0 [pii].

26. Matthews G, Fuchs P. The diverse roles of ribbon synapses in sensory neurotransmission. *Nat Rev Neurosci*. 2010;11(12):812-822. doi: 10.1038/nrn2924 [doi].

27. Thio SS, Bonventre JV, Hsu SI. The CtBP2 co-repressor is regulated by NADHdependent dimerization and possesses a novel N-terminal repression domain. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2004;32(5):1836-1847.

28. Kuppuswamy M, Vijayalingam S, Zhao LJ, et al. Role of the PLDLS-binding cleft region of CtBP1 in recruitment of core and auxiliary components of the corepressor complex. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2008;28(1):269-281.

29. Chinnadurai G. The transcriptional corepressor CtBP: A foe of multiple tumor suppressors. *Cancer Res.* 2009;69(3):731-734.

30. Di LJ, Byun JS, Wong MM, et al. Genome-wide profiles of CtBP link metabolism with genome stability and epithelial reprogramming in breast cancer. *Nat Commun.* 2013;4:1449. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2438 [doi].

31. Chinnadurai G. CtBP, an unconventional transcriptional corepressor in development and oncogenesis. *Mol Cell*. 2002;9(2):213-224. doi: S1097276502004434 [pii].

32. Quinlan KG, Nardini M, Verger A, et al. Specific recognition of ZNF217 and other zinc finger proteins at a surface groove of C-terminal binding proteins. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2006;26(21):8159-8172.

33. Zhao LJ, Kuppuswamy M, Vijayalingam S, Chinnadurai G. Interaction of ZEB and histone deacetylase with the PLDLS-binding cleft region of monomeric C-terminal binding protein 2. *BMC Mol Biol.* 2009;10:89.



34. Quinlan KG, Verger A, Kwok A, et al. Role of the C-terminal binding protein PXDLS motif binding cleft in protein interactions and transcriptional repression. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2006;26(21):8202-8213. doi: MCB.00445-06 [pii].

35. Bergman LM, Morris L, Darley M, Mirnezami AH, Gunatilake SC, Blaydes JP. Role of the unique N-terminal domain of CtBP2 in determining the subcellular localisation of CtBP family proteins. *BMC Cell Biol.* 2006;7:35. doi: 1471-2121-7-35 [pii].

36. Verger A, Quinlan KG, Crofts LA, et al. Mechanisms directing the nuclear localization of the CtBP family proteins. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2006;26(13):4882-4894.

37. Zhao LJ, Subramanian T, Zhou Y, Chinnadurai G. Acetylation by p300 regulates nuclear localization and function of the transcriptional corepressor CtBP2. *J Biol Chem.* 2006;281(7):4183-4189.

38. Lin X, Sun B, Liang M, et al. Opposed regulation of corepressor CtBP by SUMOylation and PDZ binding. *Mol Cell*. 2003;11(5):1389-1396. doi: S1097276503001758 [pii].

39. Kumar V, Carlson JE, Ohgi KA, et al. Transcription corepressor CtBP is an NAD(+)-regulated dehydrogenase. *Mol Cell*. 2002;10(4):857-869.

40. Balasubramanian P, Zhao LJ, Chinnadurai G. Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide stimulates oligomerization, interaction with adenovirus E1A and an intrinsic dehydrogenase activity of CtBP. *FEBS Lett.* 2003;537(1-3):157-160.

41. Mani-Telang P, Sutrias-Grau M, Williams G, Arnosti DN. Role of NAD binding and catalytic residues in the C-terminal binding protein corepressor. *FEBS Lett.* 2007;581(27):5241-5246.

42. Subramanian T, Chinnadurai G. Association of class I histone deacetylases with transcriptional corepressor CtBP. *FEBS Lett.* 2003;540(1-3):255-258.

43. Shi Y, Sawada J, Sui G, et al. Coordinated histone modifications mediated by a CtBP co-repressor complex. *Nature*. 2003;422(6933):735-738. doi: 10.1038/nature01550 [doi].

44. Madison DL, Wirz JA, Siess D, Lundblad JR. Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotideinduced multimerization of the co-repressor CtBP1 relies on a switching tryptophan. *J Biol Chem.* 2013;288(39):27836-27848. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.493569 [doi].

45. Fjeld CC, Birdsong WT, Goodman RH. Differential binding of NAD+ and NADH allows the transcriptional corepressor carboxyl-terminal binding protein to serve as a metabolic sensor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2003;100(16):9202-9207.



46. Zhang Q, Piston DW, Goodman RH. Regulation of corepressor function by nuclear NADH. *Science*. 2002;295(5561):1895-1897.

47. Vander Heiden MG, Cantley LC, Thompson CB. Understanding the warburg effect: The metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. *Science*. 2009;324(5930):1029-1033. doi: 10.1126/science.1160809 [doi].

48. Eales KL, Hollinshead KE, Tennant DA. Hypoxia and metabolic adaptation of cancer cells. *Oncogenesis*. 2016;5:e190. doi: 10.1038/oncsis.2015.50 [doi].

49. Hockel M, Vaupel P. Tumor hypoxia: Definitions and current clinical, biologic, and molecular aspects. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2001;93(4):266-276.

50. Byun JS, Gardner K. C-terminal binding protein: A molecular link between metabolic imbalance and epigenetic regulation in breast cancer. *Int J Cell Biol.* 2013;2013:647975. doi: 10.1155/2013/647975 [doi].

51. Achouri Y, Noel G, Van Schaftingen E. 2-keto-4-methylthiobutyrate, an intermediate in the methionine salvage pathway, is a good substrate for CtBP1. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2007;352(4):903-906.

52. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. *Cell*. 2011;144(5):646-674. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013 [doi].

53. Grooteclaes M, Deveraux Q, Hildebrand J, Zhang Q, Goodman RH, Frisch SM. Cterminal-binding protein corepresses epithelial and proapoptotic gene expression programs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2003;100(8):4568-4573.

54. Paliwal S, Ho N, Parker D, Grossman SR. CtBP2 promotes human cancer cell migration by transcriptional activation of Tiam1. *Genes Cancer*. 2012;3(7-8):481-490. doi: 10.1177/1947601912463695 [doi].

55. Wang L, Zhou H, Wang Y, Cui G, Di LJ. CtBP maintains cancer cell growth and metabolic homeostasis via regulating SIRT4. *Cell Death Dis.* 2015;6:e1620. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2014.587 [doi].

56. Chinnadurai G, Vijayalingam S, Rashmi R. BIK, the founding member of the BH3only family proteins: Mechanisms of cell death and role in cancer and pathogenic processes. *Oncogene*. 2008;27 Suppl 1:S20-9.

57. Kovi RC, Paliwal S, Pande S, Grossman SR. An ARF/CtBP2 complex regulates BH3-only gene expression and p53-independent apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ*. 2010;17(3):513-521.



58. Mroz EA, Baird AH, Michaud WA, Rocco JW. COOH-terminal binding protein regulates expression of the p16INK4A tumor suppressor and senescence in primary human cells. *Cancer Res.* 2008;68(15):6049-6053.

59. Skalska L, White RE, Franz M, Ruhmann M, Allday MJ. Epigenetic repression of p16(INK4A) by latent epstein-barr virus requires the interaction of EBNA3A and EBNA3C with CtBP. *PLoS Pathog.* 2010;6(6):e1000951.

60. Zhang Q, Wang SY, Nottke AC, Rocheleau JV, Piston DW, Goodman RH. Redox sensor CtBP mediates hypoxia-induced tumor cell migration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2006;103(24):9029-9033.

61. Zhang Q, Yoshimatsu Y, Hildebrand J, Frisch SM, Goodman RH. Homeodomain interacting protein kinase 2 promotes apoptosis by downregulating the transcriptional corepressor CtBP. *Cell*. 2003;115(2):177-186.

62. Zhang Q, Nottke A, Goodman RH. Homeodomain-interacting protein kinase-2 mediates CtBP phosphorylation and degradation in UV-triggered apoptosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2005;102(8):2802-2807.

63. Paliwal S, Pande S, Kovi RC, Sharpless NE, Bardeesy N, Grossman SR. Targeting of C-terminal binding protein (CtBP) by ARF results in p53-independent apoptosis. *Mol Cell Biol*. 2006;26(6):2360-2372.

64. Paliwal S, Kovi RC, Nath B, Chen YW, Lewis BC, Grossman SR. The alternative reading frame tumor suppressor antagonizes hypoxia-induced cancer cell migration via interaction with the COOH-terminal binding protein corepressor. *Cancer Res.* 2007;67(19):9322-9329.

65. Chen YW, Paliwal S, Draheim K, Grossman SR, Lewis BC. p19Arf inhibits the invasion of hepatocellular carcinoma cells by binding to C-terminal binding protein. *Cancer Res.* 2008;68(2):476-482.

66. Beckerman R, Prives C. Transcriptional regulation by p53. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* 2010;2(8):a000935.

67. Pollice A, Vivo M, La Mantia G. The promiscuity of ARF interactions with the proteasome. *FEBS Lett.* 2008;582(23-24):3257-3262. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2008.09.026 [doi].

68. Ozenne P, Eymin B, Brambilla E, Gazzeri S. The ARF tumor suppressor: Structure, functions and status in cancer. *Int J Cancer*. 2010;127(10):2239-2247. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25511 [doi].



69. Nadauld LD, Phelps R, Moore BC, et al. Adenomatous polyposis coli control of Cterminal binding protein-1 stability regulates expression of intestinal retinol dehydrogenases. *J Biol Chem.* 2006;281(49):37828-37835. doi: M602119200 [pii].

70. Straza MW, Paliwal S, Kovi RC, et al. Therapeutic targeting of C-terminal binding protein in human cancer. *Cell Cycle*. 2010;9(18):3740-3750.

71. Deng Y, Deng H, Liu J, et al. Transcriptional down-regulation of Brca1 and E-cadherin by CtBP1 in breast cancer. *Mol Carcinog.* 2012;51(6):500-507.

72. Barroilhet L, Yang J, Hasselblatt K, et al. C-terminal binding protein-2 regulates response of epithelial ovarian cancer cells to histone deacetylase inhibitors. *Oncogene*. 2013;32(33):3896-3903. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.380 [doi].

73. Zhang C, Gao C, Xu Y, Zhang Z. CtBP2 could promote prostate cancer cell proliferation through c-myc signaling. *Gene*. 2014;546(1):73-79. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2014.05.032 [doi].

74. Gao J, Aksoy BA, Dogrusoz U, et al. Integrative analysis of complex cancer genomics and clinical profiles using the cBioPortal. *Sci Signal*. 2013;6(269):pl1. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2004088 [doi].

75. Cerami E, Gao J, Dogrusoz U, et al. The cBio cancer genomics portal: An open platform for exploring multidimensional cancer genomics data. *Cancer Discov.* 2012;2(5):401-404. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-12-0095 [doi].

76. Bergman LM, Birts CN, Darley M, Gabrielli B, Blaydes JP. CtBPs promote cell survival through the maintenance of mitotic fidelity. *Mol Cell Biol*. 2009;29(16):4539-4551. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00439-09 [doi].

77. Gashaw I, Ellinghaus P, Sommer A, Asadullah K. What makes a good drug target? *Drug Discov Today*. 2011;16(23-24):1037-1043. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2011.09.007 [doi].

78. Nardini M, Svergun D, Konarev PV, et al. The C-terminal domain of the transcriptional corepressor CtBP is intrinsically unstructured. *Protein Sci.* 2006;15(5):1042-1050. doi: ps.062115406 [pii].

79. Hilbert BJ, Grossman SR, Schiffer CA, Royer WE, Jr. Crystal structures of human CtBP in complex with substrate MTOB reveal active site features useful for inhibitor design. *FEBS Lett.* 2014;588(9):1743-1748. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2014.03.026 [doi].

80. Williams RA, Mamotte CD, Burnett JR. Phenylketonuria: An inborn error of phenylalanine metabolism. *Clin Biochem Rev.* 2008;29(1):31-41.



81. Hilbert BJ, Morris BL, Ellis KC, et al. Structure-guided design of a high affinity inhibitor to human CtBP. *ACS Chem Biol*. 2015;10(4):1118-1127. doi: 10.1021/cb500820b [doi].

82. Fenton AW. Allostery: An illustrated definition for the 'second secret of life'. *Trends Biochem Sci.* 2008;33(9):420-425. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2008.05.009 [doi].

83. MONOD J, WYMAN J, CHANGEUX JP. On the nature of allosteric transitions: A plausible model. *J Mol Biol.* 1965;12:88-118.

84. Wedding RT, Black MK, Meyer CR. Inhibition of phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase by malate. *Plant Physiol*. 1990;92(2):456-461.

85. Alvarez JA, Gelpi JL, Johnsen K, et al. D-2-hydroxy-4-methylvalerate dehydrogenase from lactobacillus delbrueckii subsp. bulgaricus. I. kinetic mechanism and pH dependence of kinetic parameters, coenzyme binding and substrate inhibition. *Eur J Biochem.* 1997;244(1):203-212.

86. Dubrow R, Pizer LI. Transient kinetic and deuterium isotope effect studies on the catalytic mechanism of phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase. *J Biol Chem*. 1977;252(5):1539-1551.

87. Grant GA, Schuller DJ, Banaszak LJ. A model for the regulation of D-3-phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase, a vmax-type allosteric enzyme. *Protein Sci.* 1996;5(1):34-41. doi: 10.1002/pro.5560050105 [doi].

88. Nardini M, Spano S, Cericola C, et al. CtBP/BARS: A dual-function protein involved in transcription co-repression and golgi membrane fission. *EMBO J*. 2003;22(12):3122-3130. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg283 [doi].

89. Erlanson DA, Fesik SW, Hubbard RE, Jahnke W, Jhoti H. Twenty years on: The impact of fragments on drug discovery. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. 2016. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2016.109 [doi].

90. Hajduk PJ, Greer J. A decade of fragment-based drug design: Strategic advances and lessons learned. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. 2007;6(3):211-219. doi: nrd2220 [pii].

91. Sassa A, Beard WA, Shock DD, Wilson SH. Steady-state, pre-steady-state, and single-turnover kinetic measurement for DNA glycosylase activity. *J Vis Exp*. 2013;(78):e50695. doi(78):e50695. doi: 10.3791/50695 [doi].

92. Sarkar A, Kellogg GE. Hydrophobicity--shake flasks, protein folding and drug discovery. *Curr Top Med Chem*. 2010;10(1):67-83. doi: CTMC-Abs-006-10-1 [pii].

93. Congreve M, Carr R, Murray C, Jhoti H. A 'rule of three' for fragment-based lead discovery? *Drug Discov Today*. 2003;8(19):876-877. doi: S1359644603028319 [pii].



94. Dasari S, Tchounwou PB. Cisplatin in cancer therapy: Molecular mechanisms of action. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2014;740:364-378. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2014.07.025 [doi].

95. Alcindor T, Beauger N. Oxaliplatin: A review in the era of molecularly targeted therapy. *Curr Oncol.* 2011;18(1):18-25.

96. Alvarellos ML, Lamba J, Sangkuhl K, et al. PharmGKB summary: Gemcitabine pathway. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2014;24(11):564-574. doi: 10.1097/FPC.0000000000000086 [doi].

97. Zhang XD, Gillespie SK, Borrow JM, Hersey P. The histone deacetylase inhibitor suberic bishydroxamate regulates the expression of multiple apoptotic mediators and induces mitochondria-dependent apoptosis of melanoma cells. *Mol Cancer Ther.* 2004;3(4):425-435.

98. Birts CN, Niijar SK, Mardle CA, et al. A cyclic peptide inhibitor of C-terminal binding protein dimerization links metabolism with mitotic fidelity in breast cancer cells. *Chem Sci.* 2013;4:3046-3057.

99. Blevins MA, Kouznetsova J, Krueger AB, et al. Small molecule, NSC95397, inhibits the CtBP1-protein partner interaction and CtBP1-mediated transcriptional repression. *J Biomol Screen*. 2015;20(5):663-672. doi: 10.1177/1087057114561400 [doi].

100. Yang Y, Yang WS, Yu T, et al. Novel anti-inflammatory function of NSC95397 by the suppression of multiple kinases. *Biochem Pharmacol*. 2014;88(2):201-215. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2014.01.022 [doi].

101. Larsson DE, Wickstrom M, Hassan S, Oberg K, Granberg D. The cytotoxic agents NSC-95397, brefeldin A, bortezomib and sanguinarine induce apoptosis in neuroendocrine tumors in vitro. *Anticancer Res.* 2010;30(1):149-156. doi: 30/1/149 [pii].

102. Dulyaninova NG, Hite KM, Zencheck WD, et al. Cysteine 81 is critical for the interaction of S100A4 and myosin-IIA. *Biochemistry*. 2011;50(33):7218-7227. doi: 10.1021/bi200853y [doi].

103. Vogt A, McDonald PR, Tamewitz A, et al. A cell-active inhibitor of mitogenactivated protein kinase phosphatases restores paclitaxel-induced apoptosis in dexamethasone-protected cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Ther*. 2008;7(2):330-340. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-07-2165 [doi].

104. Korwar S, Morris BL, Parikh HI, et al. Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of substrate-competitive inhibitors of C-terminal binding protein (CtBP). *Bioorg Med Chem.* 2016;24(12):2707-2715. doi: 10.1016/j.bmc.2016.04.037 [doi].

105. Pelicano H, Martin DS, Xu RH, Huang P. Glycolysis inhibition for anticancer treatment. *Oncogene*. 2006;25(34):4633-4646. doi: 1209597 [pii].



106. Carter LG, D'Orazio JA, Pearson KJ. Resveratrol and cancer: Focus on in vivo evidence. *Endocr Relat Cancer*. 2014;21(3):R209-25. doi: 10.1530/ERC-13-0171 [doi].

107. Lazarevic B, Boezelijn G, Diep LM, et al. Efficacy and safety of short-term genistein intervention in patients with localized prostate cancer prior to radical prostatectomy: A randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind phase 2 clinical trial. *Nutr Cancer*. 2011;63(6):889-898. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2011.582221 [doi].

108. Kueck A, Opipari AW, Jr, Griffith KA, et al. Resveratrol inhibits glucose metabolism in human ovarian cancer cells. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2007;107(3):450-457. doi: S0090-8258(07)00541-0 [pii].

109. Iqbal MA, Bamezai RN. Resveratrol inhibits cancer cell metabolism by down regulating pyruvate kinase M2 via inhibition of mammalian target of rapamycin. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(5):e36764. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036764 [doi].

110. Roulston A, Shore GC. New strategies to maximize therapeutic opportunities for NAMPT inhibitors in oncology. *Mol Cell Oncol.* 2015;3(1):e1052180. doi: 10.1080/23723556.2015.1052180 [doi].

111. Sampath D, Zabka T, Misner D, O'Brien T, Dragovich P. Inhibition of nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT) as a therapeutic strategy in cancer. *Pharmacology* & *Therapeutics*. 2015;151:16-31.

112. Santidrian AF, Matsuno-Yagi A, Ritland M, et al. Mitochondrial complex I activity and NAD+/NADH balance regulate breast cancer progression. *J Clin Invest*. 2013;123(3):1068-1081. doi: 10.1172/JCI64264 [doi].

113. Birts CN, Bergman LM, Blaydes JP. CtBPs promote mitotic fidelity through their activities in the cell nucleus. *Oncogene*. 2011;30(11):1272-1280. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.507 [doi].

114. Hollern DP, Andrechek ER. A genomic analysis of mouse models of breast cancer reveals molecular features of mouse models and relationships to human breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2014;16(3):R59. doi: 10.1186/bcr3672 [doi].

115. Evans JP, Sutton PA, Winiarski BK, et al. From mice to men: Murine models of colorectal cancer for use in translational research. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol.* 2016;98:94-105. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2015.10.009 [doi].

116. Sherman-Baust CA, Kuhn E, Valle BL, et al. A genetically engineered ovarian cancer mouse model based on fallopian tube transformation mimics human high-grade serous carcinoma development. *J Pathol.* 2014;233(3):228-237. doi: 10.1002/path.4353 [doi].



117. Mullany LK, Richards JS. Minireview: Animal models and mechanisms of ovarian cancer development. *Endocrinology*. 2012;153(4):1585-1592. doi: 10.1210/en.2011-2121 [doi].

118. Mak IW, Evaniew N, Ghert M. Lost in translation: Animal models and clinical trials in cancer treatment. *Am J Transl Res.* 2014;6(2):114-118.

119. Sutrias-Grau M, Arnosti DN. CtBP contributes quantitatively to knirps repression activity in an NAD binding-dependent manner. *Mol Cell Biol*. 2004;24(13):5953-5966. doi: 10.1128/MCB.24.13.5953-5966.2004 [doi].

120. Yi DI, Park S, Liang G, Yan T, Byun J, Gardner K. Functional studies of CtBP in breast cancer using the lentiviral pInducer systemt. *The FASEB Journal*. 2015;29 no. 1 Supplement:926.1.



## Vita

Benjamin Lane Morris was born on February 20, 1986 in Lynchburg, Virginia, USA. He graduated from Giles County High School, Pearisburg, Virginia in 2004. He received his Bachelor of Science in Biological Sciences from Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University (Virginia Tech), Blacksburg, Virginia in 2010, where he received his first research experience assisting in a strawberry genomics laboratory. He will concurrently receive a Master of Science degree in Genetic Counseling with the awarding of a Doctorate of Philosophy in Human and Molecular Genetics.

